Protective HLA class I alleles: investigation of viral control and lack of control in chronic HIV-1 subtype C infection

Catherine Kegakilwe Koofhethile



Protective HLA class I alleles: investigation of viral

control and lack of control in chronic HIV-1 subtype

C infection

By

Catherine Kegakilwe Koofhethile

Submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the

degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Immunology) in the

School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences,

Nelson R. Mandela School of Medicine, University of

KwaZulu-Natal 2015

DECLARATION

I, Catherine Kegakilwe Koofhethile, declare that this is my original work where others have made contributions it has been acknowledged in the thesis. The work presented in this thesis has not been submitted in any other form to another University. The experimental work described in this thesis was performed in the HIV Pathogenesis Programme (HPP) Laboratory, Hasso Plattner Research Laboratory, and Africa Centre Laboratory, in the Doris Duke Medical Research Institute, Nelson R. Mandela School of Medicine, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban, South Africa, under the supervision of Professor Thumbi Ndung'u and co-supervisor Dr. Christina Thobakgale.

Catherine Kegakilwe Koofhethile

Hoghethile

Signed:	Date:	12^{th}	February	y 2016
-	-			

Professor T. Ndung'u		
Signed:	Date:	
Dr. C. Thobakgale		
Signed:	Date:	

As the candidate's supervisor I agree to the submission of this thesis.

Professor T. Ndung'u	
Signed:	Date:

PLAGIARISM DECLARATION

I, Catherine Kegakilwe Koofhethile declare that:

i. The research reported in this dissertation, except where otherwise indicated, is my original work.

ii. This dissertation has not been submitted for any degree or examination at any other university.

iii. This dissertation does not contain other persons' data, pictures, graphs or other information, unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other persons.

iv. This dissertation does not contain other persons' writing, unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other researchers. Where other written sources have been quoted, then:

a) Their words have been re-written but the general information attributed to them has been referenced;

b) Where their exact words have been used, their writing has been placed inside quotation marks, and referenced.

v. Where I have reproduced a publication of which I am an author, co-author or editor, I have indicated in detail which part of the publication was actually written by myself alone and have fully referenced such publications.

vi. This dissertation does not contain text, graphics or tables copied and pasted from the Internet, unless specifically acknowledged, and the source being in the dissertation and in the Reference sections.

Asquethile

Signed: _____ Date: 12th February 2016

First author manuscript

 Catherine K. Koofhethile, Zaza M. Ndhlovu, Christina Thobakgale, Julia J. Prado, Nasreen Ismail, Zenele Mncube, Lungile Mkhize, Mary van der Stok, Bruce D. Walker, Philip J.R. Goulder and Thumbi Ndung'u LONGITUDINAL ANALYSES OF CD8⁺ T RESPONSES REVEAL DIFFERENCES IN MECHANISMS ASSOCIATED WITH HIV-1 VIREMIC CONTROL AMONG INDIVIDUALS WITH PROTECTIVE AND NON-PROTECTIVE HLA CLASS I ALLELES. *Manuscript in preparation*.

Conference presentations

- Catherine K. Koofhethile, Zaza M. Ndhlovu, Christina Thobakgale, Julia J. Prado, Nasreen Ismail, Zenele Mncube, Lungile Maphumulo, Mary van der Stok, Bruce D. Walker, Philip J.R. Goulder and Thumbi Ndung'u. Protective HLA alleles: Investigation of viral control and lack of control in chronic HIV-1 subtype C infection. Keystone HIV Immune Activation Conference, 2nd - 8th April 2013, Colorado, USA. **POSTER presentation**.
- Catherine K. Koofhethile, Zaza M. Ndhlovu, Christina Thobakgale, Julia J. Prado, Nasreen Ismail, Zenele Mncube, Lungile Maphumulo, Mary van der Stok, Bruce D. Walker, Philip J.R. Goulder and Thumbi Ndung'u. Protective HLA alleles: Investigation of viral control and lack of control in chronic HIV-1 subtype C infection. SA AIDS conference, 18th – 21st June 2013. Durban, South Africa. **POSTER presentation**.

- 3. Catherine K. Koofhethile, Zaza M. Ndhlovu, Christina Thobakgale, Julia J. Prado, Nasreen Ismail, Zenele Mncube, Lungile Maphumulo, Mary van der Stok, Bruce D. Walker, Philip J.R. Goulder and Thumbi Ndung'u. Protective HLA alleles: Investigation of viral control and lack of control in chronic HIV-1 subtype C infection. 4th Infectious Diseases in Africa Symposium, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, SA. 29th August 6th September 2013. ORAL and POSTER presentation.
- 4. Catherine K. Koofhethile, Zaza M. Ndhlovu, Christina Thobakgale, Julia J. Prado, Nasreen Ismail, Zenele Mncube, Lungile Maphumulo, Mary van der Stok, Bruce D. Walker, Philip J.R. Goulder and Thumbi Ndung'u. Reduction in breadth and not polyfunctionality or proliferative capacity of CD8⁺ T cells is associated with loss of virologic HIV control in individuals with protective HLA Gordon Conference alleles. Research Immunobiology/Immunochemistry, 1st – 6th June 2014. POSTER presentation.
- 5. Catherine K. Koofhethile, Zaza M. Ndhlovu, Christina Thobakgale, Julia J. Prado, Nasreen Ismail, Zenele Mncube, Lungile Maphumulo, Mary van der Stok, Bruce D. Walker, Philip J.R. Goulder and Thumbi Ndung'u. Reduction in the breadth of CD8⁺ T cell responses is associated with loss of virologic HIV control in individuals with protective HLA alleles. HIV Research 4 Prevention conference 2014, Cape Town, South Africa, 27th 31st October 2014. ORAL presentation.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I dedicate this thesis to my father who unconditionally supported me through the years. I thank him for believing in me and teaching me the essence of hard work, true love, honesty and God. May his soul rest in peace. I know this is his pride and joy. I'd like to thank mum for the unconditional love, support and being there for me during tough and happy times. Thanks for being my source of strength mama. I love you.

Many thanks to my siblings (Modise, Mose, Gaolapelwe, Lawrence, Sebaetseng, Chedza, and Mokgweetsi) who have and are still supporting me unconditionally, for loving me, for believing that I can do it, and pushing me to do even better. Thanks for making this journey enjoyable and proving me with everything that I ever need. I'd like to thank my nephews and nieces (Ogopotse, One, Lawrence Jr., Doba, Lulu, Nanu, Juma and Reneilwe) for their love and for letting me be their role model. Thanks for letting me guide and inspire you. I'd like to thank Ntuthuko for giving me unconditional love and support throughout my PhD studies. Your patience has really kept me going. Thanks to my twin sister Kamogelo for the love, for being my brainpower and source of strength. Thanks for sharing my stresses and excitements. I'd like to thank Zoe for being there for me; those neck massages have been critical especially during the write-up months. I love y'all.

I'd like to thank my spiritual family Elder Swart, Priests Mokoena, Moorecroft, Claassen and Ubaba Mnomiya. Ubaba Monomiya; thanks for listening to me and letting me cry when I needed to, thanks for making sure that my second passion of singing didn't die during my studies. Many thanks to my God parents Overseer Rantsime and family for being a part of my journey. Thanks to the O.A.C communities around the world for their prayers. I'd like to thank my extended family for their love, support and encouragement throughout the years; Tumie, Riggie, TeeKay, Amantle, Pono and Lobe. Thanks to my 2 sisters from other mothers Christina and Masingitha for their unconditional love, support and for spoiling me. Thanks to their husbands Aubrey and Buti. Your support has been critical throughout my stay in Durban.

Many thanks to my friends who have been there for me throughout my journey: Peter, Faatima, Muturi Tapps, Chaha, Thandie, Tuelo, Kagiso, Claudia Juares- Webster, Emily, Katlego, Noz, Michael, Funsho, Denis, Ravesh, Nonku, Yaone, Kavidha, Kamini, Akeem, Urisha, Shem, Phumzile, Thulani, Msizi, Nyoka, Mthunzi, Wiseman, Thabo, Sannie and Thandeka. I'd like to thank the Clermont Choir Foundation (CCF) for the wonderful music. At least I got to do something different from the science and this has been really critical for my studies. Thanks to Gerald Nenguwo-Khumalo for being a part of my journey and for the support. Thanks to Mr K. Tlhalerwa for the support and understanding throughout the years.

Thanks to my amazing office mates; Nikoshia, Angel, Kim and Callum. Thanks to my colleagues for their support and encouragement; Mpume and Bongiwe. Your support and jokes kept me going girls.

Thanks to the lab staff at HPP for working endlessly, for supporting my work, for generation of clinical data for the cohort i.e Viral load measurements, CD4 T cell counts and some of the ELISpot data when the cohort started. I'd like to thank especially Zenele who understood my crazy demands in the lab and never took them personally. Thanks for going an extra mile for me and giving me those many batches of samples so I could generate more data. Thanks to Lungi, Charlotte, Nazreen, Keshni, Yashni, Aveshni, sis Nothemba, Tresha, sis Emma, Busi, Karyn, Kewreshni and Shamla for their support in the lab. I'd like to thank the Goulder group at Oxford

University for training me on some of the techniques that were useful in my PhD studies; Dr. Philippa Mathews, Dr. Rebecca Payne and Dr. Henrik Kløverpris.

I'd like to thank my mentors for their support throughout the years; Prof. Philip Goulder (Oxford), Prof. Bruce Walker (Ragon), Dr. Julia Prado (Spain); I appreciate those many skype calls, support and advice you gave me. Many thanks to Dr. Zaza Ndhlovu (UKZN) for training me and making me believe that I can be a better scientist, tough at times but I learnt a lot. I'd like to thank my mentor Prof. Makgoba for encouraging me. Thanks for pushing me to being a critical thinker and a better researcher. Thanks to Dr. Rosemary Musonda (Botswana Harvard Partnership) for encouraging and believing in me.

Thanks to the HPP administration staff for their smooth running of the HPP administrative work; Sharon (thanks for always organizing my travels to conferences and those hugs worked wonders and kept me going), Kathy (for ordering my reagents and making sure they arrive on time. Your smile and care kept me going), Silvester (thanks for making me laugh even when I didn't want to), thanks to Tarryn for your support and prompt responses to queries and thanks to Morag for her support.

I'd like to thank the study participants for supporting and donating their precious samples. This work was made possible because of their patience and will to support HIV research. Many thanks to the clinic staff; Doctors, nurses and support staff for making this work possible.

I'd like to thank the funders of the research work; South African DST/NRF, National Institute of Health (NIH), Ragon Institute of MGH, MIT and Harvard University. I'd also like to thank the Organisation for Women in Science for the Developing World (OWSD) for the PhD fellowship. Thanks to OWSD support staff especially Dr. Blowers and Ms. Sara Dalafi for their support and prompt responses to queries throghout the fellowship.

I'd like to thank my co-supervisor Dr. Christina Thobakgale for believing in me even when I thought I couldn't carry on. Thank you for being a friend, sister and for guiding me throughout my PhD studies. You have been an amazing mentor. Finally, I'd like to thank my supervisor Prof. Thumbi Ndung'u for the wonderful opportunity to come and study at HPP, for your great mentorship and being a part of my journey. I am where I am because of the trust you have in me that I can be a scientist. Thanks for encouraging me and for pushing me to do better.

Thanks to the almighty God for the wonderful blessings and guidance throughout the years. 'I can do all things through Christ who strengthens me' (Philippians 4:13)

ABBREVIATIONS

AIDS:	Acquired Immune	e Deficiency Syndrome
-------	-----------------	-----------------------

- **ANOVA:** Analysis of variance
- **APC:** Antigen presenting cell

APOBEC3G: Apolipoprotein B messenger RNA editing catalytic subunit-like protein

3G

ART:	Antiretroviral therapy
ARV:	Antiretroviral
bp:	Base pair
CCR5:	C-C chemokine receptor 5
CD:	Cluster of differentiation
CO ₂ :	Carbon dioxide
CTL:	Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes
CRF:	Circulating recombinant form
CXCR4:	CXC chemokine receptor 4
DC:	Dendritic cell
DC-SIGN:	Dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3-grabbing non-
integrin	
DEPC:	Diethyl pyrocarbonate
DMSO:	Dimethylsulfoxide

DNA:	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTP:	Deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate
EC:	Elite controller
EDTA:	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA:	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ELISpot:	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot
Env:	Envelope glycoprotein
FACS:	Fluorescent activated cell sorting
FBS:	Foetal bovine serum
FCS-A:	Forward sides scatter area
FSC-H:	Forward sides scatter height
FI:	Entry/Fusion inhibitor
Gag:	Group specific antigen
IFN-γ:	Interferon gamma
IL-2:	Interleukin 2
IN:	Integrase
IQR:	Interquartile range
HIV:	Human immunodeficiency virus
HAART:	Highly active anti-retroviral treatment

HLA:	Human leukocyte antigen
KIR:	Killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor
LTNP:	Long term non-progressor
LTR:	Long terminal repeat
MHC:	Major histocompatibility complex
MIP-1β:	Macrophage inflammatory protein-1-beta
MOI:	Multiplicity of infection
NK:	Natural killer
Nef:	Negative regulatory factor
NNRTI:	Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor
NRTI:	Nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor
OLP:	Overlapping peptides
PBMC:	Peripheral mononuclear cells
PCR:	Polymerase chain reaction
PD-1:	Programmed Death 1
Pol:	Polymerase
PHA:	Phytohaemagglutinin
PI:	Protease inhibitor
PR:	Protease
REV:	Regulator of gene expression
RNA:	Ribonucleic acid

rpm:	Revolutions per minute
RT:	Reverse transcriptase
RT-PCR:	Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
TAT:	Trans-activator of transcription
ΤΝΓ-α:	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TRIM5a:	Tripartite motif-containing motif 5 alpha
SFC:	Spot-forming cells
SK:	Sinikithemba
SIV:	Simian immunodeficiency virus
SS:	Single-stranded
TCR:	T cell receptor
VC:	Viremic controller
VIF:	Viral infectivity factor
VL:	Viral load
VPU:	Viral protein U
VPR:	Viral protein R
WHO:	World Health Organization
Mg:	Microgram
U:	Unit
V:	Volt
α:	Alpha
β:	Beta

γ:	Gamma
μl:	Microlitre
μΜ:	Micromolar
°C:	Degrees Celsius
kb:	Kilobase
ml:	Millilitre
mm:	Millimetre
mM:	Millimolar
ng:	Nanogram
x g:	Times gravity

ETHICS

The research study for this thesis is registered with the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee of the University of KwaZulu-Natal and was approved by this committee. (BREC reference number: E028/99).

The Academic Leader for Research at the School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences, granted approval of the research project towards studying for a PhD degree.

ABSTRACT

Some individuals with chronic HIV-1 subtype C infection are able to suppress viral infection without antiretroviral drugs. However, viral control can be temporary, with subsequent rise in viremia and associated disease progression. The immunological mechanisms associated with control or loss of viral control are not fully understood. We characterized longitudinally the immunological and virological features that may explain the divergence in disease outcome in 70 HIV-1 C-clade infected antiretroviral therapy (ART)-naïve South African adults from Durban, 35 of whom possessed protective HLA class I alleles.

We demonstrate that in this cohort, some individuals with protective HLA class I alleles lost viral control upon longitudinal follow up while the majority of individuals without protective HLA class I alleles maintained viral control. Sustained HIV-1 control in viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles (VC+) was related to the breadth of HIV-1 CD8⁺ T-cell responses against Gag and enhanced ability to suppress viral replication in an ex vivo viral inhibition assay. The loss of virological control among some individuals with protective HLA class I alleles (failing viremic controllers- fVC+) was associated with reduction in the total breadth of CD8⁺ T-cell responses in the absence of differences in HIV-1-specific CD8⁺ cell polyfunctionality or proliferation. At the time point of virological control, fVC+ subjects already displayed a reduced capacity to suppress viral replication in an ex vivo viral inhibition assay, compared to others who did not subsequently experience loss of control. Additionally, we showed that CD8⁺ T cell escape mutations were common in the fVC+ subgroup and in some instances the loss of CD8⁺ T cell responses could be explained by immune escape, however, in some cases the loss of CD8⁺ T cell responses could not be explained by viral escape. Interestingly some VC+ maintained viral control throughout despite the presence of escape mutations within Gag, and persistence of CD8⁺ T cell responses irrespective of sequence variation appeared to be a correlate of viral control. Controllers without protective HLA class I alleles (VC-) showed low breadth of HIV-1 CD8⁺ T cell responses and a reduced ability (compared to viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles who never lost control) to suppress viral replication in an *ex vivo* viral inhibition assay. Furthermore, these VC-subjects had fewer escape mutations within Gag and maintained low viral load throughout.

Our data suggest that the control of HIV-1 in individuals with protective HLA class I alleles may be driven by broad CD8⁺ T cell responses targeted towards Gag with potent viral inhibitory capacity while control among individuals without protective HLA class I alleles may be linked to alternative non-CD8⁺ T cell mechanisms. These alternative mechanisms require further investigation. The data further suggest that the loss of virologic control is related to the loss of CD8⁺ T cell responses. However, viral escape does not fully explain the loss of CD8⁺ T cell responses in chronic HIV infection and therefore, alternative mechanisms require further investigation.

Table of Contents

Protectiv control in	e HLA class I alleles: investigation of viral control and lack on chronic HIV-1 subtype C infection	of ii
DECLARA	TION	iii
	ίς δαρατίον	it.
FLAGIAN		IV
PUBLICA	FIONS AND CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS	v
ACKNOW	LEDGEMENTS	vii
ABBREVI	ATIONS	xi
ETHICS		xvi
ABSTRAC	Т	xvii
LIST OF F	IGURES	xxii
LIST OF T	'ARLES	xxvi
CHAPTER	A 1: INTRODUCTION TO THE HISTORY, EPIDEMIOLOGY AND DESDONSES TO CHDONIC HUMAN IMMUNODEEICIENCY VIDI	II C
(HIV) TVI	RESPONSES TO CHRONIC HOMAN IMMONODEFICIENCY VIRU PF 1 INFFCTION	1
1.1	THE DISCOVERY AND GLOBAL PANDEMIC OF HIV/AIDS	
1.2 I	HIV PREVALENCE IN SOUTH AFRICA	
1.3	THE RETROVIRUS	5
1.3.1	HIV Classification	5
1.3.2	HIV structure	7
1.3.3	HIV genome	9
1.3.4	Viral proteins and function	10
1.4 I	HIV REPLICATION	11
1.4.1	HIV tropism	11
1.4.2	HIV infection	13
1.4.3	HIV modes of transmission	16
1.4.4	HIV transmission	17
1.4.5	Course of HIV infection	18
1.5 A	ANTIRETROVIRAL TREATMENT	21
1.5.1	The role of ARVs	21
1.5.2	HIV Reservoirs	23
1.6 I	HIV VACCINE STRATEGIES	24
1.6.1	The STEP and Phambili trials	25
1.6.2	The RV144 HIV Vaccine trial	25
1.6.3	The CMV vector based SIV vaccine	
I./ I	INMUNITY TO HIV	
1.7.1	Humoral immune responses to HIV	
1.7.2	Host restriction factors	
1.7.5	The major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules	
1.7.1	Adaptive immune responses to HIV	34
1.8	HV NATURAL CONTROLLERS	36
1.8.1	Long-term nonprogressors (LTNPs)	36
1.8.2	Elite controllers (ECs)	
1.8.3	Viremic controllers (VCs)	
1.9 I	FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH NATURAL CONTROL OF HIV	
1.9.1	Viral factors	
1.9.2	HLA B*57/B*27 and other protective HLA class I alleles	
1.9.3	The role of CD4 ⁺ T cells in viral control	40

1.9.4	The role of HLA and CD8 ⁺ T cells in viral control	40
1.10	GAPS IN KNOWLEDGE	41
1.11	THE STUDY RATIONALE AND HYPOTHESIS	42
1.12	SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES	43
1.13	OUTLINE OF THE THESIS	44
СНАРТЕ	R 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS	45
2.1	STUDY COHORT	
2.2	DEFINITION OF GROUPS AND SUB-GROUPS	
2.3	IMMUNOLOGICAL METHODS	
2.3.1	Thawing of cryopreserved PBMCs	
2.3.2	Cell Counts	
2.3.3	HLA typing	49
2.3.4	Synthetic HIV peptides	50
2.3.5	ELISpot assay	50
2.3.6	Intra cellular cytokine staining (ICS)	53
2.3.7	CFSE proliferation assay	56
2.3.8	Viral inhibition assay	57
2.4	MOLECULAR METHODS	62
2.4.1	DNA extraction	62
2.4.2	RNA extraction	63
2.4.3	PCR primers for amplification of gag	63
2.4.4	First (1 st) round RT-PCR	63
2.4.5	Second (2 nd) Round PCR	65
2.4.6	PCR product	66
2.4.7	PCR product purification	66
2.4.8	Sequencing primers	66
2.4.9	Sequencing reaction	67
2.4.1	0 Sequencing reaction clean up	68
2.4.1	1 Phylogenetic analysis	68
2.5	DATA ANALYSIS AND STATISTICS	69
СНАРТЕ	R 3: COHORT CHARACTERISTICS AND BASELINE CD8+ T CELL	
RESPON	SES IN INDIVIDUALS WITH AND WITHOUT PROTECTIVE HLA CLA	SS
I ALLELE	ES	. 70
3.1	Introduction	71
3.2	Viral load dynamics and clinical disease progression in study participants.	71
3.3	HIV specific CD8 ⁺ T cell responses at baseline amongst study participants	81
3.4	Summary of results	91
СИЛДТЕ	D 4. I ONCITUDINAL ANALYSIS OF CD9+ T CELL DESDONSES AND	
	A 4. LONGITUDINAL ANALISIS OF CDO T CELL RESI ONSES AND	
	OF VIRAL EVOLUTION ON DISEASE FROURESSION IN HIV-1	
JUDIIP.	E C CHRUNICALLY INFECTED INDIVIDUALS WITH AND WITHUUT THE HEACLASS LALLELES	02
PRUIEU	IIVE FILA CLASS I ALLELES	.92
4.1	Introduction	93
4.2	Loss of vivologia control is associated with the loss of CD9 ⁺ T coll responses	
4.5	Loss of virologic control is associated with the loss of CD8 T cell responses Escape mutations in Cag only partially explain the loss of virological contr	5 90 al
4.4 in fVC	with protoctive HLA class I alleles	01 110
<u>45</u>	Maintenance of low viral load desnite the presence of Cag escape mutation	5 I U
among	viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles	
4.6	Summary of results	120
CHAPTE	R 5: CD8+ T CELL FUNCTIONAL ANALYSIS AND ASSOCIATION WIT	Η
DISEASE	PROGRESSION IN CHRONICALLY HIV-1 SUBTYPE C INFECTED	
INDIVID	UALS WITH AND WITHOUT PROTECTIVE HLA CLASS I ALLELES .1	121
5.1	Introduction	122

5.2	Study participants
5.3	No significant differences in the polyfunctionality of CD8 ⁺ T cells between the
4 subg	roups; VC+, fVC+, VC- and Prog+
5.4	No significant differences in the proliferative capacity of CD8 ⁺ T cells between
the 4 su	131 abgroups
5.5	Viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles display limited ex
vivo CI	D8 ⁺ T cell inhibition capacity compared to viremic controllers with protective
HLA c	lass I alleles
5.6	Summary of results
СНАРТЕ	R 6: DISCUSSION142
6.1	Discussion
6.2	Protective versus non-protective HLA class I alleles and alternative
mecha	nisms of viral control
6.3	The Gag responses in individuals with protective HLA class I alleles
6.4	Evolution of CD8 ⁺ T cell responses
6.5	Viral escape and CD8 ⁺ T cell responses
6.6	The impact of CD8 ⁺ T cell functionality on disease progression
6.7	Conclusion
6.8	Limitations of the study
6.9	Future work
6.10	Final remarks
СНРАТЕ	R 7: REFERENCES
СНАРТЕ	R 8: APPENDICES

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. A global view of the adults and children estimated to be living with
HIV/AIDS in 20122
Figure 1.2. HIV prevalence rates by province in South Africa4
Figure 1.3. HIV prevalence rates by age and sex in South Africa, 20124
Figure 1.4. Global distribution of the major subtypes and recombinants of HIV-16
Figure 1.5. A schematic representation of the structure of HIV virion7
Figure 1.6. A schematic diagram of the HIV genome showing the long terminal repeats
that flank either side of the genome and the 9 open reading frames9
Figure 1.7. Schematic representation of the life cycle of HIV inside a host cell13
Figure 1.8. A schematic representation of the course of HIV/SIV infection showing
changes in viral load, antibodies, CD4 and CD8 T-cell counts in the absence of
antiretroviral treatment20
Figure 1.9. Schematic representation of the replication cycle of HIV showing crucial
steps targeted by the current antiretroviral treatment drugs23
Figure 2.1. Showing the distribution of study participants in to different groups and sub
groups48
Figure 3.1. Viral load (A) and absolute CD4 T cell count (B) amongst individuals with
and without protective HLA class I alleles78
Figure 3.2. Longitudinal viral load (A, C) and absolute CD4 T cell count (B, D) patterns
amongst baseline viremic controllers with and without protective HLA alleles
respectively79

Figure 3.3. Log viral load (A) and absolute CD4 T cell count (B) at baseline amongst
viremic controllers (VC+) and failing viremic (fVC+) individuals with protective HLA
class I alleles81
Figure 3.4. ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses at baseline83
Figure 3.5. ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses at baseline; Breadth and
magnitude of Nef (A, B), Env (C, D), Pol (E, F) and Accessory and Regulatory proteins
(G, H) specific CD8 ⁺ T cell responses amongst individuals with or without protective
HLA alleles (bVC+/- and Prog +/-)85
Figure 3.6. ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses at baseline; Gag versus Nef86
Figure 3.7. ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses at baseline- Gag versus Env89
Figure 3.8. ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses at baseline- Gag versus Pol90
Figure 3.9. ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses at baseline- Gag versus Acc & Reg proteins91
Figure 4.1 Flow chart showing the breakdown of study groups in to subgroups96
Figure 4.2. ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses at baseline amongst the 4 subgroups- Overall and Gag99
Figure 4.3. ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses at baseline among the 4
subgroups- Nef, Env, Pol, Acc & Reg proteins102
Figure 4.4. Longitudinal ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses among the 4 subgroups with protective HLA alleles and viremic controllers without protective HLA
alleles – Overall and Gag105

Figure 4.5. Longitudinal ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses among the 4
subgroups with protective HLA alleles and viremic controllers without protective HLA
alleles – Nef and Env107
Figure 4.6. Longitudinal ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses among the 4
subgroups with protective HLA alleles and viremic controllers without protective HLA
alleles – Pol and Acc & Reg proteins108
Figure 4.7. Immunogenicity and escape of fVC+ subjects before and after loss of viral
control113
Figure 4.8. Immunogenicity and escape of VC+ and VC- subjects at baseline118
Figure 5.1 Flow chart showing the breakdown of study groups in to subgroups125
Figure 5.2 Polyfunctionality of CD9 ⁺ T calls upon stimulation with Cag pontide pools
Figure 5.2. Polylunchonality of CD8 T cens upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools –
gating stratergy127
Figure 5.3. Polyfunctionality of CD8 ⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools
128
Figure 5.4. The expression of single functions by CD8 ⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag
peptide pools131
Figure 5.5. The preliferative connective of $CD9^+$ T calls upon stimulation with Cog pontide
Figure 5.5. The proliferative capacity of CD8 ⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide
Figure 5.5. The proliferative capacity of CD8 ⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools – gating stratergy133
Figure 5.5. The proliferative capacity of CD8 ⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools – gating stratergy133 Figure 5.6. The proliferative capacity of CD8 ⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide
Figure 5.5. The proliferative capacity of CD8 ⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools – gating stratergy133 Figure 5.6. The proliferative capacity of CD8 ⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools133
Figure 5.5. The proliferative capacity of CD8 ⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools – gating stratergy133 Figure 5.6. The proliferative capacity of CD8 ⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools
Figure 5.5. The proliferative capacity of CD8 ⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools – gating stratergy133 Figure 5.6. The proliferative capacity of CD8 ⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools
Figure 5.5. The proliferative capacity of CD8 ⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools – gating stratergy133 Figure 5.6. The proliferative capacity of CD8 ⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools
Figure 5.5. The proliferative capacity of CD8 ⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools – gating stratergy133 Figure 5.6. The proliferative capacity of CD8 ⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools
Figure 5.5. The proliferative capacity of CD8 ⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools – gating stratergy

Figure 5.9. Viral inhibition of the NL4-3- infected autologous CD4 ⁺ T cells by ex viva
CD8 ⁺ T cells – VC- subjects139
Figure 5.10. Viral inhibition of the NL4-3- infected autologous CD4 ⁺ T cells by <i>ex viva</i>
CD8 ⁺ T cells – Prog+ subject 140
Figure 5.11. Log ₁₀ p24 viral inhibition of the NL4-3- infected autologous CD4 ⁺ T cells by
ex vivo CD8 ⁺ T cells140
Figure A1. Longitudinal results showing the proportion of CD8 ⁺ T cells expressing
CD107a upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools209
Figure A2. Longitudinal results showing the proportion of CD8 ⁺ T cells expressing
MIP1-β upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools210
Figure A3. Longitudinal results showing the proportion of CD8 ⁺ T cells expressing
IFNγ upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools211
Figure A4. Longitudinal results showing the proportion of CD8 ⁺ T cells expressing
TNF-α upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools212

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Clinical and demographic characteristics for the HIV-1 Clade C chronically
infected individuals studied46
Table 2.2. Positioning of OLPs used in the Megamatrix in rows A and B51
Table 2.3. Positioning of OLPs used in the Megamatrix in rows C and D51
Table 2.4. Positioning of OLPs used in the Megamatrix in rows E and F51
Table 2.5. Antibody panel55
Table 2.6. PCR primers for the amplification of the gag region
Table 2.7. Sequencing primers for the gag region 67
Table 3.1. HLA typing data of study participants 74
Table 3.2. Clinical characteristics for study subjects 75
Table 4.1. HLA typing data and general characteristics of study participants that were
studied longitudinally96
Table 4.2. Optimal HIV peptides targeted by failing viremic controllers before and after
loss of viral control110
Table 4.3. Sequence variation within HLAs B*57:02/03/58:01 and B*81:01 restricted
immunodorminant epitopes116
Table 4.4. Sequence variation within HLAs B*57:03/58:01, B*81:01 and A*74:01
restricted immunodominant epitopes119
Table 4.5. Sequence variation within immunodominant epitopes among VC subjects
without protective HLA alleles120

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION TO THE HISTORY, EPIDEMIOLOGY AND IMMUNE RESPONSES TO CHRONIC HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS (HIV) TYPE 1 INFECTION

1.1 THE DISCOVERY AND GLOBAL PANDEMIC OF HIV/AIDS

The first cases of acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS) were recognised in 1981 in the United States. This syndrome was first identified amongst young homosexual men who presented with similar symptoms of unusual opportunistic infections and a rare skin malignancy called Kaposi's sarcoma (1, 2). A few years later the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) was isolated and identified as the causative agent of AIDS (3–5). Thirty-four years since its discovery, HIV remains a public health threat having claimed the lives of an estimated 35 million people (6). An estimated 75 million people have been infected since the beginning of the epidemic and 36.9 million people were reported to be living with HIV in 2014, Figure 1.1. Sub-Saharan Africa still bears the brunt of the epidemic accounting for 70% (25.8 million) of the infected population worldwide (7, 8).



Figure 1.1. A global view of the adults and children estimated to be living with HIV/AIDS in 2014 (7)

Although there is still no cure for AIDS, the introduction, implementation and accessibility of antiretroviral therapy (ART) from the mid-1990s onwards has proven to be successful in prolonging the lives of those infected and reducing mortality and

morbidity rates caused by the HIV epidemic. This is clearly evident as the number of people estimated to have died from AIDS related illnesses has reduced from 2.0 million in 2009 to 1.5 million in 2013 (7). New infections have declined by 35% since the year 2000 where by worldwide, 2 million (1,9 million – 2.2 million) people became newly infected with HIV in 2010, a decrease from 3.1 million (3.0 million – 3.3 million) documented in 2000 (8). New infections among children have also declined by 58% where by worldwide, 220,000 (190,000 – 260,000) children became newly infected with HIV in 2014, a decline from 530,000 (470,000 – 580,000) in 2000 (8). Despite efforts being made to combat HIV, there is still no effective HIV vaccine available.

1.2 HIV PREVALENCE IN SOUTH AFRICA

South Africa is one of the hardest hit countries in the world with an HIV prevalence rate of 12.2% recorded amongst adults in 2012, an increase compared to 10.6% prevalence rate reported in 2008. Additionally, an estimated 6.4 million people were living with HIV in 2012 (9). Furthermore, HIV prevalence by province showed that KwaZulu-Natal continues to have the highest HIV prevalence rate of 16.9% when compared to other provinces in South Africa. Mpumalanga and Free State provinces follow with 14.1% and 14.0% respectively. The Western Cape province has the lowest HIV prevalence rate of 5%, Figure 1.2.



Figure 1.2. HIV prevalence rates by province in South Africa (9). Key: KZN- KwaZulu-Natal, MP- Mpumalanga, FS- Free State, NW- North West, GP- Gauteng Province, EC-Eastern Cape, LP- Limpopo, NC- Northern Cape, WC- Western Cape.

In South Africa, female HIV prevalence is on the rise with a rate of 14.4% compared to males (9.9%) and has reached a peak in the age group 30 - 34 years with a prevalence of 36.1% higher than their male counterparts whose HIV prevalence was recorded to be 25.6% in 2012 (9). The highest HIV prevalence among males is in the age group 35 - 39 years (28.8%), still lower than their female counterparts with a rate of 31.6%, (Figure 1.3). The introduction of ART has increased survival of people living with HIV (PLWH), with 31.2% of PLWH having access to ART (9).



Figure 1.3. HIV prevalence rates by age and sex in South Africa, 2012. (9).

1.3 THE RETROVIRUS

1.3.1 HIV Classification

HIV is classified as a Lentivirus, a subgroup of the *Retroviridae* family. This classification is based on the morphological, genetic and biological properties of the virus. In particular HIV is enveloped, contains reverse transcriptase and comprises of two identical copies of positive sense, linear ribonucleic acid (RNA) genome (10, 11). There are two types of HIV described so far; HIV-1 (3, 4) and HIV-2 (12). HIV-2 is commonly found in West Africa and is known to be a less transmissible and less pathogenic virus than HIV-1, which is responsible for the global pandemic. Previous studies have demonstrated that HIV-2 infected patients survived longer than HIV-1 infected patients, the transmission rate was lower than that of HIV-1 and that HIV-2 infected individuals had lower viral load and slower rate of CD4⁺ T cell decline (13–15), supporting the view that HIV-2 is less pathogenic. Because HIV-2 is known to be less transmissible compared to HIV-1 (16), this implies that fewer individuals exposed to HIV-2 will be infected. In this thesis, the use of the term 'HIV' will refer to HIV-1.

HIV has four phylogenetically distinct groups, namely: M (the Main group), O (the Outlier group), N (non-M, non-O group) (17) and finally P, recently isolated from a woman in Cameroon (18). Groups O, P and N are very rare and mostly common in Central-West Africa (Cameroon) (19, 20) while group M is the most prevalent and is responsible for the global HIV/AIDS pandemic (21, 22). Group M comprises of eleven clades; A – K, denoted subtype A, B, C, D, F, G, H, J and K and this group accounts for about 90% of the global pandemic (17, 23, 24). There are also recombinant forms, which derive from a combination of different subtypes (22, 25). Figure 1.4 shows the global distribution of the major subtypes and recombinants of

HIV-1, (26). The most dominant HIV-1 subtypes are B and C, with subtype C being the predominant subtype found in southern Africa, parts of eastern Africa, India, and parts of China and is responsible for the AIDS pandemic in the region while subtype B is most commonly found in Europe, the Americas, Japan, and Australia (22, 26, 27).



Figure 1.4. Global distribution of the major subtypes and recombinants of HIV-1 (28).

1.3.2 HIV structure



Figure 1.5. A schematic representation of the structure of HIV virion (29).

Retroviruses are enveloped viruses that replicate inside the host cell. HIV is roughly spherical in shape with a diameter of about 120nm (30). A schematic representation of the virion structure is shown in Figure 1.5. HIV is characterised by 2 identical copies of positive sense single stranded RNA that codes for the virus's nine genes enclosed by a conical capsid (CA) that comprises of about 2,000 of the viral protein p24 (29). HIV, just like any other lentivirus has an inner and outer membrane. The outer membrane comprises of the lipid bilayer where surface glycoprotein (gp120 or SU) is anchored through its interaction with trans-membrane glycoprotein (gp41 or TM) (31, 32). Other host cellular proteins such as major histocompatibility antigens, actin and ubiquitin also contribute to the formation of the outer membrane (33). On the other hand, the inner membrane comprises of the matrix proteins (MA or p17). The nucleocapsid protein (CA or p24) encompasses the two RNA molecules, which

are anchored together in a ribonucleoprotein complex formed by several nuclear capsid proteins (NC or p7), integrase (IN or p31), reverse transcriptase (RT or p66/p51) and protease (PR or p11) (29).

Upon entry in to the host cell, the RNA is reverse transcribed into complimentary DNA by the viral reverse transcriptase, which is contained in the infecting virion. The DNA is then transported into the nucleus with host proteins as part of a preintegration complex and integrated into the host genome with the help of another viral enzyme integrase and other cellular factors. The viral DNA can now function as a template to produce many copies of the virus inside the host cell (29, 34).

1.3.3 HIV genome



Figure 1.6. A schematic diagram of the HIV genome showing the long terminal repeats that flank either side of the genome and the 9 open reading frames. The *gag* gene encodes the viral proteins that form the capsid; the *pol* gene encodes the three enzymes, protease (PR), reverse transcriptase (RT) and integrase (IN); the *env* gene encodes the envelope surface protein. The remaining six open reading fames encode the accessory proteins; Vif, Vpr, Vpu, Tat, Rev and Nef (29).

The HIV genome, approximately 9.5 kilobases long comprises of nine genes. The HIV genome is flanked by long terminal repeat (LTR) sequences on either ends (five prime and 3 prime ends) (32, 35). There are three major structural proteins; Gag (group specific antigen polyprotein) that comprises the core structural proteins, Pol (polymerase) polyprotein that is processed into three viral enzymes and Env (envelope) that consists of the gp120 and gp41 proteins. These major structural proteins are essential for the formation of new viral particles. Furthermore, there exist six additional proteins namely two regulatory proteins; Tat (transcriptional transactivator) and Rev (regulator of virus protein expression) required for viral replication (36, 37) and four accessory proteins; Nef, Vif, Vpr and Vpu (Figure 1.6) required for regulatory functions and virion assembly (35, 37, 38).

1.3.4 Viral proteins and function

Gag – codes for the core structural proteins of the virus; capsid protein p17 (Matrix), p24 (capsid), p7 (nucleocapsid) and p6. The latter protein mainly associates and interacts with the plasma membrane to allow assembled virions to be released from the cell surface (39) as well production of the Vpr protein (40, 41).

Pol – codes for the viral enzymes; Protease (PR), Reverse Transcriptase (RT) and Integrase (IN). The RT is responsible for the conversion of the single stranded RNA in to single copy DNA (29, 42), which is then integrated into the host genome with the help of the IN. The IN facilitates the insertion of the linear double stranded DNA into the host cell chromosome (42). The PR then cleaves the Gag and Gag-Pol polyproteins to facilitate conformational changes required for the production of mature infectious viruses (35).

Env – the envelope is the most variable protein and comprises of the viral envelope glycoproteins; i. Subunit (SU) gp120. ii. Transmebrane (TM) gp41. The two derive from the cleavage of the highly glycosylated polyprotein gp160 by cellular proteases (43, 44). Both the gp120 and gp41 glycoproteins are essential for virus attachment and fusion to the target cell during the early stages of infection (29).

Tat – the *transactiva*tor of HIV *gene expression* activates initiation of transcription (45, 46).

Rev – a trans-activating protein that codes for a 19kD phosphoprotein, which functions include promotion of nuclear export, stabilization and usage of the viral mRNAs (45, 47).
Vif - the *viral infectivity factor* codes for a cytoplasmic protein required for subsequent infectivity of new viral particles. It disrupts the antiviral function of the human apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme-cytidine deaminase enzymes (APOBEC) enzyme hence preventing APOBEC3G protein from entering the virion during budding from a host cell by targeting it for proteasomal degradation (48–52).

Vpr – the Viral Protein R is a 96 amino acid 14-kDa protein which is required for virus replication in non-diving cells such as macrophages, regulation of the nuclear import of the HIV pre-integration complex and induces arrest of host cells at the G2/M phase of the cell cycle (43, 45).

Vpu – the Viral protein U is mainly involved in the late stages of infection and is known to enhance virion release from the plasma membrane of infected cells by counteracting host restriction by tetherin (45, 53, 54).

Nef – the negative regulatory factor is known to promote viral spread by down regulation of CD4 through endocytosis from plasma membrane and Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules from the cell surface hence protecting the infected cells from cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) recognition (45).

1.4 HIV REPLICATION

1.4.1 HIV tropism

HIV has the ability to infect a number of cell types including $CD4^+$ T cells as their main target and several others such as macrophages and microglial cells. Entry into $CD4^+$ T cells and macrophages involves an interaction between the CD4 molecule on the target cell and the virion envelope glycoprotein (gp120) together with chemokine co-receptors differentially expressed on $CD4^+$ T cells (55, 56). The different virus strains can exhibit different affinities for either of the following chemokine receptors for entry into the target cell resulting in distinct tropisms: i. The β -chemokine receptor, chemokine receptor type 5 (CCR5), hence the viruses using this route are known as R5 isolates. ii. The α -chemokine receptor, chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4), hence the viruses using this route of entry are known as X4 isolates (57– 59). Both the R5 and X4 isolates can infect and replicate in primary CD4⁺ T cells. However, some viruses can use both chemokine receptors for entry into the host cell and these are known as R5X4 or dual tropic isolates. HIV has a bias towards utilizing CCR5 during acute infection which has been documented to facilitate rapid spread of infection, however during the course of the disease progression, there tends to be a switch either to dual tropism or CXCR4 co-receptor usage (56, 60, 61).

Other immune cells that HIV can infect are the myeloid dendritic cells in which virus entry occurs via either the CD4-R5 route or another route using mannose-specific Ctype lectin receptors such as the Dendritic Cell-Specific Intercellular adhesion molecule-3-Grabbing Non-integrin (DC-SIGN) (62, 63). The infection of dendritic cells is very critical for maintenance of the viral reservoir in cases where the number of target cells (CD4⁺ T cells) has declined to very low levels (62). In addition, other types of DCs such as plasmacytoid DCs and Langerhans can be infected by HIV (64). Furthermore, monocytes and other cell types may also be infected by HIV (65).

It is important to note that there exist a group of individuals who are resistant to HIV infection. These few individuals have a 32 base pair deletion on their CCR5 receptor sequence; a mutation known as CCR5 delta 32 (CCR5 Δ 32). Individuals with this mutation are resistant to infection with R5 - using viruses which are then unable to bind or enter the target cell and establish successful infection (61, 66–68). There are

very few people with this mutation. The frequency of individuals with this mutation is as low as 0.10 recorded in a cohort in the USA (69) and 0.01 in a cohort in Western Europe (66).

1.4.2 HIV infection

Once HIV comes into contact with a target cell, infection and further production of new infectious virions take place in a process known as viral replication. Viral replication steps include the following; virus attachment, fusion and entry, uncoating and reverse transcription, importation of the pre-integration complex into the nucleus, integration, transcription and translation, assembly and budding and finally maturation (29). These steps are discussed in detail below and summarized in Figure

1.7.



Figure 1.7. Schematic representation of the life cycle of HIV inside a host cell. HIV replication begins with the interaction of a virus particle with a receptor on the cell surface, resulting in the fusion of the viral and cellular membranes and transfer of the viral contents into the cell. The viral RNA genome is reverse transcribed resulting in

the production of a DNA copy, which is then imported into the nucleus. Inside the nucleus, the viral DNA is integrated into the host-cell genome. This is followed by transcription process from within the host genome, which is then exported from the nucleus. The translation of the viral proteins by host-cell machinery begins and the major structural protein, Gag, is transported to the plasma membrane where it directs assembly of the viral coat and incorporates other viral proteins and the viral genome. The virus buds through the cell membrane, and Gag is cleaved by the viral protease leading to a structural change of the virion into its mature infectious form, which is capable of fusing with a new susceptible cell (figure adapted from (70).

1.4.2.1 Virus fusion and entry

The CD4 molecule expressed on the surface of the target cell, serves as a binding receptor for HIV, which interacts and binds with high affinity to gp120 found on the surface of the virus (71–74). This interaction triggers a conformational change of the envelope glycoprotein facilitating the virus to fuse with the target cell membrane (75, 76). However, the interaction between CD4 and gp120 alone is not sufficient to trigger conformational change adequate enough for virus entry. Therefore, coreceptors (CCR5 or CXCR4) must be expressed on the surface of the target cell in order to provide a much stronger conformational change of the glycoprotein necessary for successful virus entry (77–79). The conformational changes that occur following interaction of the CD4 with gp120 allow exposure of the chemokine binding domains of gp120 hence leading to their interaction with the target cell chemokine receptors (44, 58, 60, 75, 80). The interaction between CD4-gp120 and co-receptors leads to a prolonged attachment facilitating the N-terminal fusion peptide gp41 to penetrate the cell membrane therefore allowing fusion and entry to occur (72).

1.4.2.2 Uncoating and reverse transcription

Following virus entry is the uncoating and delivery of the viral core into the cytoplasm of the target cell (29, 81–83). During this process the nucleocapsid protein (CA) is lost and the viral core is retained which comprises of the viral RNA genome, tRNA primers and enzymes; reverse transcriptase (RT), integrase and protease (29).

The virus RT then facilitates the conversion of the virus RNA into a single copy of double stranded deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) by a process known as reverse transcription (29, 84, 85). The virus RT has a low fidelity rate and has no proofreading capabilities, meaning it is extremely error-prone leading to high mutation rates of the HIV reverse transcription process (86–88), which may also later cause drug resistance and evasion of the virus from the host's immune responses (85). The newly systemesized DNA and the rest of the virus core contents are retained and form what is known as the pre-integration complex (PIC) (89, 90).

1.4.2.3 Integration

The PIC is then transported to the nucleus of the target cell. This is where the viral DNA is incorporated into the host genome catalyzed by the viral enzyme integrase (IN) in a process known as integration. The integrated viral DNA now known as the provirus will act as a template for further synthesis of viral RNA (29, 43, 85). The provirus may remain latent and inactive for many years before being activated via the transcription process (91, 92).

1.4.2.4 Transcription and translation

The integrated DNA is then transcribed into messenger RNA (mRNA), by a process known as transcription. This process is tightly controlled by Tat (transcription factor) and host cell's own machinery used for transcription of genes (93). The mRNAs are then spliced into smaller pieces and later exported out of the nucleus into the cytoplasm where they will undergo translation into proteins. The spliced mRNAs can be divided into 3 groups: i. Full length mRNA that encodes for structural proteins Gag-Pol polyproteins. ii. Singly spliced mRNA that encodes for Env, Vif, Vpr and Vpu. iii. The multiply spliced mRNA that encodes for the early regulatory proteins (Tat, Nef and Rev) (94, 95).

1.4.2.5 Assembly and release

The viral proteins formed from the spliced mRNA now move towards the outer cell membrane where they assemble. This process occurs in a series of steps, firstly the Env gp160 is transported via the endoplasmic reticulum to the Golgi complex where it is cleaved in the gp120 and gp41 by furin (96). Both the gp120 and gp41 then move to the plasma membrane where gp41 facilitates anchoring of gp120 to the membrane of the infected cell. Gag and Gag-Pol together with the viral genomic RNA associate with the inner surface of the plasma membrane and form a virion that will eventually bud out of the infected cell. Vif is also required for the stability of the viral core and its interaction with the antiviral restriction factor APOBEC3G hence preventing the latter from incorporation into the virion (49, 97, 98). The interaction between Gag and cellular proteins is critical for virion release. Viral protein U (Vpu) is also involved in the budding and interacts with tetherin, a membrane-associated protein that has the ability to block release of the virus particle (53, 54, 98).

1.4.2.6 Maturation

Shortly after release of an immature virus particle, the maturation process occurs. This process involves cleavage of the immature Gag and Gag-Pol polyproteins precursors by viral proteases to produce functional mature Gag and Gag-Pol proteins leading to the generation of a mature infectious HIV particle capable of initiating infection (29, 99).

1.4.3 HIV modes of transmission

Transmission of HIV occurs via direct transfer/exchange of bodily fluids; blood and blood products, semen, genital secretions and breast milk from infected mother to the newborn. The primary means of HIV transmission is via unprotected sexual contact with an infected person. In the 1990s it was documented that there was an increasing incidence of HIV infection in the US and Europe amongst gay men and ethnic minority people and such infection rates accounted for 50% of new infections in the US (100). The majority of HIV infections worldwide is via heterosexual intercourse (101, 102) while non-sexual HIV transmission may occur through occupational exposure through needle sticks, blood transfusion with HIV contaminated blood products, injection drug use and mother to child (103).

Mother to child transmission cases in the absence of antiretroviral therapy have been documented in 25% of births from HIV infected mothers (104). Breastfeeding is another mode of mother to child transmission (105). However, with the implementation and availability of ART, the rate of perinatal HIV transmission has been reduced by 50% (106–108). Low viral load has also been associated with reduced HIV transmission (109).

In addition, HIV has been isolated from bodily fluids including; blood, semen, cerebral spinal fluid, tears, vaginal secretions, breast milk and saliva of HIV infected people (110–113). Although low HIV concentrations have been isolated from saliva and tears, there is no evidence that contact with these fluids can cause infection (114).

1.4.4 HIV transmission

The biology of HIV transmission is a complex process. Most transmissions occur heterosexually at the epithelial layer of the mucosal surfaces especially the genital and rectal mucosal surface (101, 115). At the epithelial layer, the founder virus undergoes a genetic bottleneck, resulting in only one virus being able to establish successful infection. Although the mechanisms by which infection occurs are not fully understood, previous work has shown that in about 80% of the cases, a single founder virus is responsible for successful infection (116). Furthermore, these founder viruses

are capable of infecting CD4⁺ T cells to much greater extent as opposed to infecting monocytes and macrophages (117) and show resistance to type I interferons (118). Previous studies suggest that the first cellular targets of SIV and HIV reside in the lamina propria of the cervicovaginal mucosa. Two days following infection, the cervix is infected and the virus then spreads most likely through dendritic cells and CD4⁺ T cells, which then migrate to regional lymph nodes and subsequently into the blood stream (119). HIV is also able to infect Langerhans cells, in addition to other dendritic cells and CD4⁺ T cells that reside in the lamina propria of the cervicovaginal mucosa. These cell types express CD4 and CCR5; both essential for viral entry (120, 121). Studies on rhesus macaques have confirmed that successful infection arose from a single infecting virus when the animals were inoculated intra-rectally with a complex SIV quasispecies thus further supporting the use of SIV infection of rhesus macaques as a model for HIV-1 transmission and vaccine studies (122, 123).

1.4.5 Course of HIV infection

HIV infection is a chronic disease and progressively causes damage to the immune system from the time of infection to the manifestation of severe immunologic damage represented by a number of opportunistic infections, neoplasms, wasting, or low CD4 lymphocyte count that define AIDS (Figure 1.8). There are 3 main phases that define the course of HIV infection; acute phase, chronic phase and AIDS.

1.4.5.1 Acute Phase

Acute HIV infection is characterized by a burst of a to more than a million copies per ml of blood and a dramatic but temporal decline of CD4⁺ T cells prior to detectable antibody responses or seroconversion. The acute phase normally lasts for up to several weeks and newly infected individuals may present with flu-like symptoms such as fever, disseminated lymphadenopathy, headache, myalgia, anorexia, rash, and/or diarrhoea (124). Although there is a slight recovery of peripheral CD4⁺ T cell counts in the blood following peak viremia, massive depletion of CD4⁺ T cells occurs in the gut associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) where most of the CD4⁺ T cells reside (125). Additionally, peripheral blood CD4⁺ T cell counts eventually decline to a level that allows opportunistic infections (126, 127).

The peak in viremia is followed by a significant reduction to a viral set point. The viral set point predicts disease progression; the higher the viral set point, the faster the disease progression (128–131). Coincidental to the reduction of viral load to a set point is the emergence of HIV-specific CD8⁺ T cells. HIV specific CD8⁺ T cell activity has been shown to be involved in the reduction of viremia to a viral set point (132–134). Subsequent to CD8⁺ T cell responses is the emergence of antibody responses. However, antibody responses do not appear to play a major role in reducing viremia during cute infection (135–138). Increased viral load (VL) is associated with increased risk of transmission, therefore persons with acute HIV-1 infection are more likely to transmit the virus to uninfected individuals (139–141).

1.4.5.2 Chronic Phase

This phase is asymptomatic and may last for years with viral load remaining relatively stable followed by a steady increase until the onset of AIDS (142, 143). However, persistent viral replication especially in the lymph nodes, fluctuating plasma viral load and a steady decline of the main target cell population is observed during chronic HIV infection (129, 144, 145). During this phase, HIV is able to trigger or activate potent host inflammatory and adaptive immune responses including CTL and antibody responses (146). However, the virus is able to evade these responses hence maintaining a significant level of viral replication that in turn sustains the state of

chronic immune activation, which eventually causes progressive immune dysfunction finally leading to progression to AIDS.

1.4.5.3 AIDS

AIDS is the end stage of disease usually characterized by a number of opportunistic infections and malignancies that eventually lead to death due to the immunecompromised state of the infected individual. The immune system is no longer able to control opportunistic pathogens culminating in life-threatening AIDS-defining diseases (147, 148). The CD4⁺ T cell count below 200 cells per mm³ of blood is a clinical indication of the onset of AIDS.



Figure 1.8. A schematic representation of the course of HIV/SIV infection showing changes in viral load, antibodies, CD4 and CD8 T-cell counts in the absence of antiretroviral treatment. Figure adapted from (149).

1.5 ANTIRETROVIRAL TREATMENT

1.5.1 The role of ARVs

There is currently no cure or effective HIV vaccine available. However, there is treatment available for HIV, which consists of highly active antiretroviral treatment (HAART). This treatment has proven to be effective at controlling the epidemic since its introduction in the 1990s as demonstrated by a reduction in the death rate of HIV infected people (150–152). There are 25 antiretroviral drugs (ARVs) approved to date for the treatment of HIV infection and successful treatment is associated with the continued durable suppression of HIV viremia. Standard antiretroviral treatment (ART) regimens consist of a combination of at least 3 drugs belonging to at least two classes of ARVs. The main role of ART is to stop viral replication and restore immune function by inhibiting crucial HIV replication steps as summarised in Figure 1.9 below, and therefore preventing the onset of AIDS, AIDS-related illnesses, improving the quality of life and prolonging the life expectancy of those infected and finally preventing further transmission to the uninfected.

The six different classes of ARV agents currently approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (US-FDA) for the treatment of HIV infection are shown below.

- a. Nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTIs) target the reverse transcription step by interrupting the HIV replication cycle via competitive inhibition of HIV RT and termination of the DNA chain. Because they have a structure that is similar to that of the DNA nucleoside bases, they can be incorporated into the proviral DNA (153).
- b. Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs) also target the reverse transcription step by binding to the RT at a site distant to the active

site and therefore inducing a conformational change that alters the active site of the enzyme and limiting its activity (153).

- c. Protease inhibitors (PIs) function by binding competitively to the substrate site of the viral protease; an enzyme responsible for the post-translational processing and cleavage of polyprotein precursors that will generate core proteins and enzymes of mature virions during the budding from the infected cell. Inhibition of this process results in budding of immature viral particles (153, 154).
- d. Integrase inhibitors (IIs) function by inhibiting the strand transfer reaction of the proviral integration step through binding of the metallic ions in the enzyme's active site (155, 156).
- e. Fusion inhibitors (FIs) function by interfering with the HIV fusion step by competitively binding to the gp41 and preventing the conformational changes required for gp41 to complete the fusion process (157).
- f. Chemokine receptor antagonists (CRAs) also known as CCR5 antagonists bind to the CCR5 co-receptor hence blocking the gp120-CCR5 interaction. However these drug types only inhibit CCR5 tropic HIV strains and not CXCR4 or dual tropic HIV strains (158, 159).

World Health Organization (WHO) has new recommendations that treatment should be initiated at 500 CD4⁺ cells or fewer per mm³ of blood of HIV infected individuals (160). However the main challenge is the high number of people eligible for treatment. There is still a great challenge of making ARVs accessible to everyone who is eligible and infected with HIV especially in low and middle-income countries, which bear the brunt of the HIV/AIDS epidemic. In South Africa alone, only about 20% of the people who are HIV positive and eligible for treatment have access to treatment (152). The increasing evidence of resistance to treatment regimens available is of great concern. Additionally, HIV has a high mutation rate also contributing to the development of resistance to treatment (161, 162). Therefore, there are still milestones to be reached in order to combat the epidemic.



Figure 1.9. Schematic representation of the replication cycle of HIV showing crucial steps targeted by the current antiretroviral treatment drugs (163).

1.5.2 HIV Reservoirs

Although HAART has proven effective at controlling HIV infection and reducing AIDS-related mortalities, the current drug regimens are not able to completely eradicate the virus from the body. The majority of HIV infected individuals on HAART achieve full suppression as indicated by the undetectable viral load levels for a long period of time. However, upon withdrawal the viral load rebounds rapidly and this is accompanied by a decline in CD4⁺ T cell count (164). Previous studies have shown the existence of the provirus in latently infected resting memory CD4⁺ T cells

(165) and these HIV reservoirs can later produce infectious virus even after successful treatment as a result of cellular activation (166–168). Because HIV DNA is already integrated into the host genome, it is believed that it can lie dormant for as long as the infected individual is alive. Some studies have attempted to see if activating the latently infected cells with reactivation drugs such as histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors followed by ARVs would clear the virus from the body. Viral clearance was achieved when the HDAC inhibitor valproic acid was administered together with ART; the two studies assessed a small number of HIV infected individuals and hence provided proof of concept that HIV can be eliminated from persistent reservoirs and that HDAC inhibitors can be therapeutically used in man against HIV (169, 170). In parallel with treatment strategies and other measures for preventing infection and spread, more studies are needed to further explore the use of these inhibitors on clearing the viral reservoirs. An effective HIV vaccine is urgently needed.

1.6 HIV VACCINE STRATEGIES

The only way to combat the HIV/AIDS epidemic is through an effective HIV vaccine. An ideal HIV vaccine must completely block infection and provide sterilizing immunity and should be able to stimulate both broadly neutralizing antibodies and cell-mediated immune responses (171). However, a more realistic goal for an effective HIV vaccine would be one that is able to significantly reduce VL and delay clinical disease progression after infection hence reducing transmission to uninfected individuals (172). Several vaccine concepts have been studied with no success mainly due to the high genetic variability of HIV, lack of knowledge of the immune correlates of protection, lack of generation of broadly neutralizing antibodies and the absence of a relevant animal model (149). There are no clear correlates of immune protection. Therefore, more research is still required to identify what immune responses an effective HIV vaccine should elicit. The correlates of immune control of HIV infection still need to be clearly defined.

1.6.1 The STEP and Phambili trials

The STEP and Phambili vaccine trials assessed the efficacy of Merck Ad5 gag/pol/nef subtype B HIV-1 preventive vaccine in South Africa (Phambili trial) and in the Americas, Caribbean, and Australia (STEP trial) and was aimed at eliciting T-cellmediated immune responses that would provide complete or partial protection from HIV infection or a decrease in viral load after acquisition (173, 174). The trial was a was a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomised trial that recruited HIV-1 uninfected, sexually active adults and eligible participants were randomly assigned placebo or vaccine group by a computer program. Disappointingly, the MRKAd5 HIV-1 vaccine in the Phambili trial did not prevent HIV-1 infection or lower viral load set point but managed to elicit interferon- γ (IFN- γ) - secreting T cells that were capable of recognizing both clade B (89%) and C (77%) antigens (174). In the STEP trial, the vaccine was also highly immunogenic as seen by induction of HIV-specific CD8⁺ T cells (175). However, there was increased HIV acquisition amongst the vaccinated group in both trials and so because of futility in the STEP trial, both vaccine trials were discontinued (174, 176–178).

1.6.2 The RV144 HIV Vaccine trial

In 2009 the first ever HIV vaccine reported to have shown a modest efficacy was the Thai HIV Vaccine efficacy trial also known as the RV144 trial conducted in Thailand. This vaccine combination, which was based on HIV strains commonly circulating in Thailand, showed a 31.2% reduction in the incidence of HIV infection. The trial was conducted as a community-based, randomized, multicenter, double-blind, placebocontrolled efficacy trial, and evaluated four priming injections of a recombinant canarypox vector vaccine (ALVAC-HIV [vCP1521]) including two booster injections of a recombinant glycoprotein 120 subunit vaccine (AIDSVAX B/E) (179). Following the exciting results of the Thai vaccine trial, a case-control analysis was conducted in order to identify antibody and cellular immune correlates of infection risk. It was concluded from the analyses that V1V2 antibodies may have contributed to protection against HIV-1 infection, whereas high levels of Env-specific IgA antibodies may have mitigated the effects of protective antibodies (180). Individuals presenting with high plasma levels of Env-specific IgA antibodies had a 54% increased HIV infection rate; same rate as for individuals in the placebo group suggesting that these antibodies disrupted the protective effect of the vaccine. Therefore, these findings suggest that an effective HIV vaccine with improved efficacy should elicit higher levels of V1V2 antibodies and lower levels of Env-specific IgA antibodies (180).

1.6.3 The CMV vector based SIV vaccine

The negative human vaccine-trial results raised questions about the whole concept of a CTL-inducing vaccine against HIV. In the recent years another study took a different approach. In an animal model setting, a rhesus monkey cytomegalovirus (RhCMV) vector was employed together with recombinant SIV genes to act as immunogens that would elicit strong and persisting effector memory CTL responses in vaccinated animals (181, 182). Of the vaccinated monkeys that were challenged with pathogenic SIVmac239 virus, 50% cleared the virus soon after peak vireamia during the acute infection phase. This type of vaccine elicited atypical CD8⁺ T cell responses that were broad. However, it is not clear whether protection was dependent on these atypical CD8⁺ T cell responses (171). The *in vivo* removal of CD8⁺ T cells of the monkeys that had cleared the virus did not cause rebound of vireamia in these animals (181, 182), raising more questions about the immune correlates of protection in these animals. It would be useful to further study the reasons for protection especially in the 50% of the monkeys that cleared the virus upon challenge. Nevertheless, these data further provide an opportunity to identify the correlates of protection and design an improved human HIV vaccine that would elicit strong and protective CD8⁺ T cell responses.

1.7 IMMUNITY TO HIV

1.7.1 Innate immune responses to HIV

The innate immune response marks the very first line of defence against invading pathogens. Previous work has suggested that innate immune responses play an important role in the control of HIV infection especially during the early phase of infection as well as determining the establishment of infection and the subsequent rate of disease progression (183, 184). The reduction in viral replication observed during the acute phase often occurs prior to the induction of adaptive immune responses such as CD8⁺ T cell responses confirming the involvement of innate responses at this stage of infection (185).

The innate immune system utilizes a number of cellular and soluble factors that work in order to elicit a rapid response following the recognition of pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) (186). There are several classes of pattern recognition receptors (PRR) and these including the three best known: the (RIG-I)-like receptors (RLRs), the toll-like receptors (TLRs), and the nucleotide oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs) (186). Different combinations of these receptors can be activated primarily on innate immune cells hence leading to the induction of a nonspecific antiviral environment including release of cytokines such as interferons (IFNs) (186). The IFNs can then blocking viral growth and finally initiate the induction of adaptive immune responses (186).

The innate immune system comprises of a number of cell subsets which all derive from the bone marrow. These include phagocytes (monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs)), cytolytic cells (Natural killer (NK) cells and neutrophils) and professional antigen-presenting cells (DCs). The phagocytes are responsible for antigen clearance, while the cytolytic cells are responsible for the destruction of pathogen infected cells and finally the antigen presenting cells function by recognizing antigens and presenting them to the adaptive immune cells for the induction of an immune response and memory (187). The innate immune response is not only vital in the early HIV infection phase, but is also required for the activation of the adaptive immune responses. The main innate cell players involved in the control of HIV infection are the NK and DC cell subsets.

1.7.1.1 Natural killer cells

Natural killer (NK) cells recognize and kill virally infected cells and do not require prior activation in order to perform this function. They have the ability to produce cytokines and chemokines that attract and activate cells of the adaptive immune system (183). NK cells, in particular KIR3DS1⁺ and KIR3DL1⁺ NK cells have been shown to be involved in the acute control of HIV infection as demonstrated by their expansion during the peak of vireamia prior to seroconversion and the appearance of HIV-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses (188). There is another small subset of T lymphocytes expressing surface markers that are characteristic of both T cells and NK cells known as NKT cells. These are now known to form a link between the innate and adaptive immune responses (183, 185).

HIV has evolved and developed mechanisms to escape from the early innate immune responses suggesting that the NK cells are indeed involved during acute HIV infection and are able to mount pressure on the virus (185, 189). However, HIV Nef protein is able to down-regulate major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules, specifically the Human leucocyte antigen (HLA)-A and HLA-B molecules which allows escape from CTL responses, but does not down-regulate HLA-C molecules which are the dominant ligands for NK KIR2D receptors thus allowing the virus to escape NK responses (190–192). Therefore, there is still more work to be done to better understand NK responses in the control of HIV and also develop ways of harnessing NK cellular responses in effective HIV vaccine design.

1.7.1.2 Dendritic cells

Dendritic cells (DCs) are the professional antigen presenting cells. Their main role is to recognize and present pathogen products to T cells in order for an immune response to be elicited. They respond rapidly following infection through recognition of viral products via pattern recognition receptors (187). Human plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) produce cytokines such as interferons which mediate direct effector and immune-regulatory functions, which stimulate adaptive immune responses as well as mediate rapid antimicrobial effector functions (193, 194).

Conventional DCs can be found in the skin, blood and mucosal surfaces. Because they can be found at the mucosal surfaces, they are able to come in to direct contact with the HIV. Following this encounter, they engulf HIV and are triggered to migrate to the draining lymph nodes where they can perform their function of eliciting the adaptive immune responses by presenting antigens to T and B cells (194, 195). The activation of pDCs by HIV occurs via upregulation of the expression of costimulatory and MHC molecules, maturation markers, increasing T cell stimulatory activity, and induction of the production of type I interferons and tumour necrosis factor alpha $(TNF-\alpha)$ (195).

A rapid decline of pDCs during HIV infection has been observed during both acute and chronic phases of infection and this decline was associated with high viral load and low CD4⁺ T cell count (196–198). In addition, HIV has evolved and developed mechanisms to prevent degradation by DCs in order to gain access to its primary target cells CD4⁺ T cells. DCs are also involved in the transmission of HIV to CD4⁺ T cells (199). Thus DCs are a key target to investigate the ways of preventing HIV transmission.

1.7.2 Humoral immune responses to HIV

HIV infected individuals have the ability to develop antibodies against HIV early during infection soon after the onset of CD8⁺ T cell responses and establishment of viral set point following acute HIV infection. However, these antibodies are not able to neutralize HIV or resolve natural HIV infection (200–203) but can mount selective pressure on the virus hence causing it to evolve rapidly (138, 202, 203). The ideal neutralizing antibodies are usually detected several months later to 2 years following seroconvertion (201, 204). We know from other viral infections that the most effective vaccines produced to date elicit neutralizing antibodies (nAbs). Since the envelope mediates HIV entry, it is ideal to design vaccines that act against the Env region in order to prevent viral entry and further infection (205). Most of the recent HIV vaccine research studies have focused on finding and understanding the possible mechanisms of virus inhibition and the development of strategies to prevent infection (206). In order to achieve full viral neutralization, HIV specific antibodies must recognize functional sites on the HIV-1 envelope spike, gp160, which is a hetero-trimer composed of gp120 and gp41 protein subunits (207). Although there is still no

effective vaccine against HIV, the RV144 study showed some modest protection and demonstrated that antibodies raised against the variable loop 2 of gp120 in vaccinees were the main positive predictive factor for protection (180).

Only a small percentage of HIV infected individuals known as 'elite neutralizers' are able to develop broadly neutralizing antibodies (bnAbs) (201, 208–210). These bnAbs are active against hundreds of different cell-free viral quasi-species from various HIV-1 subtypes (211). However, the bnAbs are not able to completely suppress viral replication in infected persons mainly due to viral escape (202, 203). Therefore, antibodies against HIV may play an important role by reducing the risk of infection and vertical transmission (211, 212).

1.7.3 Host restriction factors

Host restriction factors that are known to be potent inhibitors of HIV replication include APOBEC3G, TRIM5-alpha and Tetherin (213) and how they perform their function is discussed below.

APOBEC3G (apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme-cytidine deaminase enzymes) is a strong inhibitor of HIV replication and is counteracted by the viral Vif protein (49). However, in the absence of Vif, APOBEC3G is able to convert cytosine bases of the viral minus- strand DNA to uracil, which results in a G to A hypermutation in the complementary positive sense DNA strand (214–216). The U-rich transcripts can either be degraded by activation of the cellular uracil-DNA glycosylase hence causing failure of the reverse transcription or can yield non-functional proviruses as a result of the G to A hypermutation (216, 217). HIV has evolved and developed some escape mechanisms and is then able to use its protein Vif, which then interacts with APOBEC3G and causes its degradation via the ubiquitin-dependent proteosomal

pathway (49, 97, 218) and therefore disrupting the inhibitory properties of APOBEC3G and allowing the virus to replicate (214, 217).

Tetherin, which is also known as BST-2, CD317 or HM1.24 is a potent antiviral factor that inhibits HIV replication (53). It functions by inhibiting the release of newly formed virions from the host cell surface through binding to the cell surface at the virion budding site (53). HIV has evolved and developed some escape mechanisms and is then able to use its protein Vpu, which interacts directly with the transmembrane domain of tetherin and mediates down-regulation and degradation of tetherin levels at the cell surface (53). The exact mechanism of how tetherin functions is not fully understood.

TRIM5 α - tripartite motif-containing motif 5 alpha, the most studied TRIM family member is known to mediate species-specific and early block of retrovirus infection (219, 220). TRIM5 α was first identified in rhesus monkeys (rh) as a factor that blocks HIV replication (220). It has been shown that the rhTRIM5 α is a lot more potent than the human TRIM5 α at inhibiting virus replication (220). The exact mechanism of how TRIM5 α inhibits HIV replication is not fully understood. However, it is known that TRIM5 α trimers interact with hexameric capsids and block replication (221).

1.7.4 The major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules

Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have identified HLA class I molecules as the major determinant of HIV control (222, 223). The major histocompatibility complex (MHC) or in humans known as Human Leucocyte Antigen (HLA) class I molecules, are highly polymorphic and map to the short arm of chromosome 6. They are responsible for processing and presenting antigens to T cells (224). Class I molecules present endogenous peptides to CD8⁺ T cells while class II molecules (HLA-DR, -DQ, and –DP) bind to and present antigens of extracellular origin to CD4⁺ T cells (225). There are three classical human MHC class I alleles (HLA-A, -B and -C), which encode for cellular surface molecules responsible for processing and presenting antigens usually from intracellular pathogens to CD8⁺ T cells. The peptidebinding groove of the HLA molecule is the most variable region and therefore dictates the binding motif for the peptides presented by each HLA allele. There are 6 pockets within the binding groove (A-F) and these differ in size. Of the six pockets, 2 exhibit a particular preference to one or two amino acids while the other 4 are flexible and function as secondary anchors (226).

HLA typing may be performed serologically and by molecular methods. HLA nomenclature is usually resolved to 4 digits. For example, in the HLA-A*24:02, 'A' represent the locus, this is followed by an asterisk, the first two digits (number 24) represents the allele family/group mostly determined serologically. This is also referred to as the antigen level resolution. Finally the second set of digits (the number 02) specifies the allele. For example, HLA-A*24:02 represents the second allelic member of the A*24 group. This is also known as the allele or subtype level resolution (227). HLA alleles can also be classified into supertypes that comprise HLA alleles of different types/subtypes that share peptide-binding specificities. The HLA B58 supertype, for example, comprises subtypes belonging to the B*57 and B*58 groups, among others (227). The HLA B7 supertype comprises subtypes belonging to the B*07:02, B*39:10, B*42:01, B*42:02 and B*81:01 groups. These alleles have similar peptide-binding motifs that can frequently bind the same peptides (228).

The HLA class I loci has been shown to display the strongest effect on HIV disease control (222). HLA molecules are known to contribute to HIV disease control

primarily through CD8⁺ T cells. Additionally, HLA molecules also act as ligands for killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs), which are involved in controlling the NK cell activity. Furthermore, polymorphisms within the KIRs in particular KIR3DS1 have been associated with disease progression (229).

1.7.5 Adaptive immune responses to HIV

Adaptive immune responses or cell-mediated immune responses have been implicated in the control of HIV replication. Unlike the innate responses that occur rapidly, the adaptive immune responses are delayed and dependent on presentation of pathogenderived peptides in the context of HLA molecules by professional antigen presenting cells (APCs). The main players of the adaptive immune responses are the T cells including CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. HIV preferentially infects CD4⁺ T cells (230) and CD8⁺ T cell recognise viral peptides presented by antigen presenting cells in the context of MHC class I molecules in order for an immune responses to be elicited, which occurs when CD8⁺ T cells kill the virus infected cells. CD8⁺ T cells are known as effector cells due their ability to recognize and kill virus-infected cells.

1.7.5.1 CD8+ T cells

Immunological processes in the early phase of HIV infection shape the outcome of disease progression. During the acute phase infected subjects experience a high level of vireamia, followed by a temporal reduction to a viral set point coincident with the appearance of HIV specific CD8⁺ T cells, and these cells are said to peak 1-2 weeks later following the decline in vireamia (133, 231–233). HIV-specific CD8⁺ T cells can recognise and kill virus infected cells by releasing soluble factors that suppress viral replication. CD8⁺ T cells respond in several ways during infection in order t clear virus infected cells. These include the production and release of various cytokines and chemokines and the exocytosis of pre-formed cytolytic granules containing perforin

and granzyme. The main functions known to be relevant in antiviral immunity are proliferative capacity, IL-2, IFN- γ , TNF- α , and MIP-1 β cytokine and chemokine secretion and cytotoxicity as measured by perforin/granzyme B release and CD107a/b mobilization as a marker of degranulation (234–236).

Subsequent to the initial CTL response is the emergence of an antibody response soon after the vireamia has been reduced to lower levels (149, 231). Previous animal model studies have shown that in simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) infection, depletion of CD8⁺ T cells led to a rapid and marked increase in vireamia, and reconstitution of CD8⁺ T cells led to a decline in viral load (237, 238). In addition, several previous studies also demonstrated that vaccine-induced CD8⁺ T cell responses were able to protect macaques challenged with a SIV-HIV chimera from progression to AIDS (239–242). Furthermore, CD8⁺ T cells also play an important role in the control and limitation of viral replication during chronic HIV/SIV infection (243–247). These findings support the view that CD8⁺ T cell responses play a central role in the containment of vireamia in both HIV and SIV infection.

It is clear that not all CTL responses are effective in mediating viral control since the majority of HIV-infected persons eventually progress to disease. In addition, lack of control has been partially explained by the emergence of escape mutations that evade CTL mediated immune control (248, 228). Previous studies have shown that escape occurs early during HIV infection and is driven by CD8⁺ T cell responses (234, 249–251). The immune responses to the conserved Gag polyprotein in particular have been associated with favourable disease outcomes (252–257). On the other hand, the selection of escape mutations within functionally important Gag epitopes has been shown to occur at a cost to the virus hence reducing viral replication capacity and resulting in maintenance of low viral loads as a consequence of viral variants with

reduced viral replication capacity (258). Ultimately, compensatory mutations and immune relaxation occur and there is loss of viral control (259).

1.7.5.2 CD4+ T cells

CD4⁺ T cells also play a role in HIV infection. They are the main targets for HIV infection hence their decline during the course of infection through killing by the virus itself or via induced apoptosis (230, 260, 261). Activated CD4⁺ T cells function by mediating T helper 1 responses via secretion of cytokines (IL-2 and IFN γ); also required for the maintenance of the CD8⁺ T cell responses (253, 262–265). These effector functions of the CD4⁺ T cells are evident and persist during acute and chronic HIV infection (266). Because high frequencies of dual IFN γ and IL-2 secreting CD4⁺ T cells have been seen in controllers, the suppression of viral replication observed in controllers was then associated with the presence of these polyfunctional HIV specific CD4⁺ T cells with proliferative capacity (267–269) However, CD4⁺ T cells may lose the functional ability to produce IL-2 and to proliferate resulting in the lack of viral control (268, 270, 271).

1.8 HIV NATURAL CONTROLLERS

Durable control of viral replication in the absence of ART is achieved in a small percentage of HIV infected individuals. These individuals can be divided into different categories depending on their viral load and CD4⁺ T cell count and are termed long-term nonprogressors (LTNPs). LTNPs can be further divided into viremic controllers (VCs) and elite controllers (ECs).

1.8.1 Long-term nonprogressors (LTNPs)

Although different studies have varying definitions of LTNPs, most studies define this group as HIV seropositive individuals who lack disease progression, with a stable to elevated CD4⁺ T cell count for a duration of 7 - 10 years of symptom free HIV infection (272). These individuals have never been on ART and some of the individuals are known to have been infected for 20 - 25 years (273). They account for 2-5% of the HIV infected population (274)

1.8.2 Elite controllers (ECs)

Elite controllers (ECs) or elite suppressors (ESs) represent a small subset of the LTNPs that maintain HIV viral load of below the limit of detection (less than 50 HIV RNA copies/ml of blood) of the viral load assay for long periods in the absence of ART. They account for 1% of the infected population (274).

1.8.3 Viremic controllers (VCs)

Viremic controllers on the other hand display low but detectable viral load levels of between 50 and 2,000 HIV RNA copies/ml of blood in the absence of ART (274). They also display stable CD4⁺ T cell counts.

1.9 FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH NATURAL CONTROL OF HIV

Studying the natural controller groups of HIV infected population can provide some invaluable information regarding HIV pathogenesis, effective HIV vaccine strategies and development of novel therapeutic agents to combat HIV. A number of studies have attempted to determine the possible mechanisms associated with the natural control of HIV in the absence of ART in LTNPs, ECs and VCs. The factors associated with viral control or disease non-progression include host factors (HLA alleles, mutations in co-receptors, restriction factors), viral factors (mutations and deletions) and immunological factors (cellular immune responses, protective HLA class I alleles, innate and humoral responses).

1.9.1 Viral factors

Infection with attenuated virus strains has remained one of the reasons for nonprogression amongst LTNPs and ECs. Previous studies on these groups on individuals have demonstrated that LTNPs compared to progressors harboured replication incompetent virus strains that were less evolved and less capable of evading host immunological responses (275, 276) and attenuating gene deletions known to be associated with viral control (277, 278). In another study, it was demonstrated that 5 out of 6 HIV infected individuals became LTNPs following blood transfusion from 1 donor who was also a LTNP and it was concluded that they had been infected with a less virulent strain of HIV (279). In yet another study, 6 blood recipients from 1 donor became LTNPs and remained asymptomatic for 14 to 18 years following infection. Sequencing of the full HIV genome showed that they had been infected with a defective virus strain that contained a large deletion in the long-terminal repeat of the Nef gene (280). Additionally, the virus isolated from other LTNPs was found to replicate a lot slower and infection of the CD4⁺ T cells was less effective (281). These data may suggest that non-progression observed in LTNPs and ECs is due to their infection with attenuated viruses. However, in contrast, some studies have been able to demonstrate that some LTNPs harboured replication competent virus strains (282-284) and are rarely infected with similar Nef-deleted attenuated strains of HIV (282, 285, 286). The first study to sequence the whole HIV genome from ECs found some minor mutations that did not seem to affect HIV function (282) and another study showed that virus isolates from ECs were able to grow normally in CD4⁺ T cells (287). Furthermore, some data suggest that low viral load observed in some individuals may have been as a result infection with drug resistant HIV which may have had a fitness cost on the transmitted virus (288). Overall, the data remain

inconclusive and has not ruled out attenuated viruses as a possible explanation for disease non-progression observed in some LTNPs and ECs.

1.9.2 HLA B*57/B*27 and other protective HLA class I alleles

The majority of HIV specific CD8⁺ T cell responses are restricted by HLA-B alleles. Furthermore the expression of different HLA alleles has been found to be associated with differential control of vireamia where a number of HLA class I alleles are associated with low viral load (HLAs B*27, B*57, B*58:01, B*81:01 and A*74:01) while others are associated with disease progression or high viral load (HLAs B*18:01, B*58:02) (222, 223, 254, 289–293).

HLA B*57 variants have been strongly associated with the control of HIV infection through the induction of cross-reactive responses that are mounted against immunodominant Gag epitopes (294–296). This allele has also been found to be overrepresented in HIV controller study groups where for example, in a cohort of 30 or more individuals, between 8 and 63% of either LTNP or ECs carried the allele (272, 297), with ECs having the highest frequency of this allele. The actual mechanism by which control occurs amongst HLA B*57 positive individuals is not fully understood. However, in addition to B*57 restricting broad and protective CD8⁺ T cell responses within the Gag region of HIV, these responses can put pressure on the virus leading to escape, which in turn has a significant negative impact on viral fitness (298, 299).

HLA B*27 is another allele that has been associated with viral control (294, 300). Previous studies suggest that protection from non-progression amongst HIV subtype B clade B*27 positive individuals was achieved by responses to the KK10 Gag epitope (KRWIILGLNK, Gag263-272) (248, 301–305) while B*57 positive individuals mainly responded to epitopes KF11 (KAFSPEVIMF) and TSW10 (TSTLQEQIGW) (306).

Other protective HLA class I alleles include HLAs B*13 (307), B*51:01 (292), B*58:01 (290), B*81:01 (258) and A*74:01 (293). In most of the cohorts, 90-95% of LTNPs carry at least one of the protective HLA class I alleles (297). The mechanism of control amongst individual with protective HLA class I alleles still remain understudied.

1.9.3 The role of CD4⁺ T cells in viral control

The role of CD4⁺ T cells in the control of HIV replication has not been very clear. However, robust, polyclonal and Gag specific CD4⁺ T cell responses have been detected in LTNPs and correlated directly with low viral load (308–311). These cells have been found to have a robust T helper 1 phenotype as evidenced by their production of cytokines; IL-2 and IFN γ (312, 313) and proliferative capacity (267– 269). HIV-specific CD4⁺ T cells may also have a cytotoxic role (314, 315). Therefore, the role and contribution of CD4⁺ T cell in the control of viral replication amongst LTNPs and ECs is still debatable and needs to be resolved.

1.9.4 The role of HLA and CD8⁺ T cells in viral control

CD8⁺ T cell are the most important mediators of viral control especially amongst LTNPs (316). Previous work suggests that control of vireamia can be attributed to CD8⁺ T cell responses against Gag (252–256, 317–320) and these effective responses are mainly restricted by protective HLA class I alleles such as B*57/B*27 (317). Protective HLA class I alleles tend to present epitopes that are within the conserved region Gag p24 (321–323). In addition, CD8⁺ T cells from LTNPs were found to be more polyfunctional and to have a higher proliferative capacity compared to

progressors (235, 302, 324, 325). These data suggest that a more polyfunctional CD8⁺ T cell phenotype is associated with viral control. However, not all CD8⁺ T cell responses are truly protective, this is because these responses do not clear the infection and the individuals eventually progress to AIDS. CD8⁺ T cell exhaustion, viral mutational escape and non-mutational viral escape have been suggested as possible explanations for immune failure to clearing infection (203, 248, 249, 303, 326). Hence, there is still a need to further identify CTL characteristics associated with viral control.

1.10 GAPS IN KNOWLEDGE

There are gaps in knowledge as to what really accounts for the control of HIV replication especially amongst individuals with protective HLA class I alleles. There is conflicting data regarding viral control amongst LTNPs and ECs, which still requires resolving. Although protective HLA class I alleles have been associated with control of viral replication, the majority of individuals expressing these protective HLA class I alleles eventually progress to disease. There is need to clearly identify and define the correlates of immune protection from disease progression in individuals with protective HLA class I alleles. Furthermore, amongst controllers with protective HLA class I alleles, the infection is so dynamic in that the loss of control is encountered in some individuals who were previous controllers. It is unclear whether immunological or virological mechanisms of viral control and lack of control are involved in such cases.

In addition, there are some limitations to the findings from previous studies of HIV controllers; most of the studies have been cross-sectional in terms of study design such that the long-term outcome of infection was never investigated, some only analyzed individuals following acute HIV-1 infection when most persons are not

41

controlling viral replication, or have only investigated one specific T cell parameter. Here, we had an opportunity to study individuals with and without protective HLA class I alleles in a longitudinal study design and investigated multiple T cell properties (breadth and magnitude of CD8⁺ T cell responses, ability of CD8⁺ T cells to induce escape within the conserved Gag region, CD8⁺ T cell proliferation and polyfunctionality and ex-vivo ability of the CD8⁺ T cells to inhibit virus replication) all at the same time.

1.11 THE STUDY RATIONALE AND HYPOTHESIS

There is compelling evidence linking the control of HIV replication to many host and viral factors including the expression of protective HLA class I alleles, strong immune pressure as represented by CD8⁺ T cells responses on the virus that targets conserved regions of the virus and selection of immune escape mutations that are associated with viral fitness cost. Although individuals with protective HLA class I alleles are overrepresented among elite and HIV controllers, loss of viral control and disease progression is also encountered among these individuals. However, the exact events that lead to this loss of control have not been fully described. We aimed to study a group of individuals who possess protective HLA class I alleles in an attempt to explain the mechanisms associated with viral load control in these individuals and loss of viral control in some individuals by assessing the virological and immunological events that may be associated with control or loss of viral control amongst these individuals. A control group of individuals without protective HLA class I alleles was included to compare and contrast mechanisms of control and lack of control.

We hypothesised that a combination of the following factors will be responsible for the viral control in individuals with protective class I alleles: 1. Immune responses targeted towards specific epitopes located in highly conserved Gag regions,

2. Viral evolution and/or unusual polymorphisms that affect viral fitness,

3. And highly polyfunctional $CD8^+$ T cells that are capable of inhibiting viral replication *ex vivo*.

1.12 SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES

- 1. To characterize viral load dynamics and clinical disease progression in ARVnaïve HIV-1 subtype C chronically infected participants with and without protective HLA class I alleles.
- To study and describe the magnitude and breadth of HIV specific CD8⁺ T cell immune responses in individuals with and without protective HLA class I alleles and associate those with disease progression.
- To study and describe the evolution of HIV specific immune responses in individuals with and without protective HLA class I alleles and associate those with disease progression.
- 4. To study viral evolution within Gag and its impact on disease progression.
- 5. To study the function (in terms of polyfunctionality and proliferative capacity) of CD8⁺ T cells amongst individuals with controlled viremia and associate these CD8⁺ T cell properties with viral control or lack of control upon longitudinal follow up.
- 6. To study the *ex vivo* ability of $CD8^+$ T cells to suppress HIV replication associate this function with disease progression or the lack thereof.

43

1.13 OUTLINE OF THE THESIS

Chapter 1 gives an overview of HIV epidemiology, replication, mechanisms of HIV control covering the role of innate, HLA and adaptive immunity in the control of HIV replication during chronic HIV-1 subtype C infection.

Chapter 2 gives an overview of the methodology and techniques employed in the research study.

Chapter 3 gives a comprehensive cohort description and defines and characterizes the immunological parameters (breadth and magnitude of CD8⁺ T cell responses) associated with differential control of vireamia amongst individuals with and without protective HLA class I ales at enrolment (at baseline).

Chapter 4 describes the evolution of CD8⁺ T cell responses and how they associate with divergent disease progression patterns observed in individuals with and without protective HLA class I alleles. The chapter further describes the evolution of Gag and determines whether CD8⁺ T cell responses induced escape in the individual with and without protective HLA class I alleles and further associated escape with disease progression in these individuals.

Chapter 5 provides the functional ability of CD8⁺ T cells to perform more than 1 function (polyfunctionality), proliferate and suppress viral replication and associated these functions with disease progression in individuals with and without protective HLA class I alleles.

Chapter 6 gives an overall discussion of the findings of this research project and highlights the findings' contribution to the body of knowledge of mechanisms of HIV control.

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 STUDY COHORT

Seventy HIV-1 subtype C chronically infected participants from the Sinikithemba (SK) cohort in Durban, South Africa (254, 258, 290) were included in the current study. Participants were ART-naïve at all time points analysed. Subtype had been determined previously by one of the researchers Dr. Jaclyn Mann. The details can be found in the following publication (258). The date of HIV infection is unknown for all participants. Viral loads (VL) for all subjects were measured every 6 months by the Roche amplicor version 1.5 and CD4 T cell counts were measured every 3 months by TruCount technology using flow cytometry. The University of KwaZulu-Natal's Biomedical Research Ethics Committee approved the study and all subjects provided written informed consent for participation in the study. The characteristics and demographic data for the 70 subjects studied are presented in Table 2.1 below.

Table 2.1. Clinical and demographic characteristics for the HIV-1 Clade C chronically infected individuals studied.

Characteristic	Median (interquartile range) or percentage
	(%)
Gender	78.5% female, 21.4% male
Age (at baseline)	32 (28 - 37) years
Viral load (at baseline)	109,000 (637 – 189,000) HIV RNA copies/ml
CD4 ⁺ T cell count (at	446 (324.5 – 586.3) cells/mm ³
baseline)	
Median follow up time	48.50 (36 – 66.25) months

2.2 DEFINITION OF GROUPS AND SUB-GROUPS

We divided the 70 participants studied into two groups based on their VL at enrolment:
- Baseline viremic controllers (bVC) were enrolled with a VL of equal to or below 2,000 HIV RNA copies/ml.
- ii. Baseline progressors (Prog) were enrolled with a VL equal to or above 100,000 HIV RNA copies/ml.

Longitudinal follow-up of bVCs allowed us to further distinguish this group in to 2 subgroups based on progression stage:

- Viremic controllers (VC) were defined as individuals who were enrolled with a VL of less than 2,000 HIV RNA copies/ml and maintained this low viral load for the entire period of enrolment.
- ii. Failing viremic controllers (fVC) were defined as bVC that were enrolled with a VL of less than 2,000 HIV RNA copies/ml but lost virological control. We defined the loss of viral control as an increase in VL to more than 10,000 HIV RNA copies/ml at a minimum of 2 time points during the time of follow-up.

These groups are illustrated in the following Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1. Showing the distribution of study participants in to different groups and subgroups. The 70 HIV-1 subtype C chronically infected ARV naive participants were from the Sinikithemba (SK) cohort in Durban, South Africa. The 70 subjects were selected based on availability of samples over a minimum of 2-year follow up period. Viremic controllers (VC+/-) were enrolled with a VL of below 2,000 HIV RNA copies/ml and maintained this low VL for the entire enrolment duration. Failing VC (fVC) were enrolled with a VL of below 2,000 HIV RNA copies/ml and later VL increased to more than 10, 000 HIV RNA copies/ml at a minimum of 2 time points. Of the 20 bVC with protective HLA class I alleles, 7 were VC and 7 were fVC, while the remaining 6 did not fall in either of the 2 subgroups. Of the 10 bVC without protective HLA class I alleles, 6 were VC and none lost viral control while the remaining 4 did not fall in either of the 2 subgroups.

2.3 IMMUNOLOGICAL METHODS

2.3.1 Thawing of cryopreserved PBMCs

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) that had previously been cryopreserved in freezing solution (10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) in filtered heat inactivated fetal calf serum (FCS) (Gibco, NY, USA) were thawed quickly using a water bath set at 37°C and immediately transferred in to a 15ml falcon tube containing 9ml of R10 medium (RPMI 1640 medium (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA) supplemented with 10% FCS, 1% L-Glutamine (Sigma), and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Gibco). This was followed by centrifugation at 1,800 rpm (Eppendorf centrifuge 5810R, Merck, Germany) for 10 minutes after which the supernatant was discarded into a waste bucket containing 2% Virkon (DuPont de Demours, South Africa). The cells were washed twice and left to rest in R10 medium at 37°C with 5% CO₂.

2.3.2 Cell Counts

Cell count was carried out using a hemocytometer in a ratio of 1:9 with trypan blue stain solution (Sigma). In brief, 10 µl of the cell suspended in 10ml of R10 was added to a centrifuge tube containing 90 µl of the trypan blue stain solution and mixed well. Ten µl of the cells plus trypan blue solution was dispensed on to the hemocytometer and viewed under an electronic microscope (Olympus CH20 Upright microscope) for counting. The blue stain solution selectively penetrates the membranes of dead cells hence colouring them blue, so when used one is able to differentiate live from dead cells. A magnification of x10 allowed easy recognition of the desired cell types, which in our case were the PBMCs. The hemocytometer has 9 large squares and within each larger square are 9 squares. We counted round live cells in 3 large squares (top left, middle center and bottom right). The average of the 3 squares gave the number of million cells per 10 ml. The viability of the cells ranged from 0% to 96.61%. The % cell viability was determined by a formula (number of live cells)/(number of live cells+ number of dead cells)*100. The median viability was 86.36% (IQR) (64.86 - 92.06). Only cells with a viability of 65% or more were assessed.

2.3.3 HLA typing

HLA class I typing was performed on genomic DNA samples extracted from blood at the time of enrolment as described previously (290). The genomic DNA for HLA typing was extracted using the Puregene DNA isolation kit for blood (Gentra Systems, Minneapolis, Minn.) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Genomic DNA samples were initially typed to an oligo-allelic level using Dynal RELITM reverse Sequence Specific Oligonucleotide (SSO) kits for the HLA-A, -B and -C loci (Dynal Biotech). Refining the genotype to the allele level was performed using the Dynal Biotech sequence-specific priming kits in conjunction with the previous SSO type. In cases where the alleles were still not defined to the allele level, bespoke sequence-specific priming primer mixes were then utilised. All HLA class I alleles in the IMGT allele release 2.4.0 were considered in the typing (327). Of the 70 patients identified for this study, 35 possessed protective HLA class I alleles (HLAs A*74:01, B*57:01/:02/:03, B*58:01 or B*81:01) (223, 289–291, 293, 328).

2.3.4 Synthetic HIV peptides

A panel of 410 peptides (18-mers overlapping by 10 amino acid residues), spanning the entire HIV-1 clade C consensus sequence together with optimal peptides with known HLA class I restriction patterns, were synthesized on an automated peptide synthesizer (MBS 396; Advanced ChemTech, Louisville, Ky. USA) and used in the Enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot (ELISpot) assay (329).

2.3.5 ELISpot assay

HIV immune responses were enumerated from freshly isolated whole PBMCs by the gamma interferon (IFN γ) ELISpot assay as previously described (290). PBMCs were stimulated with 410 consensus clade C 18-mer overlapping peptides (OLPs) covering the entire proteome followed by confirmations with individual peptides within a reactive pool at a final concentration of 2 µg/ml and optimal peptides corresponding

to each patient's HLA type, also at a final concentration of 2 μ g/ml per peptide. The following 3 tables 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4 show the matrix layout.

		No of Peptides			D with								No Peptides in pool			
Pool A	OLPs	in pool	Pool B		Peptides											
A1	1-11	11	B1	1	13	25	37	49	61	73	85	97	121	x	x	10
A2	12-22	11	B2	2	14	26	38	50	62	74	86	98	122	x	x	10
A3	23-33	11	B3	3	15	27	39	51	63	75	87	99	111	123	x	11
A4	34-44	11	B4	4	16	28	40	52	64	76	88	100	123	124	x	11
A5	45-55	11	B5	5	17	29	41	53	65	77	89	101	113	125	x	11
A6	56-66	11	B6	6	18	30	42	54	66	78	90	102	114	126	x	11
A7	67-77	11	B7	7	19	31	43	55	67	79	91	103	115	127	х	11
A8	78-88	11	B8	8	20	32	44	56	68	80	92	104	116	128	x	11
A9	89-99	11	B9	9	21	33	45	57	69	81	93	105	117	129	x	11
A10	100-107	8	B10	10	22	34	46	58	70	82	94	106	118	130	x	11
A11	111-121	11	B11	11	23	35	47	59	71	83	95	107	119	131	х	11
A12	122-131	10	B12	12	24	36	48	60	72	84	96	x	120	x	x	9

Table 2.2: Positioning of OLP used in the Megamatrix in rows A and B

Table 2.3: Positioning of OLP used in the Megamatrix in rows C and D

Pool	OLPs	No. Peptides in pool	Pool		Peptides									No. Peptides In pool		
C1	145-156	12	D1	145	157	169	181	193	205	217	229	241	253	265	277	12
C2	157-168	12	D2	146	158	170	182	194	206	218	230	242	254	266	278	12
C3	169-180	12	D3	147	159	171	183	195	207	219	231	243	255	267	279	12
C4	181-192	12	D4	148	160	172	184	196	208	220	232	244	256	268	280	12
C5	193-204	12	D5	149	161	173	185	197	209	221	233	245	257	269	281	12
C6	205-216	12	D6	150	162	174	186	198	210	222	234	246	258	270	282	12
C7	217-228	12	D7	151	163	175	187	199	211	223	235	247	259	271	283	12
C8	229-240	12	D8	152	164	176	188	200	212	224	236	248	260	272	284	12
С9	241-252	12	D9	153	165	177	189	201	213	225	237	249	261	273	285	12
C10	253-264	12	D10	154	166	178	190	202	214	226	238	250	262	274	286	12
C11	265-276	12	D11	155	167	179	191	203	215	227	239	251	263	275	287	12
C12	277-288	12	D12	156	168	180	192	204	216	228	240	252	264	276	288	12

Table 2.4: Positioning of OLP used in the Megamatrix in rows E and F

Pool	OLPs	No. Peptides in pool	Pool	Peptid	Peptides										No. Peptides In pool	
E1	289-300	12	F1	289	301	313	325	337	349	361	373	385	397	409	421	12
E2	301-312	12	F2	290	302	314	326	338	350	362	374	386	398	410	422	12
E3	313-324	12	F3	291	303	315	327	339	351	363	375	387	399	411	423	12
E4	325-336	12	F4	292	304	316	328	340	352	364	376	388	400	412	424	12
E5	337-348	12	F5	293	305	317	329	341	353	365	377	389	401	413	425	12
E6	349-359	11	F6	294	306	318	330	342	354	366	378	390	402	414		11
E7	360-370	11	F7	295	307	319	331	343	355	367	379	391	403	415		11
E8	371-381	11	F8	296	308	320	332	344	356	368	380	392	404	416		11
E9	382-392	11	F9	297	309	321	333	345	357	369	381	393	405	417		11
E10	393-403	11	F10	298	310	322	334	346	358	370	382	394	406	418		11
E11	404-414	11	F11	299	311	323	335	347	359	371	383	395	407	419		11
E12	415-425	11	F12	300	312	324	336	348	360	372	384	396	408	420		11

The 96 well polyvinylidene difluoride-backed ELISpot plates (MAIP S45, Millipore, Bedford, Mass., USA) were pre-coated with 100 μ l of anti-IFN γ antibody (1-D1k, 0.5 μ g/ml, MabTech, Stockholm, Sweden) and incubated overnight at 4°C before use. Following incubation, the wells were washed 6 times with blocking buffer (1% fetal calf serum (FCS) (Gibco) in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS)) before addition of peptides at a final concentration of 2 μ g/ml to a plate with 100 μ l of R10 medium at 100,000 cells/well. For the controls, cells were added to 100 μ l of media only (R10) in 4 wells as negative controls and an additional 2 wells containing phytohemagglutinin (PHA) at a concentration of 1 μ g/ml/well were used as positive control. The plates were incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ overnight for 16 hours. Following this incubation, the wells were washed 6 times with 100 μ l of PBS and 0.5 μ g/ml of biotinylated anti-IFN γ antibody (7-B6-1, MabTech, Stockholm, Sweden) was added into each well and the plate incubated in the dark for 90 minutes at room temperature. The wells were then washed 6 times with PBS and 0.5 μ g/ml of streptavidin-alkaline phosphatase conjugated antibody (MabTech) was added and the plate incubated for 45 minutes in the dark at room temperature. The wells were washed with PBS followed by addition of the alkaline phosphatase colour reagents (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, California, USA), allowing development of spots, which could be visualised directly. The plates were then finally washed with distilled water, blotted and left to dry prior to counting of spots.

The IFN γ -secreting cells were quantified by counting the number of spots per well using an automated ELISpot plate reader (AID ELISpot reader system; AutoimmunDiagnostika GmbH, Strasburg, Germany). The magnitude of responses was expressed as the number of spot-forming cells (SFC) per million PBMCs after subtractions of values from background wells. A response was defined as positive if greater or equal to 100 SFC/million PBMCs and greater than or equal to 3 standard deviations above the mean of four background wells containing PBMCs but no peptide. The breadth of responses was determined by the number of peptides/epitopes that had a magnitude of greater than or equal to 100 SFC/million PBMCs.

2.3.6 Intra cellular cytokine staining (ICS)

Freshly thawed cryopreserved PBMCs were left to rest at 37° C with 5% CO₂ for 4 hours. A total of 200,000 PBMCs per well, resuspended in R10 were stimulated with consensus clade C Gag peptide pools at a final concentration of 2 µg/ml/peptide and PHA (2 µg/ml) as a positive control. Anti-CD107a-PE-Cy5 (BD-Biosciences, USA) antibody, Golgi stop and Golgi plug (BD-Biosciences) were added in each well and cells incubated overnight at 37° C with 5% CO₂.

Cells were then washed and stained with a live/dead marker (fixable blue dead cell stain) (Invitrogen, Paisley, United Kingdom) for 10 minutes, followed by surface stain with anti-CD3 APC H7, anti-CD4 Alexa 700, anti-CD8 HV 500 (BD-Biosciences) and dump channel comprising of anti-CD14 pacific blue, anti-CD19 pacific blue and anti-CD16/56 pacific blue antibodies (Biolegend, San Diego Cal. USA). The cells were incubated in the dark at room temperature for 20 minutes. Following 2 washes, the cells were then permeabilized using cytoperm/cytofix (BD-Biosciences) to allow for intracellular staining with anti-IFNy-PE Cy7, antiinterleukin-2 (IL-2)-FITC, or anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-a)-APC and anti- macrophage inflammatory protein 1 beta (MIP1\beta)-PE (all from BD Biosciences). Following a 30 minute incubation at room temperature, the cells were washed twice with 2% FCS/PBS. The cells were resuspended in 2% FCS/PBS and acquired on the flow cytometer (LSR II, BD Biosciences). Between 30,000 and 100,000 events were acquired per well (sample). The acquired data was analysed by Flowjo version 9.6.2 (Tree Star, San Carlo, CA, USA). The initial gating was set on lymphocytes followed by the forward scatter height (FCS-H) versus forward scatter area (FSC-A) to eliminate doublets. We then gated on the live CD3⁺ T cell population followed by gating of CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cell populations. The individual gating for

respective functions followed (set based on the negative control (unstimulated cells)), these were used to identify positive responses. Boolean gating was performed in order to allow creation of a full array of possible combinations of up to 32 response patterns. Positive responses were reported after background correction and the percentage of epitope-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses had to be at least two times higher than background for each tested marker. PESTLE (version 1.6.2) and SPICE 5.0 (Mario Roederer, ImmunoTechnology Section, Vaccine Research Center, NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA) were used to analyse the multifunctional data.

Table 2.5 Antibody panel

Antigen	Fluorochrome	Clone	Isotype	Company	Product	Volume
					code	used (µl)
CD3	APC-H7	SK7	Mouse	BD	560176	1
			IgG1			
CD4	Alexa 700	RPA-	Mouse	BD	557922	1
		T4	IgG1			
CD8	HV 500	RPA-	Mouse	BD	560774	1
		Т8	IgG1			
CD19	Pacific blue	HIB19	Mouse	Biolegend	302224	1
			IgG1			
CD16	Pacific blue	3G8	Mouse	Biolegend	302037	1
			IgG1			
CD14	Pacific blue	HCD1	Mouse	Biolegend	325612	1
		4	IgG1			
MIP1β	PE	D21-	Mouse	BD	550078	1
		1351	IgG1			
ΤΝΓα	APC	6401.1	Mouse	BD	340543	1
		11	IgG1			
CD107a	PE Cy5	H4A3	Mouse	BD	555802	2
			IgG1			
IFNγ	PE Cy7	B27	Mouse	BD	557643	1
			IgG1			
IL-2	FITC	5344.	Mouse	BD	340448	2
		111	IgG1			

2.3.7 CFSE proliferation assay

Freshly thawed cryopreserved PBMCs were left to rest at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 4 hours and then stained with carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE) dye (Invitrogen) for 7 minutes at 37°C with 5% CO₂. CFSE labelling was then stopped with 2 ml of FCS and washed 3 times with R10. A total of 400,000 CFSE-labelled PBMCs per well from each individual, resuspended in 200 µl R10 medium were then stimulated with Gag peptide pools at a final concentration of 2 µg/ml and PHA at a final concentration of 2 µg/ml as a positive control, followed by incubation at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 7 days. After 7 days, cells were then washed and stained with a live/dead marker (fixable blue dead cell stain) (Invitrogen) for 10 minutes, followed by surface stain with anti-CD3 APC H7, anti-CD4 Alexa 700, anti-CD8 HV 500 (BD-Biosciences) and dump channel panel comprising of anti-CD14 pacific blue, anti-CD19 pacific blue and anti-CD16/56 pacific blue antibodies (Biolegend). The cells were incubated in the dark at room temperature for 20 minutes. The cells were then washed twice with 2% FCS/PBS and resuspended in 2% FCS/PBS. Between 30,000 and 100,000 events were acquired per well (sample). The acquired data was analysed by Flowjo version 9.6.2 (Tree Star, San Carlo, CA, USA). The initial gating was on lymphocytes followed by the forward scatter height (FCS-H) versus forward scatter area (FSC-A) to eliminate doublets. We then gated on the live CD3⁺ T cell population followed by gating of CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cell populations. The next gates were set on the CD8⁺ CFSE negative in order to identify proliferated CD8⁺ T cell populations. PRISM graph pad version 5.0a software (GraphPad software, San Diego, California, USA) was used to analyse group data sets.

2.3.8 Viral inhibition assay

An *ex vivo* viral inhibition assay was carried out to determine the ability of $CD8^+$ T cells to suppress virus replication by measuring the amount of HIV p24 antigen as previously described elsewhere (330).

2.3.8.1 Separation of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells

Cryopreserved whole PBMCs were thawed and CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells separated using the CD8⁺ T cell Isolation kit (MACS; Miltenyi Biotech, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. In brief, PBMCs were thawed as already described. After the cells were counted they were washed once with 10ml of cold MACS buffer, which was prepared from Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) and PBS (Whitehead scientific). To prepare BSA solution, 10g of BSA concentrate was added to 100 ml of distilled water and placed in the refrigerator (4 °C) for 24 hours to dissolve. MACs buffer was prepared by adding 49 ml of PBS (Whitehead Scientific) to 1 ml of BSA solution giving a concentration of 0.5% BSA/PBS and this buffer was placed on ice. R10/50 was prepared by adding 25 µl of interleukine-2 (IL-2) to 50 ml of R10 and kept on ice until used.

Following addition of MACS buffer to the cells, the suspension was centrifuged at 300 x g for 10 minutes and the supernatant was aspirated completely. The cell pellet was resuspended with cold MACS buffer at a concentration of 40 µl of the buffer per 10 million cells. Ten microliters of the CD8⁺ T cell Biotin antibody cocktail (MACS; Miltenyi Biotech) per 10 million cells was added to the cell suspension and mixed well by pipetting. This was followed by a 10 minute incubation at 2-8°C. Following the incubation, 30 µl of the cold MACS buffer was added plus 20 µl of the CD8⁺ T cell microbead cocktail MACS; Miltenyi Biotech) per 10 million cells. The cell suspension and mixed suspension was mixed well and incubated for an additional 15 minutes at 2-8°C. The

cells were washed with 5ml of the cold MACS buffer, centrifuged at 300 x g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The cells were resuspended in 500 μ l of the cold MACS buffer.

MACS LS separation columns (MACS; Miltenyi Biotech) were used to magnetically separate CD8 and CD4⁺ T cells. Firstly, the columns were placed on the magnetic field of the MACS separator and rinsed with 3ml of the cold MACS buffer. Once the 3 ml of the MACS buffer has passed through the column, the cell suspension was then applied to the column. The unlabelled cells (CD8⁺ T cells) passed through the column in to the collection tube while the magnetically labelled cells (CD4⁺ T cells) remained magnetically stuck on the column. The column was washed three times using the same 3 ml of the cold MACS buffer. The unlabelled cell fraction represented the enriched CD8⁺ T cells while the magnetically labelled fraction represented the enriched CD4⁺ T cells. The column was carefully removed from the magnetic separator and placed over a new collection tube. A volume of 5ml of cold MACS buffer was pipetted on to the column and the magnetically labelled cells were immediately flushed out by firmly pushing the plunger into the column. The 2 cell types were washed and counted as described before. The CD8⁺ T cells were resuspended in R10 media while the CD4⁺ T cells in R10/50.

The enriched CD4⁺ T cells were activated with CD3/CD8-bispecific antibody at a concentration of 0.5 μ l/ml (generous gift from Dr. Johnson Wong, Ragon Institute of Massachusetts General Hospital, Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Harvard University, Boston, Massachusetts) for 3 days and later used as target cells in the inhibition assay. The enriched CD8⁺ T cells were also cultured for 3 days in R10 medium for use as the *ex vivo* CD8⁺ effector cells in the inhibition assay.

2.3.8.2 Infection of the enriched CD4⁺ T cells

The stimulated CD4⁺ T cells were infected with the NL4-3 laboratory adapted HIV strain (258) at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 0.001. The NL4-3 virus stocks used in this assay were kindly donated by Dr. Jaclyn Wright and Dr. Ravesh Singh from our laboratory (HIV Pathogenesis Programme, Durban, South Africa). In brief, the generated recombinant stocks had been titrated so as to determine the concentration of virus. One million GXR-cells were infected with 400 µl of each of the stock for 4 hours. Following this, the infected cells were washed and 100,000 cells/well plated in duplicate in a 96-well plate for 3 days. An aliquot of 100,000 uninfected GXR-cells/well were also plated in duplicate alongside the infected cells as negative control. The percentage infectivity was used to determine the MOI. After titration of each stock, the following formula was then used to calculate the desired MOI used in the subsequent assays for each of the virus stock generated:

Volume of virus to be used per 1 million cells = Desired MOI/Titre value * 400

The virus stocks generated were then used to infect the CD4⁺ T cells that had been rested for 3 days after being separated from the CD8⁺ T cells; for 4 hours at 37°C with 5% CO₂. Following the 3 days, CD4⁺ T cells were counted and a proportion (300,000 CD4⁺ T cells) left aside to be utilized in the 3 negative control wells. The rest of the CD4⁺ T cells were infected with the NL4-3 virus and incubated for 4 hours at 37°C with 5% CO₂, flicking the tube every 30 minutes. Following infection, the cells were washed twice with R10 and co-culturing of infected CD4⁺ T cells with CD8⁺ T cells with CD8⁺ T cells were followed.

2.3.8.3 Co-culturing of effector and target cells

Following infection step, the infected CD4⁺ T cells were cultured with or without effector cells in an effector - to - target cell ratio of 1:1 and incubated over a period of 7 days at 37°C with 5% CO₂. This experiment was done in triplicates, that is, 3 wells for the negative control wells whereby each well contained 100,000 uninfected CD4⁺ T cells in 200 μ l of R10/50; the positive control wells had 100,000 infected CD4⁺ T cells also in 200 μ l R10/50 per well and finally the 3 test wells contained 100,000 infected CD4⁺ T cells also in 200 μ l R10/50 per well and finally the 3 test wells contained 100,000 infected CD4⁺ T cells plus 100,000 CD8⁺ T cells in a total volume of 200 μ l of R10/50. On days 3, 5 and 7 a volume of 90 μ l of the culture supernatant was harvested without disturbing the adherent cells at the bottom of the well and 10 μ l of the Triton X-100 solution added to the supernatant. The cells were fed with 90 μ l of fresh R10/50 after each harvest and then placed back in to the incubator. The supernatants were cryopreserved at -80°C for later p24 antigen quantification.

2.3.8.4 Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

The p24 antigen was quantified from the cryopreserved supernatants by enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) using the Quick Titre HIV Lentivirus Quantitation kit (HIV p24 ELISA) (Cell Biolabs, San Diego, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

In brief, the standard curve was prepared by serially diluting the recombinant HIV-1 p24 antigen (Cell Biolabs) in the concentration range of 100 ng/ml – 1 ng/ml by diluting the p24 stock solution in assay diluent (Cell Biolabs). There were 8 tubes; Tube 1 containing 990 μ l of assay diluent and 100 ng/ml of the p24 HIV-1 p24 antigen, Tube 2 (500 μ l assay diluent + 50 ng/ml p24 antigen), Tube 3 (500 μ l assay diluent + 25 ng/ml p24 antigen), Tube 4 (500 μ l assay diluent + 12.5 ng/ml p24 antigen), Tube 5 (500 μ l assay diluent + 6.25 ng/ml p24 antigen, Tube 6 (500 μ l assay diluent + 6.25 ng/ml p24 antigen), Tube 6 (500 μ l assay diluent + 6.25 ng/ml p24 antigen).

diluent + 3.125 ng/ml p24 antigen), Tube 7 (500 µl assay diluent + 1.5625 ng/ml p24 antigen) and finally Tube 8 contained 500 µl assay diluent only.

For the samples, 3 serial dilutions ranging from 10 to 1000 folds were prepared using R10 media. This was followed by transferring 225 µl of each of the samples into a 96 well plate. These were mixed well and incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes to inactivate the virus. Each sample, HIV p24 standard, blank and control medium were assayed in duplicate. A volume of 110 µl of each of the inactivated samples and p24 standard tubes were added to an anti-p24 antibody coated plate. The plate was covered and incubated at 37°C for at least 4 hours after which the plate was emptied and microwell strips washed 3 times with 250 µl of X1 Wash buffer (Cell Biolabs) per well with thorough aspiration between each wash. After the last wash, the wells were emptied and microwell strips tapped on an absorbent paper to remove excess X1 wash buffer. This was followed by addition of 100 µl of diluted FITC-conjugated anti-p24 monoclonal antibody (1:1000) (Cell Biolabs) to each well. The plate was then covered and incubated at room temperature for 1 hour. After which the plate was emptied and microwell strips washed 3 times with 250 µl of X1 Wash buffer (Cell Biolabs) per well with thorough aspiration between each wash. A volume of 100 µl of the diluted HRP-conjugated anti FITC monoclonal antibody (1:1000) (Cell Biolabs) was added to each well and plate covered and incubated at room temperature for 1 hour. After which the plate was emptied and microwell strips washed 3 times as already described. This was followed by an addition of 100 µl of warm (room temperature) substrate solution (Cell Biolabs) to each well; plate was covered and incubated at room temperature for about 2 to 30 minutes. The reaction was stopped by adding 100 µl of the stop solution (Cell Biolabs). The absorbance of each microwell was read immediately on a spectrophotometer using 450nm as a primary wave length.

61

Log inhibition values were calculated by subtracting log₁₀ p24 values of the infected CD4⁺ T cells co-cultured with CD8⁺ T cells from log₁₀ p24 values of the infected CD4⁺ T cells without CD8⁺ T cells at day 7. PRISM graph pad version 5.0a software (GraphPad software, San Diego, California, USA) was used to analyse group data sets.

2.4 MOLECULAR METHODS

2.4.1 DNA extraction

DNA was extracted from whole blood as previously described (298). In brief, 3 ml of whole blood was mixed with 9 ml of Red Blood Cell Lysis solution (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA) and left to stand at room temperature for 10 minutes. The mixture was centrifuged at 2,000 rpm (Eppendorf centrifuge 5810R, Merck) for 10 minutes and the supernatant was discarded in a waste bucket containing 2% Virkon (DuPont de Demours, South Africa) followed by resuspension of the cell pellet in 3 ml of cell lysis buffer (Qiagen). This cell suspension was left to stand at room temperature for at least 3 days. Following the 3-day incubation period, 1 ml of the protein precipitation solution was added and mixed well by inverting the tube several times. The mixture was centrifuged at 2,000 rpm (Eppendorf centrifuge 5810R, Merck) for 10 minutes. The supernatant was harvested and mixed with 3 ml of isopropanol by inverting the tube at least 20 times in order to precipitate the sample DNA. This mixture was centrifuged at 2,000 rpm for 3 minutes followed by washing the DNA with 5 ml of 70% ethanol and then left to dry. The DNA was then resuspended in 50 µl of elution buffer (Qiagen) and stored at minus 20°C till further use. One microlitre $(1 \mu l)$ of the DNA was used for quantification using the Nanodrop (Thermo Fischer Scientific, USA).

2.4.2 RNA extraction

Viral RNA was extracted from plasma using a QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit from Qiagen (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The eluded RNA was stored at minus 80°C till use. One microlitre (1 μ l) of the RNA was used for quantification using the Nanodrop (Thermo Fischer Scientific).

2.4.3 PCR primers for amplification of gag

The following table (Table 2.6) is a list of the primers used for the nested PCR to amplify the HIV gag region.

Sequence	HIV	Region	Direction
	clade		
5'-CACTGCTTAAGCCTCAATAAAGCTTGCC-3'	С	Gag	Forward
5'-TTTAACCCTGCTGGGTGTGGGTATYCCT-3'	С	Gag	Reverse
5'-GAGGAGATCTCTCGACGCAGGAC-3'	С	Gag	Forward
5'- GGAGTGTTATATGGATTTTCAGGCCCAATT-3'	С	Gag	Reverse

Table 2.6. PCR primers for the amplification of the gag region

2.4.4 First (1st) round RT-PCR

Complementary DNA (cDNA) synthesis and 1st round PCR were performed using the Invitrogen Superscript III One-step RT PCR kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). This kit allowed synthesis of cDNA and production of 1st round PCR product all in one step. The primers *gag*-specific primers used to generate 1st round PCR products; (5'-CACTGCTTAAGCCTCAATAAAGCTTGCC-3' and 5'-TTTAACCCTGCTGGGTGTGGTATYCCT-3') as listed on Table 2.2 above. The reaction mixture was made up of the following proportions giving a total of 40 µl:

14.4 µl	DEPC water
20.0 µl	2x reaction buffer
0.8 µl	Forward primer 5' UTR 2 (10 μ M)
0.8 µl	Reverse primer 3'2cRx (10 µM)
0.8 µl	Taq enzyme
4.0 µl	RNA template

The reaction was performed on a thermocycler (GeneAmp PCR system 9700, Applied Biosystems, Foster City, USA) using the PCR conditions described in the steps below:

1. 30 minutes	55°C
2. 2 minutes	94°C
3. 35 cycles of;	
i. 15 seconds	94°C
ii. 30 seconds	55°C
iii. 2 minutes	68°C

- 4. 5 minutes 68°C
- 5. Cooling at 4°C.

2.4.5 Second (2nd) Round PCR

A second/nested PCR mixture totalling 50 µl was prepared using the TaKaRa Ex Taq HS kit (Takara, Shiga, Japan) using the primers (5'enzyme 5'-GAGGAGATCTCTCGACGCAGGAC-3', and GGAGTGTTATATGGATTTTCAGGCCCAATT-3') as listed on Table 2.2 and the following proportions:

37.0 μl	DEPC water
5.0 µl	10x Ex Taq buffer
4.0 μl	dNTPs
0.8 µl	Forward primer 5' Gag+1 (10 µM)
0.8 µl	Reverse primer 3' RVP (10 µM)
0.25 μl	Ex Taq enzyme
2.0 µl	first round PCR product

The reaction was performed on a thermocycler (GeneAmp PCR system 9700, Applied Biosystems) using the PCR conditions described in the steps below:

- 1. 2 minutes 94°C
- 2. 35 cycles of;
 - i. 15 seconds 94°C
 - ii. 30 seconds 55°C
 - iii. 1 min 30 seconds 72°C

4.7 minutes

72°C

5. Cooling at 4°C.

2.4.6 PCR product

Gag amplification was confirmed by running 5 µl of the product on a 1% polyacrylamide gel, showing a band of 1.5 kb.

2.4.7 PCR product purification

Purification of the PCR products was carried out using either of the following 2 methods:

i. QiaQuick PCR purification kit (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

ii. IllustraTM GFXTM PCR DNA and Gel Band Purification Kit (GE Healthcare, Pittsburg, USA) according the manufacturer's instructions.

2.4.8 Sequencing primers

The following table (Table 2.7) lists the primers used for the sequencing of the *gag* region.

Sequence	HIV clade	Region	Direction
5'-CTTCAGACAGGAACAGAGGA-3'	С	Gag	Forward
5'- TAG AAG AAA TGA TGA CAG-3'	С	Gag	Forward
5'- GGAGCAGATGATACAGTATT-3'	C	Gag	Forward
5'- CTTGTCTAGGGCTTCCTTGGT-3'	С	Gag	Reverse
5'- GGTTCTCTCATCTGGCCTGG-3'	В	Gag	Reverse
5'- CAACAAGGTTTCTGTCATCC-3'	В	Gag	Reverse
5'- CCT TGC CAC AGT TGA AAC ATT T-3'	С	Gag	Reverse
5'- CAG CCA AGC TGA GTC AA-3'	С	Gag	Reverse

Table 2.7. Sequencing primers for the gag region

2.4.9 Sequencing reaction

The purified products were then sequenced using the ABI sequencing machine as described previously using Big Dye Terminator ready reaction mix V3 (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) (258) and the sequencing primers shown above on Table 2.3. A sequencing reaction mixture was prepared using the following proportions:

0.4 µl	Big Dye Terminator mix
--------	------------------------

- 2.0 µl 5x sequencing buffer
- 2.6 μl Primer (2 μM)
- 4.0 µl DEPC water
- 1.25 µl template

The following thermocycler (GeneAmp PCR system 9700, Applied Biosystems) conditions were used:

- 1.1 minute
- 2. 25 cycles: 96°C for 10 seconds, 50°C for 5 seconds, 60°C for 4 minutes.
- 3. Cooling at 4°C for at least 10 minutes.

The sequencing reaction clean-up was carried out on the same day.

96°C

2.4.10 Sequencing reaction clean up

The sequencing product was purified using the sodium acetate (NaOAC) (Sigma-Aldrich) precipitation method. In brief, 1 μ l of 125 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) pH 8.0 (Sigma-Aldrich) was added to the reaction, followed by addition of 1 μ l of NaOAC pH 5.2 and 25 μ l of 100% ethanol and mixed well by pipetting. The mixture was then centrifuged at 3,000 x g for 20 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet washed by adding 35 μ l of cold 70% ethanol followed by centrifugation at 3,000 x g for 5 minutes. The supernatant was carefully discarded and samples dried at 50°C for 5 minutes using a thermocycler (GeneAmp PCR system 9700, Applied Biosystems).

The purified products were then sequenced using the ABI 3130xl genetic analyzer (Applied Biosystems). Escape was determined by evaluating the sequence variation within the known HLA epitopes and in the 5 amino acids on either side of the epitopes according to each participant's HLA profile.

2.4.11 Phylogenetic analysis

In order to check for any contamination between the samples, a phylogenetic tree was constructed using the Neighbour-Joining method utilizing ClustalX or bootstrap and visualized using Figtree.

2.5 DATA ANALYSIS AND STATISTICS

Sequence data were aligned to the HIV-1 subtype B reference strain HXB2 (Genbank accession number K03455) and insertions with respect to HXB2 were stripped before further analysis. Editing and alignment of sequences were carried out using Sequencher version 5 (Gene Codes, Corp., Ann Arbor, Michigan, USA) and SeAl version 2.0a11, (available online <u>http://tree.bio.ed.ac.uk/software/seal/</u>) (A. Rambaut, Department of Zoology, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK) software respectively.

GraphPad Prism version 5.0a was used to analyse the results. Statistical analysis was performed on Prism using Mann-Whitney U test, Wilcoxon paired test and student t-test as appropriate and detailed in the results for each analysis. Comparison between groups was corrected for multiple comparisons. The p value of below or equal to 0.05 was considered significant.

CHAPTER 3: COHORT CHARACTERISTICS AND BASELINE CD8⁺ T CELL RESPONSES IN INDIVIDUALS WITH AND WITHOUT PROTECTIVE HLA CLASS I ALLELES

3.1 Introduction

Previous studies have linked the control of HIV clade C viral replication to a number of factors including protective HLA class I alleles. Certain HLA class I alleles are protective (e.g. B*57, B*27, A*74:01, B*81:01, B*58:01) against disease progression, have been strongly associated with viral load control and are found to be overrepresented amongst HIV controller groups (289–291, 293, 328, 331). However, disease progression is often encountered in some individuals with these protective HLA class I alleles and the mechanisms behind this progression are not well understood. We aimed to assess this by studying the factors behind viral control and loss of virologic control in individuals with protective HLA class I alleles during chronic HIV-1 subtype C infection. Individuals without protective HLA class I alleles were also included in this study for comparative purposes. Study participants were from a cohort of ARV naïve chronically HIV-1 subtype C infected adults in Durban, South Africa. The initial study aims were to:

- Characterize viral load dynamics and clinical disease progression in ARVnaïve HIV-1 subtype C chronically infected participants with and without protective HLA class I alleles.
- Study and describe the magnitude and breadth of HIV specific CD8⁺ T cell immune responses in individuals with and without protective HLA class I alleles and associate these parameters with disease progression.

3.2 Viral load dynamics and clinical disease progression in study participants.

A total of 70 individuals with HIV-1 C-clade infection were studied in order to understand the CD8⁺ T cell-based mechanisms of viral control and loss of control

amongst individuals with or without protective HLA class I alleles. The HLA types of the participants studied are shown in the Table 3.1 below. The number of females was 55 (78.5%) and there were 15 (21.4%) males. The median age at the time of enrolment was 32 years, interquartile range (IQR) (28-37).

PID	Gender	Age	HLA Class1 A	HLA Class1 A2	HLA Class1 B	HLA Class1 B2	HLA Class1 CW	HLA Class1 CW2
SK-013	F	27	29:02	31:01	15:03	15:10	08:01	18:00
SK-014	F	29	29:02	29:02	44:03	57:03	07:01	07:01
SK-022	F	32	24:02	68:02	07:02	42:01	07:02	17:01
SK-023	F	41	66:01	80:01	18:01	58:02	02:02	06:02
SK-024	F	32	29:02	66:01	44:03	58:01	06:02	07:01
SK-031	м	32	26:02	74:00	08:01	15:10	02:02	08:01
SK-041	F	32	30.01	66:02	15.03	42.02	02.02	17.01
SK-049		36	22:01	31:00	15.05	25:01	04:01	16:01
SK-049		20	23.01	31.00	13.10	42.01	04.01	17.01
SK-051	F	30	03.01	29.02	13.03	42.01	06.02	17.01
SK-055	F	38	30:01	30:02	08:01	42:02	07:01	17:01
SK-067	F	34	68:01	74:00	42:01	58:02	06:02	17:01
SK-070	F	32	03:01	68:01	08:01	15:03	07:02	18:01
SK-073	F	28	23:01	26:01	15:10	51:01	07:01	16:01
SK-079	F	30	02:05	29:02	44:03	58:01	07:01	07:01
SK-086	F	24	23:01	29:02	08:01	15:10	02:02	03:04
SK-089	F	26	23:01	74:00	15:03	58:01	02:02	03:02
SK-123	F	29	02.06	68.02	15.10	58:01	03.04	07.01
SK-135	F	28	34:02	68:01	41:03	44:03	04.01	17:01
SK 155	F	20	74:00	74:00	15:02	25.01	02:02	04:01
SK-156	r r	20	74.00	74.00	13.03	55.01	02.02	04.01
SK-165	F	27	33:01	68:01	42:01	58:02	06:02	17:01
SK-170	F	32	02:02	66:01	18:01	58:02	05:01	06:02
SK-175	M	42	02:01	30:02	18:01	39:10	12:03	12:03
SK-180	М	31	02:14	74:00	44:03	57:03	04:01	07:01
SK-187	F	25	30:02	68:02	08:01	58:01	03:02	07:01
SK-188	F	35	03:01	74:00	57:03	58:02	06:02	07:01
SK-199	F	27	29:02	74:00	13:02	57:03	06:02	07:01
SK-202	F	41	68:01	74:00	35:01	58:02	04:01	06:02
SK-208	F	22	02.01	23.01	08.01	58.02	06.02	07.01
SK-209	F	31	03:01	30.01	08:01	42.01	07:02	17:01
SK 205	F	21	02:05	68:02	00.01	42.01 57.02	07:02	19:00
SK-224	F	21	02.05	68.02	07.02	57:02	03.04	18.00
SK-235	IVI	37	01:01	66:01	39:10	39:00	12:03	18:00
SK-242	F	28	01:01	66:01	81:00	39/67	12:03	18:00
SK-251	F	54	02:05	30:01	42:01	58:01	07:01	17:01
SK-275	F	26	03:01	30:01	08:01	39:10	07:02	12:03
SK-276	F	39	02:11	24:02	40:06	51:01	14:02	15:02
SK-282	М	46	02:05	34:02	44:03	58:01	04:01	07:01
SK-283	М	28	43:01	68:02	41:01	44:03	02:02	07:01
SK-292	F	34	02:01	30:02	39:10	40:01	03:04	12:03
SK-307	F	33	33.03	74.00	15:03	53.01	02.02	04.01
SK-215	F	20	30:01	20:02	12:01	42:01	17:01	17:01
SK-313	, ,	20	30.01	30.02	42.01	42.01	17.01	17.01
5K-517	F	24	23.01	33.01	42.01	44.03	03.03	17.01
SK-321	IVI	25	23:01	80:01	18:01	81:01	02:02	04:01
SK-322	M	62	29:02	30:02	44:03	58:02	06:02	07:01
SK-324	F	53	02:01	02:05	45:01	58:01	06:02	16:01
SK-334	F	25	30:01	68:02	42:02	58:01	03:04	17:01
SK-342	F	25	29:02	30:01	42:01	45:01	06:02	17:01
SK-343	F	33	23:01	30:09	58:01	81:00	04:01	06:02
SK-346	F	24	30:04	68:01	58:01	82:02	03:02	06:02
SK-348	м	23	01:01	02:05/02:08	58:01	81:00	07:01	17:00
SK-354	F	38	30.01	74.00	35.01	81.00	04.01	04.01
SK-358	F	30	02:02	23.01	08.01	57.01	07:01	07:01
SK-358	, ,	35	02.02	23.01	15.02	15:10	07.01	07.01
SK-362	F	30	03:01	74:00	15:03	15:10	02:02	04:01
SK-363	F	42	23:01	30:09	15:03	81:00	02:02	04:01
SK-374	F	30	23:01	34:02	14:02	44:03	04:01	08:02
SK-375	F	29	26:01	34:02	08:01	15:03	07:01	07:01
SK-378	F	35	33:03	68:01	15:10	53:01	03:04	04:01
SK-381	F	23	02:01	03:01	15:10	45:01	04:01	16:01
SK-382	F	28	03:01	29:02	42:01	81:00	04:01	17:00
SK-385	F	46	29:02	29:02	39:10	44:03	07:01	12:03
SK-387	F	48	02:02	29:11	13:02	15:16	06:02	14:02
SK-402	M	36	02:02	29.02	44.03	58.01	07.01	07.01
SK-102	N/	21	72.03	20.02	15.02	15.02	02.02	01.01
SK-404		34	25:01	29.01	15:03	15:03	02:02	04.01
SK-405	M	38	23:01	29:02	14:02	15:03	04:01	08:02
SK-407	F	32	01:01	74:00	35:01	81:01/02	04:01	18:01/02
SK-420	F	33	66:01	74:00	15:03	57:03	07:01	17:00
SK-422	М	29	30:02	30:02	15:10	42:01	03:04	17:00
SK-424	F	31	30:01	74:00	15:03	42:02	02:02	17:00
SK-425	F	37	03:01	30:02	15:10	58:02	03:04	06:02
SK-435	М	28	23:01	30:02	15:10	57:03	16:01	18:01
SK-445	F	33	23:01	33:01	42:01	58:02	06:02/7/10	17:00

 Table 3.1. HLA types data of study participants

Characteristics of the study subjects are shown in Table 3.2. Thirty-five participants had protective HLA class I alleles (+), of which 20 were viremic controllers at baseline (bVC+) whereas 15 were progressors (Prog+). The median time of follow-up of the bVC+ group of individuals was 5 years (4-6); and 4 years (3-6) for Prog+. The remaining 35 participants did not have protective HLA class I alleles (-) and of these, 10 were baseline viremic controllers (bVC-) and 25 were progressors (Prog-). The median follow-up time for individuals without protective HLA class I alleles was 5 years (4-6) for bVC- and 3 years (2.5-4) for Prog- (Table 3.2).

Groups	Protective HLA allele +/-	n	Median years of follow up (IQR)	Median VL HIV RNA copies/ml (IQR)	p- value	Median CD4 count (cells/mmm ³) (IQR)	p- value
Baseline viremic controllers	+	20	5 (4 - 6)	487 (283 -1,252)	0.77	509 (459- 684)	0.09
Baseline viremic controllers	-	10	5 (4 - 6)	613 (399 - 1,213)		669 (550 - 865)	
Progressors	+	15	4 (3 - 6)	156,000 (118,000 - 192,000)		329 (257 – 377)	0.70
Progressors	-	25	3 (2.5 - 4)	209,000 (132,000- 330,000)	0.26	373 (260– 478)	0.56

Table 3.2. Clinical characteristics for study subjects

Protective HLA alleles: HLAs B*57, B*58:01, B*81:01 and A*74:01

There were no significant differences in the median VL between baseline viremic controllers with and without protective HLA class I alleles (p-value 0.77; Mann-Whitney test). There was a trend towards higher absolute CD4⁺ T cell counts at baseline in viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles (bVC-) than baseline viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles (bVC+). Similarly, the median viral load and CD4⁺ T cell count differences were not significant between

progressors with and without protective HLA class I alleles (p-value 0.26; (Mann-Whitney test) for viral load and p-value 0.56 (Mann-Whitney test) for CD4⁺ T cell count) (Figure 3.1).

Study participants with baseline virologic control were followed longitudinally to assess viral load dynamics according to whether or not they expressed protective HLA class I alleles. Longitudinal follow-up of the 20 individuals with protective HLA class I alleles who controlled viremia at baseline (bVC+) allowed identification of two subgroups based on the VL dynamics: a subgroup of viremic controllers (VC+) that maintained viral load below 2,000 HIV RNA copies/ml for the entire study period and a second subgroup of failing viremic controllers (fVC+) who started with controlled viremia but eventually experienced virologic failure, with VL increasing up to more than 10,000 HIV RNA copies/ml in at least two consecutive time points during follow-up. There were some individuals whose viral load upon follow-up was above 2,000 but below 10,000 copies/ml and these individuals were excluded from some analysis as specified hereafter. Thus, the two subgroups showed divergent viral load dynamics despite viral load similarities at baseline (Figure 3.2A). Thirty five percent (n=7) of the bVC+ group maintained virologic control and were termed VC+ while another 35% (n=7) lost virologic control during follow up and were termed fVC+. The remaining 30% (n=6) fell into a third subgroup in which plasma VL were neither maintained below 2,000 nor increased to more than 10,000 HIV RNA copies/ml at any time point. We focussed on the 2 subgroups with extreme divergent outcomes in order to better understand the factors responsible for the control among the VC+ individuals and lack of viral control amongst fVC+ subgroups. Clinical parameters showed no differences in the CD4⁺ T cell counts over time between the VC+ and fVC+ subgroups (Figure 3.2B). In each of the 2 subgroups (VC+ and

fVC+), 2 individuals maintained an absolute $CD4^+$ T cell count of less than 350 cells/mm³ and the remaining 5 maintained an absolute $CD4^+$ T cell count of 350 cells/mm³ or more during the entire time of follow up.

Longitudinal follow up of 10 bVC without protective HLA class I alleles allowed identification of a subgroup (VC-) defined as individuals who maintained virologic control (VL< 2,000 HIV RNA copies/ml) throughout the follow up period as shown in Figure 3.2C. Remarkably, sixty percent of the bVC- maintained virologic control (VC-, n=6) while none of the bVC- lost virologic control. The remaining 4 subjects (40%) did not fall in either of the 2 subgroups as their plasma VL were neither maintained below 2,000 nor increased to more than 10,000 HIV RNA copies/ml at any time point and these were excluded from further analysis. The changes in the absolute CD4⁺ T cell count within the VC- subgroup are shown in Figure 3.2D. In this subgroup, there were 2 individuals maintaining an absolute CD4⁺ T cell count of less than 350 cells/mm³ whereas the remaining 4 maintained a count of 350 cells/mm³ or more during the entire time of follow up.



Figure 3.1. Viral load (A) and absolute CD4 T cell count (B) amongst individuals with and without protective HLA class I alleles; baseline viremic controllers (bVC+/-) with/without protective HLA class I alleles (enrolled with a viral load of < 2,000 HIV RNA copies/ml) and progressors (Prog+/-) with/without protective HLA class I alleles (enrolled with a viral load of > 100,000 HIV RNA copies/ml). Statistical analysis was performed on Prism using One-way ANOVA to compare all groups and Mann-Whitney U test to compare 2 groups.



Figure 3.2. Longitudinal viral load (A, C) and absolute CD4 T cell count (B, D) patterns amongst baseline viremic controllers with and without protective HLA class I alleles respectively. Failing viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles (fVC+) were enrolled with a viral load of < 2,000 HIV RNA copies/ml and later lost control, n = 7; loss of control is defined by an increase in viral load to > 10,000 HIV RNA copies/ml at 2 or more time points during follow up. Viremic controllers with or without protective HLA class I alleles (VC+/-) maintained viral load < 2,000 HIV RNA copies/ml for the entire course of follow up.

We went on to determine whether there were viral load and CD4⁺ T cell count differences at enrolment between viremic controllers (VC+) and failing viremic controllers (fVC+) with protective HLA class I alleles that could explain or possibly predict the later loss of control among some individuals. There was a trend towards higher baseline viral load in fVC+ individuals compared to VC+ individuals (p-value 0.06; Mann-Whitney test; Figure 3.3A) and we noted no significant differences in CD4⁺ T cell counts between the two subgroups at baseline (p-value 0.26; Mann-Whitney test; Figure 3.3B). Taken together, these results reveal divergent viral load patterns amongst viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles.



Figure 3.3. Log viral load (A) and absolute CD4 T cell count (B) at baseline amongst viremic controllers (VC+) and failing viremic (fVC+) individuals with protective HLA class I alleles. Statistical analysis was performed on Prism using Mann-Whitney U test to compare 2 groups.

3.3 HIV specific CD8⁺ T cell responses at baseline amongst study participants

We next sought to understand whether the differences in viral load outcomes were attributed to CD8⁺ T cell responses. We characterized the breadth and magnitude of HIV-specific CD8⁺ T cell immune responses in study participants with the ELISpot matrix assay. PBMCs were stimulated with consensus subtype C peptides spanning the entire proteome followed by confirmations with individual overlapping peptides within a reactive pool. Comparison of the overall responses across the entire HIV proteome between the bVC and Prog groups with or without protective HLA class I alleles showed no significant differences between the groups, with a median breadth of 7.5 responses for both bVC+ and Prog+ and a median of 8 and 8.5 for bVC- and Prog- respectively (Figure 3.4A). There were no significant differences in the overall magnitude of CD8⁺ T cell responses across the entire HIV proteome when comparing bVC+ to Prog+, with a median of 5,779 and 6,220 SFC/million PBMCs respectively; whereas the median magnitude for bVC- and Prog- were 2,763 and 5,574 SFC/million PBMCs respectively (Figure 3.4B). However, we observed a significant difference in the breadth of Gag-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses between the 4 groups (p-value 0.01; Kruskal-Wallis), further analysis showed that the bVC with protective HLA class I alleles targeted a significantly higher number of Gag epitopes than Prog with protective HLA class I alleles (p-value 0.004; Mann-Whitney test) (Figure 3.4C). There were no significant differences between the groups when we analysed the magnitude of Gag-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses (Figure 3.4D).



Figure 3.4. ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses at baseline; Breadth (A) and magnitude (B) of the whole HIV proteome; breadth (C) and magnitude (D) of Gag specific $CD8^+$ T cell responses amongst individuals with or without protective HLA class I alleles (bVC+/- and Prog +/-). An ELISpot matrix assay followed by confirmations with overlapping peptides spanning the entire HIV-1 clade C proteome was used on thawed PBMCs. Gag overlapping peptides were represented by OLPs 1 to 66. bVC+ (baseline viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles, n =18), Prog+ (progressors with protective HLA alleles, n = 12), bVC- (baseline VC without protective HLA class I alleles, n = 9), Prog- (progressors without protective HLA class I alleles, n = 20). Statistical analysis was performed on Prism using One-way ANOVA to compare all 4 groups in each graph and where significant differences were found, Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare 2 groups that indicated significant differences.
No significant differences between the groups were found when comparing other proteins individually; Nef, Env, Pol, and Accessory (Vpr, Vpu and Vif) and Regulatory (Rev and Tat) proteins, however progressors without protective HLA class I alleles had a significantly higher magnitude of Nef-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses compared to baseline VC without protective HLA class I alleles (p-value 0.006; Mann-Whitney test) (Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.5. ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses at baseline; Breadth and magnitude of Nef (A, B), Env (C, D), Pol (E, F) and Accessory and Regulatory proteins (G, H) specific CD8⁺ T cell responses amongst individuals with or without protective HLA class I alleles (bVC+/- and Prog +/-). An ELISpot matrix assay followed by confirmations with overlapping peptides spanning the entire HIV-1 clade C proteome was used on thawed PBMCs. Overlapping peptides were represented by OLPs 67-93 for Nef peptides; OLPs 289 - 401 for Env peptides; OLPs 145 - 277 for Pol peptides; Accessory and Regulatory proteins were grouped together and represented Rev peptides OLPs 94 -107; Tat peptides 111-122; Vpu peptides 123-131; Vpr peptides 278-288; and Vif peptides 402-425. bVC+ (baseline viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles, n = 18), Prog+ (progressors with protective HLA class I alleles, n = 9), Prog- (progressors without protective HLA class I alleles, n = 20). Statistical analysis was performed on Prism using

One-way ANOVA to compare all 4 groups in each graph and where significant differences were found, Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare 2 groups that indicated significant differences.



Figure 3.6. ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses at baseline- Gag versus Nef; An ELISpot matrix assay followed by confirmations with overlapping peptides spanning the entire HIV-1 clade C proteome was used on thawed PBMCs. The breadth of Gag versus Nef responses were assessed amongst the study groups (A, B, C, D); bVC+ (baseline viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles, n = 18), Prog+ (progressors with protective HLA class I alleles, n = 12), bVC- (baseline VC without protective HLA class I alleles, n = 9), Prog- (progressors without protective HLA class I alleles, n = 20). Statistical analysis was performed on Prism using Wilcoxon paired test.

CD8⁺ T cell responses to Gag have previously been associated with low viral load (252, 254) while responses to Nef have been previously associated with high viral load (233, 332). In order to further study the importance of targeting Gag as opposed to other HIV proteins amongst viremic controllers we first investigated the patterns of immunodominance of Gag responses compared with Nef responses in the 4 study groups. We found that there was a bias towards targeting of higher number of Gag epitopes (median breadth = 4) compared to Nef (median = 1.5) (p-value 0.0002; Wilcoxon matched pairs test) in baseline viremic controllers (bVC+) with protective HLA class I alleles (Figure 3.6A). This observation was similar to that in baseline viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles where a bias towards higher Gag breadth (median = 3) compared to Nef (median = 1) (p-value 0.009; Wilcoxon matched pairs test) was noted (Figure 3.6B). This bias towards higher Gag breadth than Nef was not observed amongst progressor groups with or without protective HLA class I alleles where no differences were found between the breadth of Gag and Nef (Figure 3.6C, D). Taken together these observations suggest that broad targeting of Gag may contribute to HIV control among viremic controllers.

Additionally, to further investigate the importance of targeting Gag as opposed to other HIV proteins amongst viremic controllers we went on to investigate the patterns of immunodominance of Gag responses compared with other HIV proteins in the 4 study groups. We examined Gag responses versus Env, Pol and accessory and regulatory protein responses. We observed a bias towards targeting of higher Gag versus Env breadth in all of the 4 groups of individuals with and without protective HLA class I alleles (p-value 0.002; Wilcoxon matched pairs test) for bVC+ subjects (Figure 3.7A), (p-value 0.009; Wilcoxon matched pairs test) for bVC- subjects (Figure 3.7B), (p-value 0.02; Wilcoxon matched pairs test) for Prog+ subjects (Figure

3.7C) and (p-value 0.009; Wilcoxon matched pairs test) for Prog- subjects (Figure 3.7D).

However when we analysed responses to Gag versus Pol, similar observations of higher targeting of Gag epitopes was noted in the baseline viremic controllers with and without protective HLA class I alleles (p-value 0.0007; Wilcoxon matched pairs test; for bVC+ and p-value 0.017; Wilcoxon matched pairs test for bVC- individuals) (Figure 3.8A, B). Among the progressors with and without protective HLA class I alleles, this bias was not evident (Figure 3.8C, D).

Furthermore, we observed a bias towards targeting of higher Gag versus Accessory and Regulatory proteins among bVC+ subjects (p-value 0.0002; Wilcoxon matched pairs test) (Figure 3.9A), bVC- subjects (p-value 0.009; Wilcoxon matched pairs test) (Figure 3.9B), a trending bias among Prog+ subjects (p-value 0.08; Wilcoxon matched pairs test) (Figure 3.9C) and (p-value 0.008; Wilcoxon matched pairs test) for Prog- subjects (Figure 3.9D).



Figure 3.7. ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses at baseline- Gag versus Env; An ELISpot matrix assay followed by confirmations with overlapping peptides spanning the entire HIV-1 clade C proteome was used on thawed PBMCs. The breadth of Gag versus Env responses were assessed amongst the study groups (Fig A, B, C, D); bVC+ (baseline viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles, n =18), Prog+ (progressors with protective HLA class I alleles, n = 12), bVC- (baseline VC without protective HLA class I alleles, n = 9), Prog- (progressors without protective HLA class I alleles, n = 20). Statistical analysis was performed on Prism using Wilcoxon paired test.



Figure 3.8. ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses at baseline- Gag versus Pol; An ELISpot matrix assay followed by confirmations with overlapping peptides spanning the entire HIV-1 clade C proteome was used on thawed PBMCs. The breadth of Gag versus Pol responses were assessed amongst the study groups (Fig A, B, C, D); bVC+ (baseline viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles, n = 12), bVC- (baseline VC without protective HLA class I alleles, n = 9), Prog- (progressors without protective HLA class I alleles, n = 20). Statistical analysis was performed on Prism using Wilcoxon paired test.



Figure 3.9. ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses at baseline- Gag versus Acc & Reg proteins; An ELISpot matrix assay followed by confirmations with overlapping peptides spanning the entire HIV-1 clade C proteome was used on thawed PBMCs. The breadth of Gag versus Accessory and regulatory responses were assessed amongst the study groups (Fig A, B, C, D); bVC+ (baseline viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles, n = 18), Prog+ (progressors with protective HLA class I alleles, n = 9), Prog-(progressors without protective HLA class I alleles, n = 20). Statistical analysis was performed on Prism using Wilcoxon paired test.

3.4 Summary of results

In Chapter 3, we characterized the baseline and longitudinal viral load and CD4 T cell dynamics in 35 chronic HIV-1 clade C infected individuals with protective HLA class I alleles and 35 individuals without protective HLA class I alleles. We show differential patterns in disease outcome amongst the individuals with protective HLA class I alleles despite similar viral load and CD4⁺ T cell counts at baseline time point. Furthermore, we demonstrate that virological control was associated with biased targeting of Gag compared to other proteins. In particular, baseline viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles targeted significantly higher breadth of Gag specific CD8⁺ T cells responses compared to progressors with protective HLA class I alleles. To our surprise baseline viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles displayed limited Gag specific CD8⁺ T cell responses suggesting that mechanisms other than CD8⁺ T cells may mediate control. An alternative hypothesis is that among individuals without protective HLA class I alleles, the CD8⁺ T cells targeting only a few epitopes mediated very effective antiviral effects. Furthermore, we showed that there was a bias towards targeting of Gag versus Nef, Pol, Env, Accessory and Regulatory proteins amongst baseline viremic controllers. Taken together these data emphasize the importance of broad targeting of Gag among viremic controllers and confirm previous studies documented in HIV-1 subtype C infection (252, 254) on the beneficial role of Gag-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses in HIV control.

CHAPTER 4: LONGITUDINAL ANALYSIS OF CD8⁺ T CELL RESPONSES AND IMPACT OF VIRAL EVOLUTION ON DISEASE PROGRESSION IN HIV-1 SUBTYPE C CHRONICALLY INFECTED INDIVIDUALS WITH AND WITHOUT PROTECTIVE HLA CLASS I ALLELES

4.1 Introduction

HIV-specific CD8⁺ cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) have been demonstrated to play an important role in HIV control (237, 254, 290, 297). However, virus-specific CD8⁺ T cell immune responses are not equally effective in HIV control as the majority of infected individuals progress to disease despite the presence of these cells. One possible explanation is that HIV is able to evade immune responses by developing mutations that mediate escape from CTL recognition (149, 234, 248, 333–336).

In the previous chapter we demonstrated that individuals with protective HLA class I alleles lost viral control and that Gag specific CD8⁺ T cells responses were related to the control of viremia at baseline. Although the majority of previous studies have associated CD8⁺ T cell responses with disease outcomes, there are some caveats: most of these studies characterized immune responses at a single time point which is usually the enrolment time point despite the study subjects displaying divergent disease progression pathways thereafter. In order to address this gap in knowledge, our study design afforded a unique opportunity to characterize CD8⁺ T cell responses of the individuals longitudinally in an attempt to determine whether the CD8⁺ T cell responses played any role in the control or loss of virologic control among individuals with and without protective HLA class I alleles. We also sought to determine whether viral evolution and escape due to CTL pressure explained the loss of viral control in these groups.

Therefore we aimed to:

1. Study and describe the evolution of HIV-specific immune responses and associate those with disease progression.

 Study viral evolution within Gag in individuals with and without protective HLA class I alleles and determine the impact of viral evolution on disease progression

4.2 Study participants

Here we focused on individuals with and without protective HLA class I alleles but divergent disease progression status. These are described below:

- iii. Viremic controllers (VC) were defined as individuals who were enrolled with a VL of less than 2,000 HIV RNA copies/ml and maintained this low viral load for the entire period of follow up.
- iv. Failing viremic controllers (fVC) were defined as bVC that were enrolled with a VL of less than 2,000 HIV RNA copies/ml but lost virological control. We defined the loss of viral control as an increase in VL to more than 10,000 HIV RNA copies/ml at a minimum of 2 time points during the time of follow-up.

We also included some progressors with protective HLA class I alleles depending on sample availability as a control group. The schematic representation of these subgroups and HLA typing and general characteristics are illustrated on the flow chart (Figure 4.1) and Table 4.1 below. A total of 7 fVC+, 7 VC+, 6 VC- and 6 Prog+ individuals were studied.



Figure 4.1 Flow chart showing the breakdown of study groups in to subgroups.

Table 4.1	. HLA	typing	and	general	characteristics	of	study	participants	that
were stud	ied long	gitudina	lly.						

PID	Gender	Age	HLA Class1 A	HLA Class1 A2	HLA Class1 B	HLA Class1 B2	HLA Class1 CW	HLA Class1 CW2	Role
SK-024	F	32	2902	6601	4403	5801	602	701	fVC+
SK-079	F	30	205	2902	4403	5801	701	701	fVC+
SK-187	F	25	3002	6802	801	5801	302	701	fVC+
SK-188	F	35	301	7400	5703	5802	602	701	fVC+
SK-435	М	28	2301	3002	1510	5703	1601	1801	fVC+
SK-224	F	31	205	6802	702	5702	304	1800	fVC+
SK-242	F	28	101	6601	81	39/67	1203	1800	fVC+
SK-199	F	27	2902	7400	1302	5703	602	701	VC+
SK-282	М	46	205	3402	4403	5801	401	701	VC+
SK-235	М	37	101	6601	3910	39	1203	1800	VC+
SK-348	М	23	101	0205/0208	5801	8100	701	17	VC+
SK-354	F	38	3001	7400	3501	8100	401	401	VC+
SK-362	F	30	301	7400	1503	1510	202	401	VC+
SK-089	F	26	2301	7400	1503	5801	202	302	VC+
SK-209	F	31	301	3001	801	4201	702	1701	VC-
SK-342	F	25	2902	3001	4201	4501	602	1701	VC-
SK-292	F	34	201	3002	3910	4001	304	1203	VC-
SK-275	F	26	301	3001	801	3910	702	1203	VC-
SK-315	F	28	3001	3002	4201	4201	1701	1701?	VC-
SK-317	F	24	2301	3301	4201	4403	303	1701	VC-
SK-334	F	25	3001	6802	4202	5801	304	1701	Prog+
SK-324	F	53	201	205	4501	5801	602	1601	Prog+
SK-307	F	33	3303	7400	1503	5301	202	401	Prog+
SK-358	F	39	202	2301	801	5701	701	701	Prog+
SK-363	F	42	2301	3009	1503	8100	202	401	Prog+
SK-382	F	28	301	2902	4201	8100	401	1700	Prog+
Key:	fVC= failing	g viremic cor	ntrollers; VC= vi	remic controllers	; + with protecti	ve HLA class I alle	s; - without prote	ective HLA class I a	lleles.

4.3 Loss of virologic control is associated with the loss of CD8⁺ T cell responses

In order to identify HIV-specific CD8⁺ T cell immune response changes associated with control and loss of viral control, the ELISpot assay was used to determine CD8⁺ T cell responses following stimulation with HLA-matched optimal peptides at the time point of virological failure. Thus, for VC+, VC- and Prog+ participants, samples were assessed by an ELISpot assay at baseline (earliest time point) and the latest time point available, whereas for failing viremic controller (fVC+) participants, samples were evaluated at baseline (viremic control time point) and at the time point of first increase of VL to above 10,000 copies/ml (post loss of virologic control) and thereafter.

Firstly, we assessed the CD8⁺ T cell response profiles between the subgroups at baseline in order to determine predictors of loss of viral control. We found that there was a significant difference in the overall breadth of HIV specific CD8⁺ T cell responses across the entire HIV proteome between the 4 subgroups (p-value 0.005; Kruskal-Wallis). Further analysis showed that the progressors with protective HLA class I alleles targeted a significantly higher number of total epitopes than VC without protective HLA class I alleles (p-value 0.006; Mann-Whitney test) (Figure 4.2A). Similarly we further observed significant differences in the overall magnitude of CD8⁺ T cells responses between the 4 subgroups (p-value 0.002; Kruskal-Wallis), with further analysis showing that fVC+ subjects displayed a significantly higher overall magnitude of CD8⁺ T cells responses compared to VC without protective HLA class I alleles (p-value 0.005; Mann–Whitney test). Furthermore, Prog+ displayed a significantly higher magnitude of overall CD8⁺ T cell responses when compared to VC without protective HLA class I alleles (p-value 0.005; Mann–Whitney test). Furthermore, Prog+ displayed a significantly higher magnitude of overall CD8⁺ T cell responses when compared to VC without protective HLA class I alleles (p-value 0.005; Mann–Whitney test). Furthermore, Prog+

magnitude of Gag specific CD8⁺ T cell responses between the subgroups (Figure 4.2C, D).



Figure 4.2. ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses at baseline amongst the 4 subgroups- Overall and Gag; ELISpot assay was used on thawed PBMCs to determine CD8⁺ T cell responses following stimulation with HLA-matched optimal peptides spanning the entire HIV-1 clade C proteome. Breadth and magnitude to the whole HIV proteome (A, B) and the breadth and magnitude of Gag specific CD8⁺ T cell responses (C, D). VC+; (viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles, n =7), fVC+; (failing viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles, n=7), VC-; (viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles, n=6), Prog+; (progressors with protective HLA class I alleles, n = 6). Statistical analysis was performed on Prism using Kruskal-Wallis test to compare all 4 groups in each graph and Mann-Whitney U test to compare 2 groups that indicated significant differences.

We extended the analysis to all other proteins; Nef, Env, Pol, accessory and regulatory proteins (Figure 4.3). Here we found a significant difference in the breadth of Nef between the subgroups (p-value 0.003; Kruskal-Wallis), further analysis showed that the difference was between fVC+ and VC+ with fVC+ displaying a significantly higher breadth of Nef specific CD8⁺ T cell response than VC+ (p-value 0.005; Mann–Whitney) (Figure 4.3 A). Similarly we observed a significant difference in the magnitude of Nef between the subgroups (p-value 0.0007; Kruskal-Wallis), further analysis showed that Prog+ and fVC+ subgroups had significantly higher magnitude of Nef responses compared to VC+/- protective HLA class I alleles. The differences were as follows: between VC+ and fVC+ (p-value 0.006; Mann–Whitney test); VC+ and Prog+ (p-value 0.007; Mann–Whitney test); fVC+ and VC- (p-value 0.004; Mann–Whitney test) and between VC- and Prog+ subgroups (p-value 0.005; Mann–Whitney test) (Figure 4.3B).

No significant differences were observed between the subgroups when we analysed the breadth and magnitude of CD8⁺ T cell responses to the Env and accessory and regulatory proteins (Figure 4.3C, D, G, H). We observed significant differences between the subgroups when we assessed responses to Pol optimal peptides (breadth, p-value 0.03, Kruskal–Wallis; magnitude, p-value 0.007, Kruskal–Wallis), with further analysis revealing that Prog+ targeted higher breadth (p-value 0.02; Mann– Whitney test) and magnitude (p-value 0.007, Mann–Whitney test) of Pol specific CD8⁺ T cell responses than VC without protective HLA class I alleles (Figure 4.3E, F).

Taken altogether these data may suggest that broad targeting of Nef by viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles is a predictor of loss of virologic control. Only 2 VC+ subjects targeted Nef epitopes at baseline compared to all 7

fVC+ subjects. It is noteworthy that all individuals either targeted very few epitopes within the envelope, accessory and regulatory regions or none at all. Viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles targeted very few numbers of epitopes suggesting a possible alternative mechanism for the control of viremia in these individuals.



Figure 4.3. ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses at baseline among the 4 subgroups- Nef, Env, Pol, Acc & Reg proteins; ELISpot assay was used on thawed PBMCs to determine CD8⁺ T cell responses following stimulation with HLA-matched optimal peptides spanning the entire HIV-1 clade C proteome. Breadth and magnitude of Nef (A, B), Env (C, D), Pol (E, F) and accessory and regulatory proteins (G, H) specific CD8⁺ T cell responses amongst individuals with or without protective HLA class I alleles (bVC+/- and Prog +/-). VC+ (viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles, n =7); fVC+ (failing viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles, n=6); Prog+ (progressors with protective HLA class I alleles, n = 6). Statistical analysis was

performed on Prism using Kruskal-Wallis test to compare all 4 groups in each graph and Mann-Whitney U test to compare 2 groups that indicated significant differences. We next studied the evolution of CD8⁺ T cell responses among the subgroups. Figure 4.4A and B represent the evolution of responses among the VC+ subgroup where no significant changes in the overall responses across the entire HIV proteome and Gag specific CD8⁺ T cell responses were observed. However, we noted a significant reduction in the overall breadth of CD8⁺ T cell responses across the entire HIV proteome amongst the fVC+ over time (p-value 0.02; Wilcoxon matched pairs test) and a significant reduction of Gag targeted epitopes over time (p-value 0.003; Wilcoxon matched pairs test) (Figure 4.4C, D). This change was associated with increases in viral load in these individuals. No changes in overall responses across the entire HIV proteome but a trend in reduction of Gag targeted epitopes were observed in VC- subgroup (Figure 4.4E, F). Prog+ subgroup showed a trend in reduction of overall breadth of CD8⁺ T cell responses across the entire HIV proteome (p-value 0.06; Wilcoxon matched pairs test) and a trend in reduction of Gag targeted epitopes over time amongst Prog+ (p-value 0.09; Wilcoxon matched pairs test) (Figure 4.4G, H). These changes were associated with further increases in viral load in these individuals. This analysis was performed while taking into account the duration of time between the tested time points for all participants since this time differed from participant to participant.



Figure 4.4. Longitudinal ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses amongst viremic controllers (VC+, n = 7, A-B), failing viremic controllers (fVC+, n = 7, C-D) and progressors (Prog+, n = 6, E-F) with protective HLA class I alleles and viremic controllers (VC-, n = 5, G-H) without protective HLA class I alleles – Overall and Gag. PBMCs were stimulated with optimal peptides restricted only to individuals HLA-B alleles and spanning the whole HIV proteome. Here we show overall responses across the entire HIV proteome and Gag specific CD8⁺ T cell responses over time for the 4 subgroups. Latest TP represents latest time point. Statistical analysis was performed on Prism using the Wilcoxon matched pairs test to compare responses between the two time points. Time between the time points was taken in to account.

This longitudinal analysis of the evolution of CD8⁺ T cell responses was extended to other proteins. No significant differences were observed in the breadth of Nef and Env amongst the subgroups. However we noted a trend towards a reduction in the breadth of Nef-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses among the fVC+ over time (p-value 0.09; Wilcoxon matched pairs test) and Prog+ subgroup over time (p-value 0.09; Wilcoxon matched pairs test) (Figure 4.5). This analysis was performed taking in to consideration differences in follow up duration for participants. The VC- subgroup did not have any detectable CD8⁺ T cell responses to Env.

No significant differences were observed in the breadth of Pol amongst the VC+ and VC- subgroups overtime. However, there was a significant reduction in the breadth of Pol-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses among the fVC+ over time (p-value 0.03; Wilcoxon matched pairs test) and Prog+ subgroup over time (p-value 0.04; Wilcoxon matched pairs test) (Figure 4.6). No significant differences were observed in the breadth of responses to accessory and regulatory proteins amongst the subgroups. This analysis was performed while controlling for participant length of follow up. The VC- subgroup did not have any detectable CD8⁺ T cell responses to accessory and regulatory proteins. Taken together these data demonstrate that the immunological parameter most strongly associated with of loss of viral control is the loss of overall responses across the entire HIV proteome, and in particular Gag specific CD8⁺ T cell responses.



Figure 4.5. Longitudinal ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses amongst viremic controllers (VC+, n = 7), failing viremic controllers (fVC+, n = 7) and progressors (Prog+, n = 6) with protective HLA class I alleles and viremic controllers (VC-, n = 5) without protective HLA class I alleles – Nef and Env. PBMCs were stimulated with optimal peptides restricted only to individuals HLA-B alleles and spanning the whole HIV proteome. Here we show Nef and Env specific CD8⁺ T cell responses over time for the 4 subgroups. Latest TP represents latest time point. Statistical analysis was performed on Prism using the Wilcoxon matched pairs test to compare responses between the two time points. Time between the time points was taken in to account.



Figure 4.6. Longitudinal ELISpot screening of HIV-specific T cell responses amongst viremic controllers (VC+, n = 7), failing viremic controllers (fVC+, n = 7) and progressors (Prog+, n = 6) with protective HLA class I alleles and viremic controllers (VC-, n = 5) without protective HLA class I alleles – Pol and Acc & Reg proteins. PBMCs were stimulated with optimal peptides restricted only to individuals HLA-B alleles and spanning the whole HIV proteome. Here we show Pol and Accessory and regulatory protein specific CD8⁺ T cell responses over time for the 4 subgroups. Latest TP represents latest time point. Statistical analysis was performed on Prism using the Wilcoxon matched pairs test to compare responses between the two time points. Time between the time points was taken in to account.

In order to further characterize factors that may be associated with loss of virologic control amongst individuals with protective HLA class I alleles, we focused on the fVC+ subgroup and identified the exact HIV-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses lost over time. Table 4.2 shows longitudinal changes in HIV-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses highlighting optimal peptides targeted at baseline, those no longer detectable at the time of virologic failure and those that persisted over time.

We noted that within the fVC+ subgroup, the majority (73%) of the total CD8⁺ T cell responses were no longer detectable by ELISpot at the time of virological failure, and these responses were never regained despite the emergence of a few new CD8⁺ T cell specificities at this latter time point in 3 individuals (e.g. SK-435, SK-224 and SK-079 gained responses to B*15:10-WI9 Vif, B*57-KAF9 Nef and B*57-QY10 Rev epitopes respectively) (Table 4.2). The decrease in the overall breadth of CD8⁺ T cell responses was noted across the whole proteome post loss of control. Taken together these findings further demonstrate that virological failure in individuals with protective HLA class I alleles is associated with loss of overall CD8⁺ T cell responses across the entire HIV proteome.

		BASELINE TIN	Γ	POST LOSS OF VIROLOGIC CONTROL TIME POINTS							
		EPITOPES TA	1	EPITOPES		EPITOPES TARGETED					
PID	HLA	Epitopes targeted	Total Breadth	Total Magnitude (SFU/Mil PBMCs)	Epitopes lost	Total Breadth lost	Total Magnitude lost (SFU/Mil PBMCs)	Epitopes targeted	Total Breadt h	Total Magnitude (SFU/Mil PBMCs)	
SK-187	B*58:01/ B*08:01	[B8-DI8 (p24), -FL8 (Nef), - GL9 (RT), -EL8 (p15), - NL11 (gag)], [B58:01-TW10 (p24), -QW9 (p24), -IAW9 (RT), -SW10 (Int)]	9	2240	[B8-EL8 (p15), -NL11 (gag)], B58:01-SW10 (Int)	3	460	[B8-D18 (p24), -FL8 (Nef), - GL9 (RT)], [B58:01-TW10 (p24), -QW9 (p24), -IAW9 (RT)]	6	3188	
SK-435	B*57:03/ B*15:10	[B15:10-TIL9 (RT), -RI11 (Vif)], [B57-WF9(p17), - ISW9(p24), -KF11(p24), - TW10(p24), -AW9(Vpr), - VF9(Vif), -KAF9(Nef), B57- AF10 (RT), -QL11 (gp120), - LW9 (Vif), -V19 (POL)]	13	6580	[B15:10-RI11 (Vif)], [B57- WF9(p17), -TW10(p24), - AW9(Vpr), -VF9(Vif), - KAF9(Nef), -AF10 (RT), - QL11 (gp120), -LW9 (Vif), - VI9 (POL)]	10	2300	[B15:10-TIL9 (RT)], [B57- ISW9(p24), -KF11(p24), B15:10-W19(Vif)]	4	6128	
SK-224	B*57:02/ B*07:02	[B7-GL9(p24), -RM9 (Nef), - TL10(nef)], [B57-ISW9(p24), -TW10(p24), -QW9 (p24), - IW9(RT), -AF10 (RT), -KI13 (RT)]	9	7280	B7-GL9(p24), [B57- TW10(p24), B57-KI13 (RT)]	3	540	[B7-RM9 (Nef), - TL10(nef)], [B57- ISW9(p24), -QW9 (p24), - IW9(RT), -AF10 (RT), - KAF9(Nef)]	7	7600	
SK-242	B*81:01/ B*67	[B39-GL9(p24), -TL9 (p24), - NL11 (p24)], [B81-TL9(p24), - RM9 (Nef), -RGF9(nef), - LI9(Int), -SL10 (RT)]	8	9740	[B39-GL9(p24), -NL11 (p24), - TL9(p24)], [B81-RM9 (Nef), - RGF9(nef), -L19(Int), -SL10 (RT)]	7	6520	B39-TL9 (p24)	1	323	
SK-024	B*58:01/ B*44	[B44-SL9(P24), -KY11 (NEF), -QY9 (NEF)], [B58:01-SW10(Int), -YY8 (Nef), -YT9 (Nef), -KY11 (Nef)]	7	4740	[B44-SL9(P24), -KY11 (NEF), - QY9 (NEF)], [B58:01- SW10(Int), -YY8 (Nef), -YT9 (Nef), -KY11 (Nef)]	7	4740	-	0	0	
SK-079	B*58:01/ B*44	[B44-MY9 (gp120), -KY11 (NEF), -QY9 (NEF)], [B58:01-TW10(p24), - HW9(nef), -IAW9(RT), - SW10(Int), -KW11(Env), - VF9(Vif), -KAF9(Nef), - QL11, -YY8 (Nef), -YT9 (Nef), -NW9 (Nef), - KAF9(Nef), -KY11 (Nef), - HQ10 (Nef)]	17	26700	[B44-MY9 (gp120), -KY11 (NEF), -QY9 (NEF)], [B58:01- TW10(p24), -HW9(nef), - SW10(Int), -KW11(Env), - VF9(Vif), -KAF9(Nef), -QL11, - YY8 (Nef), -YT9 (Nef), -NW9 (Nef), -KAF9(Nef), -KY11 (Nef), -HQ10 (Nef)]	16	24680	B58:01-IAW9(RT), B58:01- QY10(Rev)	2	456	
SK-188	B*57:03/ A7401	[B57-ISW9(p24), - KF11(p24), -HW9(nef), - AF10 (RT), -FF9 (RT)]	5	3640	[B57-ISW9(p24), -HW9(nef), - AF10 (RT), -FF9 (RT)]	4	1480	B57-KF11(p24)	1	110	
	Г	OTAL	68	60920		50	40720		21	17805	

Table 4.2. Optimal HIV peptides targeted by failing viremic controllers before and after loss of viral control.

4.4 Escape mutations in Gag only partially explain the loss of virological control in fVC with protective HLA class I alleles

The ability of HIV to evade CTL recognition by developing mutations that escape recognition and undermine the immune response is well documented in HIV infection (149, 333–339). We next investigated whether the observed loss of virologic control associated with loss of immune responses was linked to the presence of mutations that potentiate immune escape. We hypothesized that the loss of CD8⁺ T cell responses will primarily be due to the presence of escape mutations. In the current study, longitudinal *gag* population sequencing was performed from plasma samples at baseline and post loss of control on the fVC+ subjects and at baseline and available later time points for the viremic controllers with and without protective HLA class I alleles (VC+ and VC-). We assessed mutations within epitopes restricted by the patients' protective HLA class I alleles plus epitopes restricted by the other HLA-B alleles that the subjects possessed. HIV-1 clade C Gag consensus sequence was used as reference for comparison in this analysis.

For the fVC+ subjects, we assessed a cumulative total of 67 epitopes at baseline and 69 at the first time point when the subjects had a viral load increase to more than 10, 000 HIV RNA copies/ml (post loss of viral control) (Figure 4.7). Of the 67 epitopes assessed at baseline, 28% (19 of 67) induced detectable $CD8^+$ T cell responses. Furthermore, still at baseline, 51% (34 of 67) of the epitopes evaluated had variant sequences either within the epitope or in the 5 flanking regions and of these, 32% (11 of 34) elicited detectable $CD8^+$ T cell following stimulation with peptides corresponding to the wild type epitopes. Forty nine percent (33 of 67) of the epitopes had wild type sequences and of these, 24% (8 of 33) were capable of inducing a detectable $CD8^+$ T cell response. At the post loss of viral control time point we

analysed a cumulative total of 69 epitopes. Of these, 53% (37 of 69) epitopes had variant sequences either within the epitope or in the 5 flanking regions with 11% (4 of 37) having elicited detectable $CD8^+$ T cell following stimulation with peptides corresponding to the wild type epitopes that persisted.

The number of epitopes with wild type or variant sequences did not change much preand post-loss of control, however we observed a drop in the number of epitopes that induced detectable CD8⁺ T cell responses post loss of control (Figure 4.7). We observed that of the 11 variant epitopes that elicited a CD8⁺ T cell response at baseline, 7 responses were no longer detectable post loss of viral control. In addition we observed that of the 8 wild type epitopes that elicited a CD8⁺ T cell response at baseline, 6 responses were lost at post loss of control time point. Of these 6, 3 epitopes did not elicit a CD8⁺ T cell response as a result of escape while the other 3 remained wild type despite failure to elicit a detectable CD8⁺ T cell response. This data may suggest that the accumulation of these escape mutations may have abrogated the immune responses in some individuals while the reason for the loss of responses in some individuals are not known.



Figure 4.7. Immunogenicity and escape of fVC+ subjects before and after loss of viral control. We evaluated if the epitopes within the Gag region had variant sequences either within the epitope or in the 5 flanking regions. HIV-1 clade C Gag consensus sequence was used as reference for comparison in this analysis.

We narrowed down the analysis and focussed on escape mutations in known immunodominant epitopes. Of the 7 fVC+, there are 2 B*57:03-, 1 B*57:02-, 3 B*58:01- and 1 B*81:01-positive individuals. We evaluated the presence or absence mutations within the 4 well-defined B*57:02/03-restricted of escape immunodominant Gag epitopes; TW10, ISW9, KF11 and QW9 among subjects possessing HLAs B*57:02/03 and B*58:01 over time (Table 4.3). We observed that the most common mutation was the T242N and reversion to wild type occurred in 2 subjects with no detectable CD8⁺ T cell responses. Escape in the KF11 epitope was seen in only 1 subject.

For one of the subjects we evaluated escape mutations within the 3 B*81:01-restricted immunodominant epitopes; SV9, TL9 and HA9. Amongst individuals possessing HLA B*81:01, increase in viremia may be associated with escape mutations in the immunodominant TL9 and HA9 epitopes resulting in the loss of these CD8⁺ T cell responses. However, in HIV-1 subtype C, mutations in the TL9 epitopes, unless accompanied by compensatory mutations, may severely compromise viral fitness resulting in clinical benefit to the patient (258). In our study we had only 1 fVC (SK-242) possessing HLA B*81:01 (Table 4.3). This subject had one wild type epitope (SV9) with no detectable CD8⁺ T cell response while 2 of the 3 had variant sequences with a detectable $CD8^+$ T cell response induced by stimulation with wild type epitopes. We noted sequence variations within the TL9 with a detectable CD8⁺ T cell response at baseline; the mutation was present after the loss of control and reverted back to wild type in the subsequent time point following post loss. We also noted a mutation (H219Q) within the HA9 epitope with no detectable CD8⁺ T cell response at baseline; the mutation was still present post loss of control time point. Furthermore, this subject did not respond to SV9 epitope at baseline and no mutation was observed

post loss of control time point. The overall observation of the fVC+ subgroup supports the view that accumulation of escape mutations within Gag may abrogate immune responses in some individuals. The reasons for the loss of responses in the absence of escape require further investigation.

Patient ID	HLA Type	Months from enroll ment	Epitope KF11(gag 162-172) KVIEE <u>KAFSPEVIPMFT</u> ALSE	CD8+ T cell response	Epitope ISW9 (gag 147-155) MVHQA <u>ISPRTLNAW</u> VKVIE	CD8+ T cell response	Epitope TW10 (gag 240-249 DIAGT <u>TSTLQEQIAW</u> MTSNP	CD8+ T	response	Epitope QW9 (gag 296-304) TLRAE <u>QATQDVKNW</u> MTDLL	CD8+ T cell response
B*57 subjects											
SK-188 fVC	в*57:03	0 10	· · · · · · <u>· · · · · · · · · · · · · </u>	+ +	P <u>L</u>	+	G G	-	-	<u></u>	-
SK-224 fVC	B*57:02	0 7 14 20 71	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		P P P P	+ + +	<u>N. T.</u> <u>N. T.</u> <u>N. T.</u> <u>N. T.</u>	+	-		+ + + +
SK-435 fVC	B*57:03	0 6 12 21	······	+ - + +	V <u>L</u> 	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	<u></u>	+ - -	-	·····	
	-	-		-		-	-				-
B*58:01 subjects	HLA Type	Months from enroll ment	Epitope KF11(gag 162-172) KVIEE <u>KAFSPEVIPMFT</u> ALSE	CD8+ T cell response	Epitope ISW9 (gag 147-155) MVHQA <u>ISPRTLNAW</u> VKVIE	CD8+ T cell response	Epitope TW10 (gag 240-249 DIAGT <u>TSTLQEQIAW</u> MTSNP	CD8+ T	response	Epitope QW9 (gag 296-304) TLRAE <u>QATQDVKNW</u> MTDLL	CD8+ T cell response
SK-024 fVC	B*58:01	0 21	· · · · · · <u>· · · · · · · · · · · · · </u>	-	<u></u>	1 1		-	-	<u></u> 	-
SK-079 fVC	B*58:01	0 21 34 41	·····	- n/a n/a -	····· <u>·····</u> ····	- n/a n/a	n/a <u>N</u> <u>N</u>	+ n/ n/	'a 'a	n/a <u></u>	+ n/a n/a
SK-187 fVC	B*58:01	0 10 26 55			P		<u></u> n/a <u></u> I.G	+	-	<u></u>	+ + -
						-					
B*81:01 subjects	HLA Type		Epitope SV9 (gag 148- 156) VHQAI <u>SPRTLNAWV</u> KVIEE	CD8+ T cell response	Epitope TL9 (gag 180- 188) LSEGA <u>TPODLNTML</u> NTVGG	CD8+ T cell response	Epitope HA9 (gag 216- 224) EWDRL <u>HPVHAGPIA</u> PGQMR	CD8+ T Cell	response		
SK-242 fVC	B*81:01	0 20	·····	n/a	<u></u> .A	+ n/a	·····	n/	'a		

Table 4.3. Sequence variation within HLAs B*57:02/03/58:01 and B*81:01 restricted immunodorminant epitopes

4.5 Maintenance of low viral load despite the presence of Gag escape mutations among viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles

We also assessed epitope sequences of the VC+ and VC- subjects at baseline and later time point. However due to limited sample availability only 2 subjects were sequenced at both baseline and later time points. Evaluation of epitope sequences allowed us to assess a cumulative total of 67 epitopes at baseline for the VC+ subgroup. Of the 67, 30% (20 of 67) were wild type with 20% (4 of 20) inducing a positive CD8⁺ T cell response while 70% (47 of 67) had variant sequences and 21% (10 of 47) elicited detectable CD8⁺ T cell following stimulation with peptides corresponding to the wild type epitopes (Figure 4.8). Furthermore, in the VCsubgroup, a cumulative total of 47 epitopes were evaluated. Fifty one percent (51%) (24 of 47) were wild type sequences and 33% (8 of 24) induced a positive CD8⁺ T cell response, while 47% (23 of 47) had variant sequences with 13% (3 of 23) having elicited detectable CD8⁺ T cell responses following stimulation with peptides

Tables 4.4 and 4.5 show the sequences of the immunodominant epitopes restricted by the patients' HLA B alleles of VC with and without protective HLA class I alleles at baseline. Although the number of subjects studied here is limited, these data demonstrate that VC+ maintained viral control despite having the highest prevalence of variant sequences either within the epitope or in the 5 flanking regions when compared to individuals lacking protective HLA class I alleles.



Figure 4.8. Immunogenicity and escape of VC+ and VC- subjects at baseline. We evaluated if the epitopes within the Gag region had variant sequences either within the epitope or within 5 amino acids flanking the epitope. HIV-1 clade C Gag consensus sequence was used as reference for comparison in this analysis.

Patient ID	HLA Type	Months from enrollme nt	Epitope KF11 (gag 162-172) KVIEE <u>KAFSPEVIPMFT</u> ALSE	CD8+ T cell response	Epitope ISW9 (gag 147-155) MVHQA <u>ISPRTLNAW</u> VKVIE	CD8+ T cell response	Epitope TW10 (gag 240-249) DIAGT <u>TSTLQEQIAW</u> MTSNP	CD8+ T cell response	Epitope QW9 (gag 296-304) TLRAE <u>QATQDVKNM</u> MTDLL	CD8+ T cell response
B*57 subjects										
SK-199 <mark>VC</mark>	B*57:03/ A*74:01	0 82	<u>.G</u> N/A	++++	P <u>M</u> N/A	++++	<u>N</u> N/A	-	<u>.</u>	+++++
B*58:01	HIA TUDA	Months from	Epitope KF11(gag 162-172)	r cell onse	Epitope ISW9 (gag 147-155)	r cell onse	Epitope TW10 (gag 240-249)	r cell onse	Epitope QW9 (gag 296-304)	r cell onse
subjects		enrollme nt	KVIEE <u>KAFSPEVIPMFT</u> ALSE	CD8+ 7 resp	MVHQA <u>ISPRTLNAW</u> VKVIE	CD8+ 7 resp	DIAGT <u>TSTLQEQIAW</u> MTSNP	CD8+ 7 resp	TLRAE <u>QATQDVKNW</u> MTDLL	CD8+ : resp
SK-089 VC	B*58:01/ A*74:01	0 43	<u></u> N/A	-	<u>.</u>	-		-		-+
SK-282 VC	B*58:01	0 67	<u></u>	-	P <u></u>	-	<u></u>	+ -	<u></u>	+ -
SK-348 VC	B*58:01/ 81:01	0 47		-	<u>.</u>	-	<u>.</u> N N/A	+ -	<u>.</u>	+ -
				-		-				
B*81:01 subjects	HLA Type		Epitope SV9 (gag 148-156) VHQAI <u>SPRTINAWV</u> KVIEE	CD8+ T cell response	Epitope TL9 (gag 180-188) LSEGA <u>TPODLNTML</u> NTVGG	CD8+ T cell response	Epitope HA9 (gag 216-224) EWDRL <u>HPVHAGPIA</u> PGQMR	CD8+ T cell response		
SK-348 VC	B*81:01/ 58:01	0 47	<u></u>	-	<u></u>	+	<u>V.</u> I. N/A			
SK-354 VC	B*81:01/ A*74:01	0 36	L <u></u>	-	<u>.G</u>	+	<u></u> V	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++		
A*74:01 subjects	HLA Type		Epitope KK9 (gag 18-26) LDKWE <u>KIRLRPGGK</u> KHYML	CD8+ T cell response	Epitope RH9 (gag 20-28) KWEKI <u>RLRPGGKKH</u> YMLKH	CD8+ T cell response	Epitope RLY10 (gag 20-29) KWEKI <u>RLRPGGKKHY</u> MLKHL	CD8+ T cell response		
SK-362 VC	A*74:01	0 50	R <u>N</u> .K.R. N/A	-	R <u>NK</u> .R	-	R <u>NK.</u> RI N/A	-		
SK-354 VC	B*81:01/ A*74:01	0	<u></u> .R N/A	1	<u>SR</u> N/A	-	<u>SR.</u>	-		
SK-089 VC	B*58:01/ A*74:01	0 43	Q.R.	-		-	R. <u>0.</u> RI	-		
SK-199 VC	B*57:03/ A*74:01	0 82	<u>R.K</u> .K	-		-		-		
				-	-	-				

Table 4.4. Sequence variation within HLAs B*57:03/58:01, B*81:01 and A*74:01 restricted immunodominant epitopes
B*42:01/39:10 subjects	HLA Type		Epitope SV9 (gag 148-156) VHQAI <u>SPRTLNAWV</u> KVIEE	CD8+ T cell response	Epitope TL9 (gag 180-188) LSEGA <u>TPQDLNTML</u> NTVGG	CD8+ T cell response	Epitope HA9 (gag 216-224) EWDRL <u>HPVHAGPIA</u> PGQMR	CD8+ T cell response
SK-292 VC	B*39:10/ 40:01	0 18		-		++	· · · · · · <u>· · · · Q</u> · · · · · ·	-
SK-342 VC	B*42:01/ 45:01	0 44	<u>.</u>	- N/A	<u>.G</u> N/A	+ N/A	<u></u> N/A	- N/A
SK-209 VC	B*42::01 /08:01	0 38	<u></u>	-	<u></u> N/A		<u>QV.</u> N/A	
SK-315 VC	B*42:01	0 28	<u></u>	-	<u></u>	+ +	V <u></u> N/A	
SK-317 VC	B*42:01/ 44:01	0 43	<u></u>		<u></u>	++++	<u></u> V. N/A	_

Table 4.5. Sequence variation within immunodominant epitopes among VC subjects without protective HLA alleles

4.6 Summary of results

In Chapter 4 we studied longitudinal CD8⁺ T cell responses and sequence variation within CTL epitopes and associated these parameters with divergent disease progression and loss of CD8+ T cell responses in the 4 subgroups; VC+, fVC+, VC- and Prog+ subjects. We showed that the loss of viral control seen in the failing viremic controller subgroup with protective HLA class I alleles (fVC+) was related to a significant loss of overall CD8⁺ T cell responses across the whole HIV proteome and of Gag specific CD8⁺ T cell responses. Additionally we demonstrated that fVC+ subjects targeted significantly higher Nef epitopes at baseline compared to VC+ subjects suggesting that targeting of Nef may be a predictor of loss of viral control. We also showed that the viral control seen among the viremic controller subgroup with protective HLA class I alleles (VC+) was associated with the maintenance of the CD8⁺ T cell responses over time. Interestingly VC- subjects targeted fewer epitopes despite maintaining viral control throughout the time of follow up suggesting an alternative mechanism of viral control for these individuals.

We also studied CD8⁺ T cell immune-driven sequence variation within Gag and associated escape with divergent disease progression. We demonstrated that escape and potential escape mutations were evident in the fVC+ subgroup and in some instances the loss of CD8⁺ T cell responses were as a result of escape in some individuals while the loss of some of the responses could not be explained by escape. Interestingly some VC+ maintained viral control throughout despite the presence of escape mutations within Gag, and persistence of responses irrespective of sequence variation appeared to be a better correlate of viral control. VC- on the other hand had fewer escape mutations within Gag and maintained low viral load throughout.

CHAPTER 5: CD8⁺ T CELL FUNCTIONAL ANALYSIS AND ASSOCIATION WITH DISEASE PROGRESSION IN CHRONICALLY HIV-1 SUBTYPE C INFECTED INDIVIDUALS WITH AND WITHOUT PROTECTIVE HLA CLASSIALLELES

5.1 Introduction

The maintenance of a highly polyfunctional $CD8^+$ T cell profile has been well documented elsewhere amongst elite controllers (ECs) and long-term non-progressors (LTNPs) where CD8⁺ T cells from these individuals have demonstrated to be more polyfunctional, to have a higher proliferative capacity and greater ability to suppress viral replication compared to progressors (302, 324, 325, 340, 341). These data suggest that a more polyfunctional $CD8^+$ T cell phenotype is associated with viral control. However, there are some caveats; firstly, the extent to which this highly polyfunctional and proliferative CD8⁺ T cell phenotype is maintained in some individuals or lost in some individuals who experience loss of viral control is not fully understood. Secondly, most of the previous studies characterized the functional properties of CD8⁺ T cells at only one time point. To address this gap in knowledge, we characterized longitudinally the functional properties of CD8⁺ T cells for polyfunctionality, proliferation and ability to suppress viral replication from study participants in an attempt to determine whether these functional properties of CD8⁺ T cells played any role in the control or loss of virologic control among individuals with and without protective HLA class I alleles.

We hypothesised that viremic controllers with or without protective HLA class I alleles will present with highly polyfunctional and proliferating CD8⁺ T cells able to suppress viral replication in an *ex vivo* viral inhibition assay compared to progressors. We further hypothesized that the CD8⁺ T cells amongst failing viremic controllers (individuals that were controlling vireamia and later experienced loss of viral control) with protective HLA class I alleles will show reduced polyfunctionality, reduced proliferative capacity and reduced ability to suppress viral replication post loss of virologic control.

In order to test these hypotheses we aimed to:

- Study the polyfunctionality of CD8⁺ T cells amongst individuals with controlled vireamia and associate these CD8⁺ T cell properties with viral control or lack of control upon longitudinal follow up.
- Study the proliferative capacity of CD8⁺ T cells amongst individuals with controlled vireamia and associate these CD8⁺ T cell properties with viral control or lack of control upon longitudinal follow up.
- 3. Study the *ex vivo* ability of CD8⁺ T cells to suppress HIV replication and associate this function with disease progression or the lack thereof.

5.2 Study participants

For this sub-study, we focused on individuals with divergent disease progression status with and without protective HLA class I alleles. These are described below:

- Viremic controllers (VC) were defined as individuals who were enrolled with a VL of less than 2,000 HIV RNA copies/ml and maintained this low viral load for the entire period of enrolment.
- Failing viremic controllers (fVC) were defined as bVC that were enrolled with a VL of less than 2,000 HIV RNA copies/ml but lost virological control. We defined the loss of viral control as an increase in VL to more than 10,000 HIV RNA copies/ml at a minimum of 2 time points during the time of follow-up.

We also included some progressors with protective HLA class I alleles as a control subgroup.

We studied 7 fVC+, 7 VC+, 6 VC- and 6 Prog+ as illustrated in the flow chart below:



Figure 5.1 Flow chart showing the breakdown of study groups in to subgroups.

5.3 No significant differences in the polyfunctionality of CD8⁺ T cells between the 4 subgroups; VC+, fVC+, VC- and Prog+

We first studied the ability of CD8⁺ T cells to produce diverse cytokines as previously described (340). This is for consistency with previously studies so that we can compare our findings. We assessed 5 functions; interferon gamma (IFN γ), interleukin-2 (IL-2), tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), macrophage inflammatory protein 1 beta (MIP1 β) and CD107a at baseline and later time points for VC+, VC- and Prog+; and pre and post loss of viral control time points for fVC+ subjects. The gating strategy for this analysis is summarized on Figure 5.2. Our data show that there were no significant differences in CD8⁺ T cell polyfunctionality to explain the divergence in disease progression amongst the subgroups (VC+, fVC+, VC- and Prog+) at baseline and later time points (Figure 5.3). Although the profiles of the different

subgroups seem different, we were underpowered by the small sample size to make conclusions.



Figure 5.2. Polyfunctionality of CD8⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools – gating stratergy. The initial gating was on lymphocytes followed by the forward scatter height (FCS-H) versus forward scatter area (FSC-A) to eliminate the doublets. Subsequently live CD3⁺ T cell population was gated on followed by gating of CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cell populations. The individual gating for respective functions followed (set based on the negative control ('NO STIM')), these were used to identify positive responses.



Figure 5.3. Polyfunctionality of CD8⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools - amongst viremic controllers (VC+), failing viremic controllers (fVC+), progressors (Prog+) with protective HLA class I alleles and viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles; At baseline and at later time points. The 5 functions studied were CD107a, IFNg, IL2, MIP1b and TNFa. On the pie charts, red represents 5 functions, orange; 4 functions, yellow; 3 functions, green; 2 functions and blue; 1 function. Gating strategy is shown in Figure 5.1. Boolean gating was performed in order to allow creation of a full array of possible combinations of up to 32 response patterns. Positive responses were reported after background correction and the percentage of epitope-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses had to be at least two times higher than background for each tested marker. PESTLE (version 1.6.2) and SPICE 5.0 (Mario Roederer, ImmunoTechnology Section, Vaccine Research Center, NIH, Bethesda, MD) were used to analyze the multifunctional data. Later TP represents later time point.

We extended our analysis to determine whether there were any similarities of differences in the expression of single/mono functional CD8⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag pool peptide between the 4 subgroups at baseline that may possibly predict the later divergence of disease progression observed. We did not observe any significant differences in the mono expression any of the five markers at baseline; CD107a, IL-2, IFN- γ , MIP1- β and TNF- α (Figure 5.4). This analysis may have been underpowered by the small sample numbers.



Figure 5.4. The expression of single functions by $CD8^+$ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools - amongst viremic controllers (VC+), failing viremic controllers (fVC+), progressors (Prog+) with protective HLA class I alleles and viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles at baseline. The 5 functions studied were CD107a, IFN γ , IL-2, MIP1- β and TNF- α . Gating strategy is shown in Figure 5.1. Positive responses were reported after background correction by subtracting the proportion of unstimulated CD8⁺ T cells from the Gag stimulated CD8⁺ T cells. Statistical analysis was performed on Prism using Kruskal-Wallis test to compare all 4 groups in each graph and Mann-Whitney U test to compare 2 groups that indicated significant differences.

We also determined whether there were any changes in the single function of CD8⁺ T cells over time, that is, for VC+, VC- and Prog+ subjects we assessed these responses at baseline and later time points. Expression of these markers was assessed at baseline (pre loss time point) and post loss of viral control time point for the fVC+ subjects. We did not observe any significant differences in the mono expression of the 5 markers over time in all the 4 subgroups (data shown Appendix A) and neither did we find any CD8⁺ functionality patterns that could explain the loss of viral control in the fVC+ subjects.

5.4 No significant differences in the proliferative capacity of CD8⁺ T cells between the 4 subgroups

We further studied the ability of CD8⁺ T cells to proliferate upon stimulation with Gag peptide pool. We assessed the subjects' whole PBMCs at baseline and later time points for VC+, VC- and Prog+; and pre- and post-loss of viral control time points for fVC+ subjects. The gating strategy is summarized in Figure 5.5. Our data show that there were no significant differences in proliferative capacity of the CD8⁺ T cell to explain the divergence in disease progression amongst the compared subgroups (VC+, fVC+, VC- and Prog+) at baseline and later time points (Figure 5.6). However, at baseline (when all were controlling) there was a trend towards a higher proliferative capacity of CD8⁺ T cells from viremic controllers (VC+) compared to those who subsequently lost control (fVC+) among individuals with protective HLA class I alleles (p-value 0.09; Mann-Whitney test). No significant differences were observed at later time points for all subgroups (Figure 5.6 B).



Figure 5.5. The proliferative capacity of CD8⁺ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools – gating stratergy. The initial gating was on lymphocytes followed by gating on the live CD3⁺ T cell population and further followed by gating of CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cell populations. The next gates were set on the CD8⁺ CFSE negative in order to identify proliferated CD8⁺ T cell populations. The individual gating for proliferating cells was set based on the negative control (no stimulation), these were used to identify positive responses by subtraction from stimulated proliferating population.



Figure 5.6. The proliferative capacity of $CD8^+$ T cells upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools - amongst viremic controllers (VC+; n=7), failing viremic controllers (fVC+, n=7), progressors (Prog+, n=6) with protective HLA class I alleles and viremic controllers (VC-, n=6) without protective HLA class I alleles at baseline (A) and latest time point (B). The gating strategy is shown on Figure 5.5. Statistical analysis was performed on Prism using Kruskal-Wallis test to compare all 4 groups in each graph and Mann-Whitney U test to compare 2 groups that indicated significant differences. These box

and whisker plots show the median and the error bars represent the minimum and maximum values.

Taken together these data showed that polyfunctionality and proliferative capacity of CD8⁺ T cells did not play a role in the maintenance of low viral load among VC+/individuals or loss of control in the fVC+ subjects, suggesting that other mechanisms may be responsible for the observed divergent disease progression outcomes in our cohort.

5.5 Viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles display limited *ex vivo* CD8⁺ T cell inhibition capacity compared to viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles.

We further investigated the ability of CD8⁺ T cells to suppress viral replication *ex vivo* as a possible mechanism of viral control. Viral inhibition assay was used to directly compare the virus inhibitory activity of CD8⁺ T cells *ex vivo* amongst VC+, fVC+, VC- and Prog+ subgroups at baseline and later time points. Figure 5.7 shows representative data for the 5 VC+ subjects studied at baseline and 4 subjects at later time points (due to limitations of sample availability, fewer samples were analysed at more than one time point). We show here that VC+ displayed enhanced *ex vivo* CD8⁺ T cell inhibition capacity. This phenotype was maintained at a later time point suggesting that this particular CD8⁺ T cell function may be important for viral suppression in VCs with protective HLA class I alleles.



Figure 5.7. Viral inhibition of the NL4-3- infected autologous CD4⁺ T cells by *ex vivo* CD8⁺ T cells - VC+ subjects. Infected CD4⁺ T cells were cultured with *ex vivo* CD8⁺ T cells at a ratio of 1:1. Blue lines represent infected CD4⁺ T cells alone, black lines represent the negative control; uninfected CD4⁺ T cells alone and the red lines represent coculture of infected CD4⁺ T cells with *ex vivo* CD8+ T cells. Representative data are displayed for 5 VC+ at baseline (n=5) and later time points (n=4).

For the fVC+ subjects, we observed a reduced inhibitory capacity by the CD8⁺ T cells for the 3 individuals assessed (Figure 5.8). Furthermore, one fVC+ subject studied over time (i.e. pre- and post-loss of viral control), demonstrated a reduced *ex vivo* CD8⁺ T cell inhibitory capacity at baseline with a further reduction in T cell inhibitory capacity following loss of viral control. These data may suggest that the loss of viral control may be associated with reduced capacity of the CD8⁺ T cells to suppress viral replication. For the two other fVC+ subjects, samples were not available at the post loss of control time point.

For the 5 VC- subjects, we observed a reduced inhibitory capacity of the CD8⁺ T cells (Figure 5.9). In addition, in the 4 VC- subjects studied over time (baseline and latest time point), despite the subjects displaying a reduced *ex vivo* CD8⁺ T cell inhibitory capacity at baseline, we saw a similar reduction in the *ex vivo* CD8⁺ T cell inhibitory capacity at a later time point. These data may suggest that the CD8⁺ T cells may not be involved in the control of viral replication among VC without protective HLA class I alleles.

A representative data set for one Prog+ subject showed a reduced inhibitory capacity of the CD8⁺ T cells. In addition, in the one Prog+ subject studied over time (baseline and latest time point), the subject displaying a reduced *ex vivo* CD8⁺ T cell inhibitory capacity at baseline, this low *ex vivo* CD8⁺ T cell inhibitory capacity was maintained at a later time point. These data may suggest that the CD8⁺ T cells of the progressors are not as functional as CD8⁺ T cells from viremic controllers.



Figure 5.8. Viral inhibition of the NL4-3- infected autologous $CD4^+$ T cells by *ex vivo* $CD8^+$ T cells – fVC+ subjects. Infected $CD4^+$ T cells were cultured with *ex vivo* $CD8^+$ T cells at a ratio of 1:1. Blue lines represent infected $CD4^+$ T cells alone, black lines represent the negative control; uninfected $CD4^+$ T cells alone and the red lines represent coculture of infected $CD4^+$ T cells with *ex vivo* CD8+ T cells. Representative data for 3 fVC+ at baseline (n=3) and post loss of viral control time point (n=1) are displayed.



Figure 5.9. Viral inhibition of the NL4-3- infected autologous $CD4^+$ T cells by *ex vivo* $CD8^+$ T cells – VC- subjects. Infected $CD4^+$ T cells were cultured with *ex vivo* $CD8^+$ T cells at a ratio of 1:1. Blue lines represent infected $CD4^+$ T cells alone, black lines represent the negative control; uninfected $CD4^+$ T cells alone and the red lines represent coculture of infected $CD4^+$ T cells with *ex vivo* $CD8^+$ T cells. Representative data are displayed for 5 VC- at baseline (n=5) and later time points (n=2).



Figure 5.10. Viral inhibition of the NL4-3- infected autologous $CD4^+$ T cells by *ex vivo* $CD8^+$ T cells – Prog+ subject. Infected $CD4^+$ T cells were cultured with *ex vivo* $CD8^+$ T cells at a ratio of 1:1 Blue lines represent just infected $CD4^+$ T cells alone, Red lines represent the negative control; uninfected $CD4^+$ T cells alone and the black lines represent coculture of infected $CD4^+$ T cells with *ex vivo* $CD8^+$ T cells. Representative data are displayed for 1 prog+ subject at baseline (n=1) and later time points (n=1).



Figure 5.11. Log₁₀ p24 viral inhibition of the NL4-3- infected autologous CD4⁺ T cells by *ex vivo* CD8⁺ T cells. Infected CD4⁺ T cells were cultured with *ex vivo* CD8⁺ T cells at a ratio of 1:1. Log₁₀ p24 inhibition of individual subjects was calculated by subtracting log₁₀ p24 values of CD4⁺ T cells co-cultured with CD8⁺ T cells from log₁₀ p24 values of CD4⁺ T cells at day 7, here we compared data from 5 VC+, with 3 fVC+ and 5 VC- individuals. Statistical analysis was performed on Prism using Kruskal-Wallis test to compare all 3 subgroups in each graph and Mann-Whitney U test to compare 2 groups that indicated significant differences.

For a combined assessment of the impact of ex vivo CD8⁺ T cell inhibition capacity on disease outcome, we evaluated the subgroups at baseline. Interestingly, we noted a significant difference in the log_{10} p24 inhibition between the viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles and viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles, with the former having CD8⁺ T cells with greater viral inhibition capacity (pvalue 0.02; Mann- Whitney test; Figure 5.11). Overall, viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles (VC+) displayed significantly higher ex vivo CD8⁺ T cell inhibition capacity compared to viremic controllers without protective HLA alleles (VC-) and failing viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles (fVC+). The VC+ participants tended to maintain this inhibitory capacity to suppress virus replication over time. Taken together these data may suggest that whereas CD8⁺ T cells from viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles are associated with control of viremia, those of viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles display less ability to inhibit virus replication. These results are consistent with our hypothesis that among viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles there is an alternative mechanism of viral control other than CD8+ T cells.

5.6 Summary of results

In chapter 5, we characterized the function of $CD8^+$ T cells and associated the function with divergent disease progression that we observed in the 4 subgroups; VC+, VC-, fVC+ and Prog+. We found that there were no significant differences in the polyfunctionality of $CD8^+$ T cells between the subgroups at baseline and later time points. We also observed no significant changes in the polyfunctionality of $CD8^+$ T cells over time in the subgroups. Additionally, similar findings were reported when we assessed the proliferative capacity of $CD8^+$ T cells in the subgroups at

baseline and longitudinally. The statistical insignificance of these data may have been largely due to our very small sample numbers.

We went further to investigate the *ex vivo* ability of CD8⁺ T cells to suppress HIV replication and associated this function with disease progression. Here we demonstrated that VC+ displayed enhanced *ex vivo* CD8⁺ T cell inhibitory capacity to suppress viral replication while fVC+, VC- and Prog+ subjects displayed a reduced *ex vivo* CD8⁺ T cell inhibitory capacity at baseline with a further reduction in T cell inhibitory capacity at later time points (for VC- and Prog+ subjects) and following loss of viral control (for the fVC+ subjects). Overall these data reveal that the viral control observe in VC subjects with protective HLA class I alleles is primarily driven by the CD8⁺ T cells and their ability to suppress virus replication. These data also suggest that VC without protective HLA class I alleles may possess an alternative mechanisms to maintain viral control. Future studies will require investigation of these possible alternative mechanisms.

CHAPTER

6:

DISCUSSION

6.1 Discussion

Few HIV infected individuals are able to control viremia naturally without the need for treatment. Studying HIV infected individuals who naturally control virus replication can provide some invaluable information to better understand HIV pathogenesis, virus-host interactions and inform vaccine design. HIV controllers serve as an ideal model for effective HIV vaccine development. Research on HIV has undergone some considerable milestones in the past years to better define the mechanisms of viral control of HIV. Although the natural control of HIV has been linked to a number of factors including immunological factors, host genetics and viral factors in the HIV controller groups (viremic controllers, LTNPs and ECs), the evolution of such factors and their association with divergent disease progression patterns have rarely been characterized longitudinally in chronic HIV infection. Additionally, the cross-sectional findings regarding the mechanisms of viral control in HIV controllers have been inconclusive and therefore need resolving. There is need to clearly identify and define the correlates of immune protection from disease progression in individuals who naturally control HIV.

In this thesis, we explored the mechanisms of viral control and lack of viral control amongst individuals with protective HLA class I alleles. We investigated viremic controllers with similar baseline clinical characteristics but progressing to divergent viral load status with one subgroup maintaining control, while the other subgroup lost viral control. Both immunological and viral factors were addressed in a longitudinal study design.

6.2 Protective versus non-protective HLA class I alleles and alternative mechanisms of viral control

HLA class I alleles have previously been associated with differential control of viremia, where the expression of certain HLA class I alleles such as HLAs B*57, B*81:01, B*58:01 and B*27 have been strongly associated with low viral load hence termed 'protective HLA class I alleles', while other alleles have been termed 'nonprotective HLA class I alleles' because of their strong association with high viral load (222, 223, 254, 289–293). However, the exact mechanisms of viral control amongst individuals with protective HLA class I alleles are not fully understood. Furthermore, the majority of individuals with protective HLA class I alleles experience progressive infection suggesting that protective HLA class I alleles alone are not sufficient to account for the control of HIV replication. In chapter 3 we identified chronically HIV infected individuals with controlled viremia at enrolment (VL<2,000 HIV RNA copies/ml), some possessing protective HLA class I alleles while others did not and these were termed baseline viremic controllers (bVC). These individuals were followed over time to assess viral load dynamics based on whether they expressed protective HLA class I alleles or not. Interestingly we observed that the loss of control was only evident amongst baseline viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles, while none of the viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles lost viral control despite the two groups displaying viral load similarities at baseline. This unexpected finding suggests that viremic controllers without HLA class I alleles are less likely to subsequently progress in disease status. The question still remains as to why only those with protective HLA class I alleles lost viral control. At this point, it was not clear whether immunological or other mechanisms of viral control were involved in viral control or loss of control in these individuals. Previous studies have

shown that HLA class I alleles present viral peptides on the surface of antigen presenting cells to CTLs, and therefore protective HLA class I alleles are thought to mediate their effects primarily through CTLs. Our data shows that protective HLA class I alleles alone do not account for viral control in all controllers. This is consistent with data from subtype B infection elite controllers, among whom it has been shown that whereas protective HLA class I alleles are overrepresented in this group, not all such individuals possess the protective alleles (272, 297). Our data also suggest that the mechanisms responsible for viremic control may differ between those with versus those without protective HLA class I alleles. Furthermore, the mechanisms of control in those without protective HLA class I alleles. We next characterized HIV-specific CD8⁺ T cell immune responses in the study participants with the ELISpot assay using overlapping consensus subtype C peptides spanning the entire proteome followed by confirmations with individual peptides within a reactive pool.

6.3 The Gag responses in individuals with protective HLA class I alleles

There is mounting evidence that Gag specific CD8⁺ T cells responses play a beneficial role in HIV disease outcome. CD8⁺ T cell responses to Gag have previously been associated with low viral load (252, 254) whereas broad or high magnitude responses to Nef correlate positively with viral load (233, 332). In chapter 3 we showed that baseline viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles had significantly higher breadth of Gag specific CD8⁺ T cell responses compared to progressors with protective HLA class I alleles confirming what other studies have previously shown that targeting of Gag is associated with viral control in chronic HIV infection. We further observed that there was a bias towards targeting of Gag compared to Nef amongst baseline viremic controllers regardless of whether they

possessed protective HLA class I alleles or not. This was not evident amongst progressors with and without protective HLA class I alleles as we did not observe significant difference between the breadth of Gag versus Nef CD8⁺ T cell responses. Further analysis showed a bias towards targeting of Gag than other proteins such as Pol, Env, Accessory and Regulatory proteins in the bVC with and without protective HLA class I alleles. These findings suggest that targeting epitopes within regions of low entropy (highly conserved regions of the virus such as Gag) in HIV as opposed to high entropy proteins (highly variable regions of the virus such as Nef) may be protective. Furthermore, Nef targeting irrespective of HLA class I alleles appears to be detrimental and is associated with high viral load.

We did not observe any significant differences when we assessed the breadth of Gag specific CD8⁺ T cell responses between baseline viremic controllers and progressors without protective HLA class I alleles. This finding suggests that mechanisms other than Gag specific CD8⁺ T cells may mediate control in baseline viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles. It is possible that these individuals may have robust innate immunity or cytolytic CD4⁺ T cell responses, which may compensate for the ineffective CD8⁺ T cell responses, however we did not characterize these alternative potential mechanisms in the present study. Previous studies have described cytotoxic CD4⁺ T cell responses can be compensated for by robust CD4⁺ T cell responses (315, 342). However in those studies, strong CD4⁺ T cell responses were maintained through into the chronic phase but ultimately lost which suggests that if the individuals are still maintaining control, other mechanisms other than CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells have been associated with viral control which can be detected

using the peptide based cultured ELISpot (330), which were not investigated in this study. Overall, our data on individuals with protective HLA class I alleles support the 'Gag hypothesis' that responses to Gag are protective and associate with controlled viremia which is consistent with other reports (252, 254). However, we provide new evidence in controllers without protective HLA class I alleles, Gag CD8⁺ T cell responses do not appear to play a significant role in viral control.

6.4 Evolution of CD8⁺ T cell responses

Many studies of chronic HIV infection have assessed CD8⁺ T cell responses at only one time point (cross-sectionally) and associated these responses with contemporaneous viral load. Here we analyzed CD8⁺ T cell responses longitudinally using optimal peptides allowing us to assess the evolution of these responses and associate them with viral load dynamics (chapter 4). We were able to assess not only the specificity of the responses but also their persistence. Here we focused our analysis on 4 subgroups described in detail in chapter 2; VC+/VC-: viremic controllers with and without protective HLA class I alleles who controlled their viremia throughout the time of follow-up; (maintaining a VL< 2,000 HIV RNA copies/ml), fVC+: failing viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles; individuals who had controlled viremia at baseline and later lost viral control (VL increased to >10,000 HIV RNA copies/ml at a minimum of 2 time points) and Prog+ subjects; progressors with protective HLA class I alleles. We assessed responses at baseline and later time points for VC+, VC- and Prog+ subjects and baseline and post loss time point for the fVC+ subjects.

We first determined whether there were differences in the $CD8^+$ T cell responses at baseline. The reason for this analysis was to determine if there were differences in $CD8^+$ T cell responses at baseline that may be predictive of the divergent disease

progression patterns observed in the 4 subgroups. No significant differences were observed when comparing overall CD8⁺ T cell responses across the whole HIV proteome and Gag specific CD8⁺ T cell responses between VC+ and fVC+ subgroups despite the individuals displaying similar VL at baseline. Failing VC+ displayed a trend towards higher breadth of overall CD8⁺ T cell responses across the whole HIV proteome and Gag specific CD8⁺ T cell responses. The reasons for this observation are not known. However, these responses may not be effective in restricting virus replication in subsequent time points since high viral load was noted in these fVC+ subjects. Further analysis revealed that fVC+ subjects targeted significantly higher breadth of Nef at baseline compared to VC+ despite similarities in viral load at this point. Nef has previously been shown to be associated with increased viral load (233, 332, 343). Our observation in this study suggests that targeting of Nef while still displaying controlled viremia may predict subsequent virologic failure. However, this needs further investigation. It is also possible that the high Nef responses observed in the fVC+ subjects might be driving the elevated overall responses observed in this subgroup at baseline.

Longitudinal analysis of CD8⁺ T cell responses among VC with and without protective HLA class I alleles (VC+/-) revealed that there was maintenance of overall CD8⁺ T cell responses across the whole HIV proteome (Gag, Pol, Nef, Env and accessory and regulatory proteins) over time. These data suggest that the maintenance of CD8⁺ T cell responses over time is important for sustained viral control during chronic HIV infection. Further analysis of the longitudinal CD8⁺ T cell responses of the fVC+ subgroup revealed that the overall CD8⁺ T cell responses across the whole HIV proteome, Pol and Gag specific CD8⁺ T cell responses were lost over time (comparing baseline to first time point of viral load increase to more than 10,000 HIV RNA copies/ml (post loss). These observations suggest that the loss of CD8⁺ T cell responses may be related to the loss of viral control in these individuals. However, we are unable to determine whether the loss of responses arose as a result of the increase in viral load or the other way round. This phenomenon was also seen in progressors with protective HLA class I alleles with near-significant p-values. We also observed a trend in the reduction of Nef specific CD8⁺ T cell responses with increasing viral load in the fVC+ and Prog+ subgroups. Although previous studies have linked targeting of Nef with high viral load (233, 332) suggesting that Nef responses are driven by antigenemia, in our study we observed that as the viral load was increasing, there was a reduction in the Nef responses suggesting that the increase in viremia may ultimately lead to impairment of CD8⁺ T cell responses to Nef. These data also suggest that Nef responses do not seem to play a role in viral control, as they appeared to wane with disease progression. Overall, so far our data suggest that maintenance of CD8⁺ T cell responses is important for sustained viral control especially in individuals with protective HLA class I alleles while the loss of CD8⁺ T cell responses is associated with loss of viral control. Increasing viremia is related to the impairment of the $CD8^+$ T cell responses.

It is important to note that the *ex vivo* ELISpot assay can underestimate the true breadth and magnitude of CD8⁺ T cell responses (232) and the fact that we stimulated the cells with optimal peptides based on HIV reference strain as opposed to autologous viruses may have resulted in non-detection of some responses because autologous virus sequences are different from reference strains. Additionally, the ELISpot assay may not have detected low frequency CD8⁺ T cell responses or the control may be associated with central memory T cells which are usually low in frequency and can only be assessed by a cultured ELISpot (330). In future, the use of

autologous optimal peptides to stimulate cells or the employment of a cultured ELISpot assay may provide more information.

6.5 Viral escape and CD8⁺ T cell responses

Gag specific responses are known to contribute significantly to viral control by reducing virus replication. Previous studies have consistently demonstrated that HIV is able to evade CTL recognition by developing escape mutations (149, 333–339). Here we hypothesized that the loss of CD8⁺ T cell responses we observed in the failing viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles (fVC+) subgroup will primarily be as a result of escape mutations. In the second half of chapter 4, longitudinal population *gag* sequencing was performed from plasma samples at baseline and post loss of control on the fVC+ subjects and at baseline and available later time points for the viremic controllers with and without protective HLA class I alleles (VC+ and VC-). Here, we determined whether the changes in the CD8⁺ T cell responses were a result of sequence evolution on targeted Gag epitopes or their flanking regions.

Analysis of the fVC+ subjects showed that escape was already present in 51% of the Gag epitopes and of these, 32% (11 of 34) elicited detectable $CD8^+$ T cell following stimulation with peptides corresponding to the wild type epitopes. At post loss time point only 53% (an additional 2%) of the Gag epitopes had escaped and of these, 11% (4 of 37) had detectable $CD8^+$ T cell responses to the wild type epitopes that persisted, representing a 21% reduction in the number of T cell epitopes with a detectable $CD8^+$ T cell response. These data suggested that only a minority of $CD8^+$ T cell responses were lost as result of sequence variation (viral escape) within the cognate epitopes. Further analysis showed that 7 $CD8^+$ T cell responses were no

longer detectable at the post loss time point. At this point it is not very clear why these responses were lost. It is possible that the loss of these CD8⁺ T cell responses represents a natural waning of responses to the wild type antigenic peptide following escape. It is also possible that these cells eventually died due to lack of continued stimulation because they were no longer seeing the antigen (cognate epitope). These data also reveal that the loss of viral control did not occur as a result of escape. This is because there were no significant differences in the level of escape at baseline versus post loss of control time point, suggesting that the loss of control is primarily related to the loss of CD8⁺ T cell responses. Furthermore, previous studies have described mutations such as T242N, A163G and T186S as reverting mutations in HIV infection possibly due to their fitness cost (344, 345). In our study, the T242N mutation was the most common mutation and reversion to wild type occurred in only 2 fVC+ subjects with no detectable CD8⁺ T cell response indicating that reversion in these 2 subjects resulted from the loss of CTL pressure. However, in some individuals there was no reversion observed despite the loss of CD8⁺ T cell responses. We know from previous studies that some mutations within Gag have a fitness cost to the virus (258, 346), however compensatory mutations can develop and restore viral fitness or reversion can occur especially when the CTL pressure is lost. In our study, it is possible that the fVC+ individuals may have developed compensatory mutations that restored viral fitness hence the increasing viral load in these individuals. We also observed that 4 CD8⁺ T cell responses were maintained although escape was evident in those epitopes. This is clear evidence that the subjects responded to the wild type optimal peptides that the cells were stimulated with.

In addition, there were 8 wild type epitopes that elicited detectable $CD8^+$ T cell responses at baseline and 6 of these responses were not detected at the post loss time

point. We observed that in 3 of these 6 epitopes, sequence variation had occurred at time of virologic failure, which may explain that the loss of these responses was due to viral escape. However the other 3 epitopes remained wild type post loss of control and yet did not elicit detectable CD8⁺ T cell responses. It remains unclear why these 3 responses were lost in the absence of escape. Overall, we observed that some CD8⁺ T cell responses in the fVC+ subgroup were lost as a result of viral escape but escape cannot explain the loss of some of the responses. The mechanisms that underlie the loss of CD8⁺ T cell responses in the absence of viral sequence changes requires further investigation, however we can speculate that we may not have been able to detect these responses because of their low frequencies. More sensitive assays such as cultured ELISpot, intracellular staining or tetramer staining may have given a more accurate result to check whether these responses were actually lost or not. It might be that the frequency was reduced below the level of detection of a conventional ELISpot. It is also possible that the cells may be prone to apoptosis or were exhausted. Nevertheless, our data unequivocally show that these CD8⁺ T cell responses underwent functional or phenotypic changes and the mechanisms involved will require further investigation.

We also assessed the presence or absence of escape in the VC+ and VC- subgroups. Interestingly we show that VC+ subjects had a high level of escape, with 70% of the epitopes at baseline having variant sequences. Viral control was sustained in these individuals despite ongoing evolution in plasma viruses and this is in agreement with some previous studies that showed that some elite controllers maintained viral control despite ongoing viral replication and evolution in plasma viruses and they were able to develop *de novo* immune responses to variant peptides (347, 348). However, not all escaped epitopes were targeted. One possible explanation is that responses to the wild

type peptides were lost and could not be elicited by stimulation with the peptide. We cannot rule out that in these cases *de novo* CD8⁺ T cell responses to the viral variant epitopes were present since we did not test for these using autologous peptides in this thesis. Future work will be needed to assess whether *de novo* responses to variant epitopes were elicited in some of these cases.

Overall these data reveal that while as expected viral escape was associated with the loss of CD8⁺ T cell responses and this is consistent with other studies (149, 339, 349). However, not all loss of response could be explained by viral escape. Deciphering the underlying mechanisms for loss of these responses (not explained by viral escape) will require further investigation.

6.6 The impact of CD8⁺ T cell functionality on disease progression

The ability of $CD8^+$ T cell to produce diverse cytokines (polyfunctionality) and proliferate upon stimulation has been extensively studied in HIV infection. Previous studies have shown that a highly polyfunctional and proliferative $CD8^+$ T cell phenotype play a significant role in HIV control especially in LTNPs and ECs (235, 325, 350, 351). However, whether or not this phenotype plays a role in the divergent disease progression patterns in chronic HIV infection remains understudied, as most previous studies have been cross-sectional. In chapter 5 we describe longitudinal analysis of the functional properties of $CD8^+$ T cells, proliferation and ability to suppress viral replication *in vitro*. The goal of this analysis was to determine whether these functional properties of $CD8^+$ T cells played any role in the sustained viral control observed in a subset of individuals and loss of viral control in some individuals. In our study we observed no significant differences in the polyfunctionality and proliferative capacity of CD8⁺ T cells at enrolment amongst the subgroups studied; VC+, VC-, fVC+ and Prog+ subjects. Further analysis of the longitudinal polyfunctionality data revealed no differences between the subgroups and at different time points. We did not observe significant changes in the polyfunctionality of the CD8⁺ T cells over time or as the viral load was changing in some individuals. We could not link this function to the differences in divergent disease progression patterns observed in the subgroups. Therefore we concluded that polyfunctionality of CD8⁺ T cells might not be playing a role in disease progression patterns in our cohort. Analysis of the proliferative capacity of the CD8⁺ T cells also revealed no significant differences between the subgroups at baseline and longitudinally. However VC+ subjects had a trend towards displaying a higher proliferative capacity compared to fVC+ subjects. This could signal a role proliferation plays in the control of viremia as demonstrated in previous studies (350). Some limitations of our study are worth highlighting here, first, limited sample numbers may have reduced our statistical power to detect differences and secondly due to study limitations, polyfunctionality and CD8⁺ T cell proliferation were studied in bulk and not virus-specific CD8⁺ T cells. Further investigations with a larger sample size and focusing on HIV-specific $CD8^+$ T cell may yield additional insights on these $CD8^+$ T cell properties.

One of the main functions of the $CD8^+$ T cells is to kill virally infected cells. We hypothesized that viral control will be associated with $CD8^+$ T cells capable of blocking viral replication in an *ex vivo* viral inhibition assay. Our data revealed that VC+ subjects displayed enhanced ability of $CD8^+$ T cells to suppress viral replication in an *ex vivo* viral inhibition assay while fVC+ and VC- subjects displayed reduced ability of $CD8^+$ T cells to suppress viral replication. The VC+ subjects maintained this
function throughout while the fVC+ subject studied showed a further reduction in the ability of the CD8⁺ T cells to suppress viral replication. These data suggest that fVC+ possessed CD8⁺ T cells that are dysfunctional or impaired in their function compared to CD8⁺ T cells from the VC+ subjects. It is important to note the fVC+ subjects displayed reduced ability to suppress viral replication at the time when they had controlled viremia (at baseline when their VL was below 2,000 HIV RNA copies/ml). These data suggest that the loss of viral inhibitory capacity of CD8⁺ T cells prior to the rise in viremia indicates dysfunction even before the subsequent clinical consequences. Our data is partly in agreement with previous studies which demonstrated that the CD8⁺ T cells from controllers and elite controllers differed to those of progressors in their ability to inhibit viral replication (330, 352).

However, it is important to note that not all viremic controllers in our cohort exhibited this effective CD8⁺ T cell viral inhibition capacity. In chapter 4 we showed that VC-targeted fewer epitopes and these findings led us to hypothesize that either CD8⁺ T cell responses do not play a major role in viral control in these individuals or that the few virus-specific CD8⁺ T cells in these persons are highly suppressive despite their limited overall breadth. In chapter 5 we showed that the VC- subjects displayed significantly lower ability of CD8⁺ T cells to suppress viral replication in an *ex vivo* viral inhibition compared to VC+. These data therefore indicate that mechanisms other that CD8⁺ T cells are responsible for sustained viral control in these individuals. It is possible that these individuals may have strong CD4⁺ T cell responses that are capable of displaying cytolytic activity as previously shown in some studies (315, 342). Other mechanisms of control in these individuals may involve innate immunity or differential expression of host restriction or replication cofactors, attenuated and defective viruses. Overall our data support the view that CD8⁺ T cells play an

important role in the sustained control of HIV replication, particularly in individuals with protective HLA class I alleles, whereas in those without protective HLA class I alleles, alternative mechanisms of viral control may be at play.

6.7 Conclusion

In this thesis we explored the possible mechanisms of viral control and lack of viral control in individuals possessing protective HLA class I alleles and those without protective HLA class I alleles as control groups. We utilized a longitudinal study design in an attempt to overcome some of the bias inherent in cross-sectional studies where the long-term outcome of progression is unknown. We explored longitudinally the immunological and virological factors that may explain the divergent disease progression patterns observed in our cohort. We first showed that there was loss of viral control amongst individuals who had controlled viremia at enrolment and this phenomenon was only evident in those individuals possessing protective HLA class I alleles. Our findings strengthen the important role CD8⁺ T cell responses play in sustained viral control as we showed that Gag specific CD8⁺ T cells were associated with low viral load. We went further to demonstrate that the loss of viral control in some individuals was related to the loss of Gag specific CD8⁺ T cell responses while sustained viral control was related to persistence of Gag specific CD8⁺ T cell responses. Interestingly, only a minority of Gag specific CD8⁺ T cell responses that did not persist could be explained by viral escape. This data therefore suggest that mechanisms other than viral sequence may be playing a more important role in lack of persistence of CD8⁺ T cell responses than previously appreciated.

Additionally, we found no evidence of differences in the polyfunctionality and proliferative capacity of CD8⁺ T cells and these parameters did not play a role in the loss of viral control. However, individuals with protective HLA class I alleles

possessed CD8⁺ T cells with high virus inhibition capacity, and loss of viral control was associated with diminution of virus inhibition capacity. In contrast viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles had CD8⁺ T cells with poor virus inhibition capacity, suggesting that CD8⁺ T cell-independent mechanisms may potentiate viral control in these individuals.

Taken together, the finding in this thesis highlight the importance of Gag specific CD8⁺ T cells in mediating viral control particularly in individuals with protective HLA class I alleles. These data suggest that maintenance of CD8⁺ T cell responses is crucial for control even in the face of viral escape. However, viral escape does not fully explain the loss of CD8⁺ T cells in chronic HIV infection and alternative mechanisms require further investigation. Finally, in viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles viral control occurred in the absence of broad CD8⁺ T cell responses and poor virus inhibition capacity of CD8⁺ T cells highlighting the need to study alternative mechanisms in these individuals. More work still needs to be done in order to further determine the correlates of immune protection. Other factors such as protective antibodies may play an important role in the control of viremia however we do not know how. There may be other unknown immunological factors associated with control.

We had initially hypothesized that the control of viremia in viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles will be as a result of a combination of the following 3 factors:

 Immune responses targeted towards specific epitopes located in highly conserved Gag regions,

2. Viral evolution and/or unusual polymorphisms that affect viral fitness,

3. And highly polyfunctional $CD8^+$ T cells that are capable of inhibiting viral replication *ex vivo*.

We were able to show that indeed HIV control was associated with CD8⁺ T cell responses to Gag; which is the region of the virus that is highly conserved. Although polyfunctionality of CD8⁺ T cells was not associated with viral control in our study, the small sample numbers hampered the statistical significance in this analysis. We were able to demonstrate that the control of viremia was associated with increased viral mutation rates among viremic controllers with protective HLA class I alleles but we did not test whether these mutations affected viral fitness. In agreement with our hypothesis we were able to show that viral control was associated with CD8⁺ T cells capable of inhibiting viral replication as demonstrated in an *ex vivo* assay.

6.8 Limitations of the study

There were some noteworthy limitations in this thesis study. The overall frequency of the $CD8^+$ T cell response may have been underestimated in our study since we only used consensus viral peptides rather than autologous ones, and as noted, this has been shown to underestimate the frequency of virus-specific $CD8^+$ T cells. The cohort was relatively small and limited sample availability at key time points prevented extensive investigations. For example, polyfunctionality, proliferation and viral inhibition assays could only be performed with bulk instead of virus-specific $CD8^+$ T cells due to sample limitations. We also had technical challenges amplifying the *gag* gene from plasma samples with undetectable viral loads.

6.9 Future work

There are a number of directions that one could take from the findings in this thesis.

- i. The loss of CD8⁺ T cells in the absence of viral escape. It would be interesting to determine why these responses were lost despite no evidence of escape. Mechanisms may include changes in the T cell receptor sequences as has been previously documented (352, 353), antigen processing defects of antigen presenting cells (337, 354) and changes in the virus sequence that affect antigen processing (333, 355). Other mechanisms may include T cell exhaustion or continuous immune activation leading to clonal deletion or apoptosis. It is also possible that these CD8⁺ T cells persist but become functionally defective and unable to secrete IFNy. CD8⁺ T cells may also become defective by failure to express molecules associated with long-term survival and memory such as the IL-7R α (356–358). Tetramer staining may help clarify whether this is indeed the case. Other markers that should be studied include T cell exhaustion markers (HLA DR and CD38). To study T cell apoptosis, Annexin V and Propidium Iodide assay may be used.
- ii. The persistence of CD8⁺ T cells despite viral escape. It would be interesting to investigate why some CD8⁺ T cell response to the wild type viral peptide persisted long after escape. It is possible that some wild type viral sequences persist as minor variants and continually stimulate an immune response. Alternatively, the variant peptides may themselves stimulate *de novo* CD8⁺ T cell response that cross-react with the wild type peptide sequence. Whatever the mechanisms, our data suggest that these

persistent CD8⁺ T cells are important and mediate viral control even in the face of viral escape. Our data underline persistence of CD8⁺ T cell responses as an important correlate of viral control among individuals with protective HLA class I alleles.

- iii. Further studies on the mechanisms of viral control among viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles. There is need to investigate the role of cytotoxic and cytolytic activity of CD4⁺ T cells in these individuals (315, 342). It is possible that HIV host restriction factors or differentially expressed replication cofactors may be playing a role in the control of viremia in these individuals. Other innate mechanisms of viral control cannot be ruled out. Therefore further investigations are required.
- iv. To isolate and study the virus and check for infectivity (infectiousness) and competence. It is also possible that the virus in the viremic controllers may be defective virus or have lowered replication fitness (275, 276). This requires further investigation in order to fully determine mechanisms of viral control especially in individuals without protective HLA class I alleles.

6.10 Final remarks

Although ART has been very effective reducing HIV related deaths and morbidities, better strategies to prevent infection are needed and an HIV vaccine would be ideal in cutting the spread of the virus. However, there is still no efficacious preventative vaccine available. For an effective HIV vaccine to be developed, we need to

160

accelerate our efforts and better understand HIV pathogenesis, host-virus interactions, and define clearly the correlates of viral control. A lot can be leant from the long-term non-progressors, elite controllers and viremic controllers. Currently, the mechanisms of natural HIV control without antiretroviral therapy are incompletely understood. The general consensus is that the mechanisms of viral control are multifactorial and may differ between cohorts or populations. However, CD8⁺ T cell responses to Gag have consistently been shown to be a correlate of control in chronic HIV infection. These data suggest that an effective HIV vaccine should elicit CD8⁺ T cell responses to Gag. However, it should be noted that despite association of Gag responses with better control, the majority of HIV infected people eventually progress to full blown disease. Therefore, it is important to understand the mechanisms that lead to loss of Gag specific responses and also how these responses can be enhanced or augmented. We also cannot rule out other important factors, which may enhance the partially effective natural immune responses. This may lead to design of better vaccines.

This thesis contributed to the body of knowledge by providing data on the evolution of immunological and virological events associated with viral control and lack of viral control in chronic HIV-1 subtype C infection in the presence or absence of protective HLA class I alleles. The data indicated that not all CD8⁺ T cell responses among viremic controllers are effective at suppressing viral replication. We were able to demonstrate that while viremic control in individuals with protective HLA class I alleles was associated with broad CD8⁺ T cell responses, viremic control in those without protective HLA class I alleles seemed dependent on alternative mechanisms. Further investigations of what mechanisms these individuals use to sustain controlled viremia are warranted as it may lead to design of better immunogens.

CHPATER 7: REFERENCES

- Friedman-Kien AE, Laubenstein LJ, Rubinstein P, Buimovici-Klein E, Marmor M, Stahl R, Spigland I, Kim KS, Zolla-Pazner S. 1982. Disseminated Kaposi's sarcoma in homosexual men. Ann Intern Med 96:693– 700.
- 2. Hymes KB, Cheung T, Greene JB, Prose NS, Marcus A, Ballard H, William DC, Laubenstein LJ. 1981. Kaposi's sarcoma in homosexual men-a report of eight cases.Lancet.
- 3. Barre-Sinoussi, F., J. C. Chermann et al. 1983. Isolation of a Tlymphotropic retrovirus from a patient at risk for acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). Science (80-) 220(4599):868–71.
- 4. Gallo RC, Sarin PS, Gelmann EP, Robert-Guroff M, Richardson E, Kalyanaraman VS, Mann D, Sidhu GD, Stahl RE, Zolla-Pazner S, Leibowitch J, Popovic M. 1983. Isolation of human T-cell leukemia virus in acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). Science 220:865–867.
- 5. **Popovic M, Sarngadharan MG, Read E, Gallo RC**. 1984. Detection, isolation, and continuous production of cytopathic retroviruses (HTLV-III) from patients with AIDS and pre-AIDS. Science **224**:497–500.
- 6. WHO, UNICEF, UNAIDS. 2011. Global HIV/AIDS Response Progress Report 2011Vasa.
- 7. GLOBAL UPDATE ON THE HEALTH SECTOR RESPONSE TO HIV, 2014.
- 8. FACT SHEET 20150714_FS_MDG6_Report_en.pdf.
- 9. South African National HIV prevalence incidence and Behavioural Survey. 2012. SABSSN IV.indd SABSSM IV LEO final.pdf.

- 10. Garry RF. 1989. Potential mechanisms for the cytopathic properties of HIV. AIDS 3:683–94.
- 11. Levy JA. 1993. HIV pathogenesis and long-term survival. AIDS 7:1401–10.
- 12. Clavel F, Guyader M, Guetard D, Salle M, Montagnier L, Alizon M. 1986. Molecular cloning and polymorphism of the human immune deficiency virus type 2. Nature **324**:691–695.
- 13. Whittle H, Morris J, Todd J, Corrah T, Sabally S, Bangali J, Ngom PT, Rolfe M, Wilkins A. 1994. HIV-2-infected patients survive longer than HIV-1-infected patients.AIDS (London, England).
- 14. Marlink R, Kanki P, Thior I, Travers K, Eisen G, Siby T, Traore I, Hsieh CC, Dia MC, Gueye EH. 1994. Reduced rate of disease development after HIV-2 infection as compared to HIV-1. Science 265:1587–90.
- Jaffar S, Wilkins A, Ngom PT, Sabally S, Corrah T, Bangali JE, Rolfe M, Whittle HC. 1997. Rate of decline of percentage CD4+ cells is faster in HIV-1 than in HIV-2 infection. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 16:327–32.
- Gilbert PB, McKeague IW, Eisen G, Mullins C, Guéye-NDiaye A, Mboup S, Kanki PJ. 2003. Comparison of HIV-1 and HIV-2 infectivity from a prospective cohort study in Senegal. Stat Med 22:573–93.
- 17. **Perrin L, Kaiser L, Yerly S**. 2003. Travel and the spread of HIV-1 genetic variants. Lancet Infect Dis **3**:22–7.
- Vallari A, Holzmayer V, Harris B, Yamaguchi J, Ngansop C, Makamche F, Mbanya D, Kaptué L, Ndembi N, Gürtler L, Devare S, Brennan CA. 2011. Confirmation of putative HIV-1 group P in Cameroon. J Virol 85:1403–7.
- Hemelaar J, Gouws E, Ghys PD, Osmanov S. 2006. Global and regional distribution of HIV-1 genetic subtypes and recombinants in 2004. AIDS 20:W13–W23.

- 20. Vallari A, Bodelle P, Ngansop C, Makamche F, Ndembi N, Mbanya D, Kaptué L, Gürtler LG, McArthur CP, Devare SG, Brennan CA. 2010. Four New HIV-1 Group N Isolates from Cameroon: Prevalence Continues to Be Low. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 26:109–115.
- Worobey M, Gemmel M, Teuwen DE, Haselkorn T, Kunstman K, Bunce M, Muyembe J-J, Kabongo J-MM, Kalengayi RM, Van Marck E, Gilbert MTP, Wolinsky SM. 2008. Direct evidence of extensive diversity of HIV-1 in Kinshasa by 1960. Nature 455:661–4.
- 22. **Spira S**. 2003. Impact of clade diversity on HIV-1 virulence, antiretroviral drug sensitivity and drug resistance. J Antimicrob Chemother **51**:229–240.
- Robertson DL, Anderson JP, Bradac JA, Carr JK, Foley B, Funkhouser RK, Gao F, Hahn BH, Kalish ML, Kuiken C, Learn GH, Leitner T, McCutchan F, Osmanov S, Peeters M, Pieniazek D, Salminen M, Sharp PM, Wolinsky S, Korber B. 2000. HIV-1 nomenclature proposal. Science 288:55–6.
- 24. Geretti AM. 2006. HIV-1 subtypes: epidemiology and significance for HIV management. Curr Opin Infect Dis 19:1–7.
- 25. Hu DJ, Dondero TJ, Rayfield MA, George JR, Schochetman G, Jaffe HW, Luo CC, Kalish ML, Weniger BG, Pau CP, Schable CA, Curran JW. 1996. The emerging genetic diversity of HIV. The importance of global surveillance for diagnostics, research, and prevention. JAMA 275:210–6.
- 26. **Taylor BS, Sobieszczyk ME, McCutchan FE, Hammer SM**. 2008. The challenge of HIV-1 subtype diversity. N Engl J Med **358**:1590–602.
- 27. Novitsky V, Wang R, Lagakos S, Essex M. 2010. HIV-1 Subtype C Phylodynamics in the Global Epidemic. Viruses 2:33–54.
- 28. **Taylor BS, Hammer SM**. 2008. The Challenge of HIV-1 Subtype Diversity. N Engl J Med **359**:1965–1966.

- 29. **Freed EO**. 1998. HIV-1 gag proteins: diverse functions in the virus life cycle. Virology **251**:1–15.
- 30. McGovern SL, Caselli E, Grigorieff N, Shoichet BK. 2002. A common mechanism underlying promiscuous inhibitors from virtual and high-throughput screening. J Med Chem 45:1712–22.
- 31. Turner BG, Summers MF. 1999. Structural biology of HIV. J Mol Biol 285:1–32.
- 32. Wang WK, Chen MY, Chuang CY, Jeang KT, Huang LM. 2000. Molecular biology of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Microbiol Immunol Infect **33**:131–40.
- 33. Arthur LO, Bess JW, Sowder RC, Benveniste RE, Mann DL, Chermann JC, Henderson LE. 1992. Cellular proteins bound to immunodeficiency viruses: implications for pathogenesis and vaccines. Science **258**:1935–8.
- 34. **Smith JA**, **Daniel R**. 2006. Following the path of the virus: the exploitation of host DNA repair mechanisms by retroviruses. ACS Chem Biol 1:217–26.
- 35. Frankel AD, Young JA. 1998. HIV-1: fifteen proteins and an RNA. Annu Rev Biochem 67:1–25.
- 36. **Dayton AI, Sodroski JG, Rosen CA, Goh WC, Haseltine WA**. 1986. The trans-activator gene of the human T cell lymphotropic virus type III is required for replication. Cell **44**:941–7.
- 37. Li L, Dahiya S, Kortagere S, Aiamkitsumrit B, Cunningham D, Pirrone V, Nonnemacher MR, Wigdahl B. 2012. Impact of Tat Genetic Variation on HIV-1 Disease. Adv Virol 2012:123605.
- 38. Stevenson M. 2012. Review of basic science advances in HIV. Top Antivir Med 20:26–29.
- 39. Göttlinger HG, Dorfman T, Sodroski JG, Haseltine WA. 1991. Effect of

mutations affecting the p6 gag protein on human immunodeficiency virus particle release. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **88**:3195–9.

- 40. **Paxton W, Connor RI, Landau NR**. 1993. Incorporation of Vpr into human immunodeficiency virus type 1 virions: requirement for the p6 region of gag and mutational analysis. J Virol **67**:7229–37.
- 41. **Kondo E**, **Göttlinger HG**. 1996. A conserved LXXLF sequence is the major determinant in p6gag required for the incorporation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr. J Virol **70**:159–64.
- 42. Hill M, Tachedjian G, Mak J. 2005. The packaging and maturation of the HIV-1 Pol proteins. Curr HIV Res 3:73–85.
- 43. Freed EO. 2001. HIV-1 replication. Somat Cell Mol Genet 26:13–33.
- 44. Chan DC, Kim PS. 1998. HIV entry and its inhibition. Cell 93:681–684.
- 45. Seelamgari A. 2004. Role of viral regulatory and accessory proteins in HIV-1 replication. Front Biosci 9:2388.
- 46. **Debaisieux S, Rayne F, Yezid H, Beaumelle B**. 2012. The ins and outs of HIV-1 Tat. Traffic **13**:355–63.
- 47. Cochrane A, Kramer R, Ruben S, Levine J, Rosen CA. 1989. The human immunodeficiency virus rev protein is a nuclear phosphoprotein. Virology 171:264–266.
- 48. **Madani N, Kabat D**. 1998. An Endogenous Inhibitor of Human Immunodeficiency Virus in Human Lymphocytes Is Overcome by the Viral Vif Protein. J Virol **72**:10251–10255.
- 49. Sheehy AM, Gaddis NC, Choi JD, Malim MH. 2002. Isolation of a human gene that inhibits HIV-1 infection and is suppressed by the viral Vif protein. Nature 418:646–50.

- 50. Gaddis NC, Chertova E, Sheehy AM, Henderson LE, Malim MH. 2003. Comprehensive Investigation of the Molecular Defect in vif-Deficient Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Virions. J Virol 77:5810–5820.
- 51. **Goncalves J, Santa-Marta M**. 2004. HIV-1 Vif and APOBEC3G: multiple roads to one goal. Retrovirology **1**:28.
- 52. Miller JH, Presnyak V, Smith HC. 2007. The dimerization domain of HIV-1 viral infectivity factor Vif is required to block virion incorporation of APOBEC3G. Retrovirology **4**:81.
- 53. Neil SJD, Zang T, Bieniasz PD. 2008. Tetherin inhibits retrovirus release and is antagonized by HIV-1 Vpu. Nature 451:425–30.
- 54. Nomaguchi M, Fujita M, Adachi A. 2008. Role of HIV-1 Vpu protein for virus spread and pathogenesis. Microbes Infect 10:960–7.
- 55. Chan DC, Fass D, Berger JM, Kim PS. 1997. Core structure of gp41 from the HIV envelope glycoprotein. Cell 89:263–73.
- 56. Arrildt KT, Joseph SB, Swanstrom R. 2012. The HIV-1 env protein: a coat of many colors. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep 9:52–63.
- 57. Berger EA, Doms RW, Fenyö EM, Korber BT, Littman DR, Moore JP, Sattentau QJ, Schuitemaker H, Sodroski J, Weiss RA. 1998. A new classification for HIV-1. Nature.
- 58. Deng H, Liu R, Ellmeier W, Choe S, Unutmaz D, Burkhart M, Di Marzio P, Marmon S, Sutton RE, Hill CM, Davis CB, Peiper SC, Schall TJ, Littman DR, Landau NR. 1996. Identification of a major co-receptor for primary isolates of HIV-1. Nature 381:661–6.
- 59. Coakley E, Petropoulos CJ, Whitcomb JM. 2005. Assessing chemokine coreceptor usage in HIV. Curr Opin Infect Dis 18:9–15.

- Scarlatti G, Tresoldi E, Björndal A, Fredriksson R, Colognesi C, Deng HK, Malnati MS, Plebani A, Siccardi AG, Littman DR, Fenyö EM, Lusso P. 1997. In vivo evolution of HIV-1 co-receptor usage and sensitivity to chemokine-mediated suppression. Nat Med 3:1259–65.
- 61. Zhang L, Huang Y, He T, Cao Y, Ho DD. 1996. HIV-1 subtype and second-receptor use. Nature 383:768.
- 62. Knight SC, Macatonia SE, Patterson S. 1990. HIV I infection of dendritic cells. Int Rev Immunol 6:163–75.
- 63. **Pope M**, **Haase AT**. 2003. Transmission, acute HIV-1 infection and the quest for strategies to prevent infection. Nat Med **9**:847–52.
- 64. Wu L, KewalRamani VN. 2006. Dendritic-cell interactions with HIV: infection and viral dissemination. Nat Rev Immunol 6:859–68.
- Ellery PJ, Tippett E, Chiu Y-L, Paukovics G, Cameron PU, Solomon A, Lewin SR, Gorry PR, Jaworowski A, Greene WC, Sonza S, Crowe SM. 2007. The CD16+ Monocyte Subset Is More Permissive to Infection and Preferentially Harbors HIV-1 In Vivo. J Immunol 178:6581–6589.
- 66. Liu R, Paxton WA, Choe S, Ceradini D, Martin SR, Horuk R, MacDonald ME, Stuhlmann H, Koup RA, Landau NR. 1996. Homozygous defect in HIV-1 coreceptor accounts for resistance of some multiply-exposed individuals to HIV-1 infection. Cell 86:367–77.
- 67. Samson M, Libert F, Doranz BJ, Rucker J, Liesnard C, Farber CM, Saragosti S, Lapoumeroulie C, Cognaux J, Forceille C, Muyldermans G, Verhofstede C, Burtonboy G, Georges M, Imai T, Rana S, Yi Y, Smyth RJ, Collman RG, Doms RW, Vassart G, Parmentier M. 1996. Resistance to HIV-1 infection in caucasian individuals bearing mutant alleles of the CCR-5 chemokine receptor gene. Nature 382:722–5.
- 68. Connor RI, Sheridan KE, Ceradini D, Choe S, Landau NR. 1997. Change in coreceptor use correlates with disease progression in HIV-1--infected individuals. J Exp Med 185:621–8.

- 69. Dean M, Carrington M, Winkler C, Huttley GA, Smith MW, Allikmets R, Goedert JJ, Buchbinder SP, Vittinghoff E, Gomperts E, Donfield S, Vlahov D, Kaslow R, Saah A, Rinaldo C, Detels R, O'Brien SJ. 1996. Genetic restriction of HIV-1 infection and progression to AIDS by a deletion allele of the CKR5 structural gene. Hemophilia Growth and Development Study, Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study, Multicenter Hemophilia Cohort Study, San Francisco City Cohort, ALIVE . Science 273:1856–62.
- 70. **Peterlin BM**, **Trono D**. 2003. Hide, shield and strike back: how HIV-infected cells avoid immune eradication. Nat Rev Immunol **3**:97–107.
- 71. Dalgleish AG, Beverley PC, Clapham PR, Crawford DH, Greaves MF, Weiss RA. 1984. The CD4 (T4) antigen is an essential component of the receptor for the AIDS retrovirus. Nature 312:763–7.
- 72. Klatzmann D, Champagne E, Chamaret S, Gruest J, Guetard D, Hercend T, Gluckman JC, Montagnier L. 1984. T-lymphocyte T4 molecule behaves as the receptor for human retrovirus LAV. Nature **312**:767–8.
- 73. Capon DJ, Ward RH. 1991. The CD4-gp120 interaction and AIDS pathogenesis. Annu Rev Immunol 9:649–78.
- 74. Kwong PD, Wyatt R, Robinson J, Sweet RW, Sodroski J, Hendrickson WA. 1998. Structure of an HIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein in complex with the CD4 receptor and a neutralizing human antibody. Nature **393**:648–59.
- 75. Sattentau QJ, Moore JP. 1991. Conformational changes induced in the human immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein by soluble CD4 binding. J Exp Med 174:407–415.
- 76. Sattentau QJ, Moore JP, Vignaux F, Traincard F, Poignard P. 1993. Conformational changes induced in the envelope glycoproteins of the human and simian immunodeficiency viruses by soluble receptor binding. J Virol 67:7383–7393.
- 77. Rucker J, Edinger a L, Sharron M, Samson M, Lee B, Berson JF, Yi Y, Margulies B, Collman RG, Doranz BJ, Parmentier M, Doms RW. 1997. Utilization of chemokine receptors, orphan receptors, and herpesvirus-encoded receptors by diverse human and simian immunodeficiency viruses. J Virol

71:8999-9007.

- 78. **Moore JP**. 1997. Coreceptors: implications for HIV pathogenesis and therapy. Science **276**:51–2.
- 79. Moore JP, Doms RW. 2003. The entry of entry inhibitors: a fusion of science and medicine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:10598–602.
- 80. Wyatt R, Sodroski J. 1998. The HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins: fusogens, antigens, and immunogens. Science 280:1884–1888.
- 81. **Doms RW**, **Moore JP**. 2000. HIV-1 membrane fusion: targets of opportunity. J Cell Biol **151**:F9–14.
- 82. McKnight A, Griffiths DJ, Dittmar M, Clapham P, Thomas E. 2001. Characterization of a late entry event in the replication cycle of human immunodeficiency virus type 2. J Virol 75:6914–22.
- 83. Murooka TT, Deruaz M, Marangoni F, Vrbanac VD, Seung E, von Andrian UH, Tager AM, Luster AD, Mempel TR. 2012. HIV-infected T cells are migratory vehicles for viral dissemination. Nature **490**:283–7.
- 84. Katz RA, Skalka AM. 1990. Generation of diversity in retroviruses. Annu Rev Genet 24:409–45.
- 85. Zheng Y-H, Lovsin N, Peterlin BM. 2005. Newly identified host factors modulate HIV replication. Immunol Lett 97:225–34.
- 86. **Bebenek K, Abbotts J, Roberts JD, Wilson SH, Kunkel TA**. 1989. Specificity and mechanism of error-prone replication by human immunodeficiency virus-1 reverse transcriptase. J Biol Chem **264**:16948–56.
- 87. Bebenek K, Abbotts J, Wilson SH, Kunkel TA. 1993. Error-prone polymerization by HIV-1 reverse transcriptase. Contribution of template-primer misalignment, miscoding, and termination probability to mutational hot spots. J Biol Chem 268:10324–34.

- 88. **Jonckheere H, Anné J, De Clercq E**. 2000. The HIV-1 reverse transcription (RT) process as target for RT inhibitors. Med Res Rev **20**:129–54.
- 89. Miller MD, Farnet CM, Bushman FD. 1997. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 preintegration complexes: studies of organization and composition. J Virol 71:5382–90.
- 90. **Engelman A**. 2003. The roles of cellular factors in retroviral integration. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol **281**:209–38.
- 91. Adams M, Sharmeen L, Kimpton J, Romeo JM, Garcia J V, Peterlin BM, Groudine M, Emerman M. 1994. Cellular latency in human immunodeficiency virus-infected individuals with high CD4 levels can be detected by the presence of promoter-proximal transcripts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:3862–6.
- 92. Colin L, Van Lint C. 2009. Molecular control of HIV-1 postintegration latency: implications for the development of new therapeutic strategies. Retrovirology 6:111.
- 93. Wei P, Garber ME, Fang SM, Fischer WH, Jones KA. 1998. A novel CDK9-associated C-type cyclin interacts directly with HIV-1 Tat and mediates its high-affinity, loop-specific binding to TAR RNA. Cell 92:451–62.
- 94. Malim MH, Hauber J, Le SY, Maizel J V, Cullen BR. 1989. The HIV-1 rev trans-activator acts through a structured target sequence to activate nuclear export of unspliced viral mRNA. Nature **338**:254–7.
- 95. **Pollard VW**, **Malim MH**. 1998. The HIV-1 Rev protein. Annu Rev Microbiol **52**:491–532.
- 96. Hallenberger S, Bosch V, Angliker H, Shaw E, Klenk HD, Garten W. 1992. Inhibition of furin-mediated cleavage activation of HIV-1 glycoprotein gp160. Nature 360:358–61.

- 97. Stopak K, de Noronha C, Yonemoto W, Greene WC. 2003. HIV-1 Vif blocks the antiviral activity of APOBEC3G by impairing both its translation and intracellular stability. Mol Cell 12:591–601.
- 98. Strebel K, Luban J, Jeang K-T. 2009. Human cellular restriction factors that target HIV-1 replication. BMC Med 7:48.
- 99. Garnier L, Parent LJ, Rovinski B, Cao SX, Wills JW. 1999. Identification of retroviral late domains as determinants of particle size. J Virol **73**:2309–20.
- 100. **Holmberg SD**. 1996. The estimated prevalence and incidence of HIV in 96 large US metropolitan areas. Am J Public Health **86**:642–54.
- 101. Royce RA, Seña A, Cates W, Cohen MS. 1997. Sexual transmission of HIV. N Engl J Med 336:1072–8.
- 102. Gayle H. 2000. An overview of the global HIV/AIDS epidemic, with a focus on the United States. AIDS 14 Suppl 2:S8–17.
- 103. Cardo DM, Culver DH, Ciesielski CA, Srivastava PU, Marcus R, Abiteboul D, Heptonstall J, Ippolito G, Lot F, McKibben PS, Bell DM. 1997. A case-control study of HIV seroconversion in health care workers after percutaneous exposure. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Needlestick Surveillance Group. N Engl J Med 337:1485–90.
- 104. Connor EM, Sperling RS, Gelber R, Kiselev P, Scott G, O'Sullivan MJ, VanDyke R, Bey M, Shearer W, Jacobson RL. 1994. Reduction of maternalinfant transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 with zidovudine treatment. Pediatric AIDS Clinical Trials Group Protocol 076 Study Group. N Engl J Med 331:1173–80.
- 105. Richardson BA, John- Stewart GC, Hughes JP, Nduati R, Mbori- Ngacha D, Overbaugh J, Kreiss JK. 2003. Breast- Milk Infectivity in Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1–Infected Mothers. J Infect Dis 187:736–740.
- 106. Shaffer N, Chuachoowong R, Mock PA, Bhadrakom C, Siriwasin W, Young NL, Chotpitayasunondh T, Chearskul S, Roongpisuthipong A,

Chinayon P, Karon J, Mastro TD, Simonds RJ. 1999. Short-course zidovudine for perinatal HIV-1 transmission in Bangkok, Thailand: a randomised controlled trial. Bangkok Collaborative Perinatal HIV Transmission Study Group. Lancet **353**:773–80.

- 107. Guay LA, Musoke P, Fleming T, Bagenda D, Allen M, Nakabiito C, Sherman J, Bakaki P, Ducar C, Deseyve M, Emel L, Mirochnick M, Fowler MG, Mofenson L, Miotti P, Dransfield K, Bray D, Mmiro F, Jackson JB. 1999. Intrapartum and neonatal single-dose nevirapine compared with zidovudine for prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1 in Kampala, Uganda: HIVNET 012 randomised trial. Lancet 354:795–802.
- 108. Lallemant M, Jourdain G, Le Coeur S, Kim S, Koetsawang S, Comeau AM, Phoolcharoen W, Essex M, McIntosh K, Vithayasai V. 2000. A trial of shortened zidovudine regimens to prevent mother-to-child transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Perinatal HIV Prevention Trial (Thailand) Investigators. N Engl J Med 343:982–91.
- 109. Quinn TC, Wawer MJ, Sewankambo N, Serwadda D, Li C, Wabwire-Mangen F, Meehan MO, Lutalo T, Gray RH. 2000. Viral Load and Heterosexual Transmission of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1. N Engl J Med 342:921–929.
- Ho DD, Byington RE, Schooley RT, Flynn T, Rota TR, Hirsch MS. 1985. Infrequency of isolation of HTLV-III virus from saliva in AIDS. N Engl J Med 313:1606.
- 111. Wofsy CB, Cohen JB, Hauer LB, Padian NS, Michaelis BA, Evans LA, Levy JA. 1986. Isolation of AIDS-associated retrovirus from genital secretions of women with antibodies to the virus. Lancet 1:527–9.
- 112. Hollander H, Levy JA. 1987. Neurologic abnormalities and recovery of human immunodeficiency virus from cerebrospinal fluid. Ann Intern Med 106:692–5.
- 113. Geier S, Gürtler L, Klauß V, Mueller A, Bader L, Eberle J, Bogner J, Kronawitter U, Goebel F-D, Lund O-E. 2008. Unterschiede in der Nachweisbarkeit von Humanem Immunschwäche Virus Typ 1 in Tränenflüssigkeit und Blutlymphozyten. Klin Monbl Augenheilkd 201:164– 168.

- 114. Ilaria G, Jacobs JL, Polsky B, Koll B, Baron P, MacLow C, Armstrong D, Schlegel PN. 1992. Detection of HIV-1 DNA sequences in pre-ejaculatory fluid. Lancet 340:1469.
- 115. Cohen MS, Hoffman IF, Royce RA, Kazembe P, Dyer JR, Daly CC, Zimba D, Vernazza PL, Maida M, Fiscus SA, Eron JJ. 1997. Reduction of concentration of HIV-1 in semen after treatment of urethritis: implications for prevention of sexual transmission of HIV-1. AIDSCAP Malawi Research Group. Lancet 349:1868–73.
- 116. Keele BF, Giorgi EE, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Decker JM, Pham KT, Salazar MG, Sun C, Grayson T, Wang S, Li H, Wei X, Jiang C, Kirchherr JL, Gao F, Anderson JA, Ping L-H, Swanstrom R, Tomaras GD, Blattner WA, Goepfert PA, Kilby JM, Saag MS, Delwart EL, Busch MP, Cohen MS, Montefiori DC, Haynes BF, Gaschen B, Athreya GS, Lee HY, Wood N, Seoighe C, Perelson AS, Bhattacharya T, Korber BT, Hahn BH, Shaw GM. 2008. Identification and characterization of transmitted and early founder virus envelopes in primary HIV-1 infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:7552–7557.
- 117. Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Salazar MG, Keele BF, Learn GH, Giorgi EE, Li H, Decker JM, Wang S, Baalwa J, Kraus MH, Parrish NF, Shaw KS, Guffey MB, Bar KJ, Davis KL, Ochsenbauer-Jambor C, Kappes JC, Saag MS, Cohen MS, Mulenga J, Derdeyn CA, Allen S, Hunter E, Markowitz M, Hraber P, Perelson AS, Bhattacharya T, Haynes BF, Korber BT, Hahn BH, Shaw GM. 2009. Genetic identity, biological phenotype, and evolutionary pathways of transmitted/founder viruses in acute and early HIV-1 infection. J Exp Med 206:1273–1289.
- 118. Fenton-May AE, Dibben O, Emmerich T, Ding H, Pfafferott K, Aasa-Chapman MM, Pellegrino P, Williams I, Cohen MS, Gao F, Shaw GM, Hahn BH, Ochsenbauer C, Kappes JC, Borrow P. 2013. Relative resistance of HIV-1 founder viruses to control by interferon-alpha. Retrovirology 10:146.
- 119. Zhang Z, Schuler T, Zupancic M, Wietgrefe S, Staskus KA, Reimann KA, Reinhart TA, Rogan M, Cavert W, Miller CJ, Veazey RS, Notermans D, Little S, Danner SA, Richman DD, Havlir D, Wong J, Jordan HL, Schacker TW, Racz P, Tenner-Racz K, Letvin NL, Wolinsky S, Haase AT. 1999. Sexual transmission and propagation of SIV and HIV in resting and activated CD4+ T cells. Science 286:1353–7.

- 120. Spira AI, Marx PA, Patterson BK, Mahoney J, Koup RA, Wolinsky SM, Ho DD. 1996. Cellular targets of infection and route of viral dissemination after an intravaginal inoculation of simian immunodeficiency virus into rhesus macaques. J Exp Med 183:215–25.
- 121. **Hladik F**, **Hope TJ**. 2009. HIV infection of the genital mucosa in women. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep 6:20–8.
- 122. Keele BF, Li H, Learn GH, Hraber P, Giorgi EE, Grayson T, Sun C, Chen Y, Yeh WW, Letvin NL, Mascola JR, Nabel GJ, Haynes BF, Bhattacharya T, Perelson AS, Korber BT, Hahn BH, Shaw GM. 2009. Low-dose rectal inoculation of rhesus macaques by SIVsmE660 or SIVmac251 recapitulates human mucosal infection by HIV-1. J Exp Med 206:1117–1134.
- 123. McMichael AJ, Borrow P, Tomaras GD, Goonetilleke N, Haynes BF. 2010. The immune response during acute HIV-1 infection: clues for vaccine development. Nat Rev Immunol 10:11–23.
- 124. **Busch MP**. 1994. HIV and blood transfusions: focus on seroconversion. Vox Sang **67 Suppl 3**:13–8.
- 125. Brenchley JM, Schacker TW, Ruff LE, Price DA, Taylor JH, Beilman GJ, Nguyen PL, Khoruts A, Larson M, Haase AT, Douek DC. 2004. CD4+ T cell depletion during all stages of HIV disease occurs predominantly in the gastrointestinal tract. J Exp Med 200:749–59.
- 126. Vento S, Di Perri G, Garofano T, Concia E, Bassetti D. 1993. Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia during primary HIV-1 infection. Lancet **342**:24–5.
- 127. Gupta KK. 1993. Acute Immunosuppression with HIV Seroconversion. N Engl J Med 328:288–289.
- 128. Hatano H, Vogel S, Yoder C, Metcalf JA, Dewar R, Davey RT, Polis MA. 2000. Pre-HAART HIV burden approximates post-HAART viral levels following interruption of therapy in patients with sustained viral suppression. AIDS 14:1357–63.

- 129. Mellors JW, Rinaldo CR, Gupta P, White RM, Todd JA, Kingsley LA. 1996. Prognosis in HIV-1 infection predicted by the quantity of virus in plasma. Science 272:1167–70.
- 130. Lavreys L, Baeten JM, Chohan V, McClelland RS, Hassan WM, Richardson BA, Mandaliya K, Ndinya-Achola JO, Overbaugh J. 2006. Higher set point plasma viral load and more-severe acute HIV type 1 (HIV-1) illness predict mortality among high-risk HIV-1-infected African women. Clin Infect Dis 42:1333–9.
- 131. Geskus RB, Prins M, Hubert J-B, Miedema F, Berkhout B, Rouzioux C, Delfraissy J-F, Meyer L. 2007. The HIV RNA setpoint theory revisited. Retrovirology 4:65.
- 132. Koup RA, Safrit JT, Cao Y, Andrews CA, Mcleod G, Borkowsky W, Farthing C, Ho DD. 1994. Temporal Association of Cellular Immune Responses with the Initial Control of Viremia in Primary Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Syndrome. Notes 68:4650–4655.
- 133. Borrow P, Lewicki H, Hahn BH, Shaw GM, Oldstone MB. 1994. Virusspecific CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity associated with control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol 68:6103–10.
- 134. Matano T, Shibata R, Siemon C, Connors M, Lane HC, Martin MA. 1998. Administration of an anti-CD8 monoclonal antibody interferes with the clearance of chimeric simian/human immunodeficiency virus during primary infections of rhesus macaques. J Virol 72:164–9.
- 135. Tomaras GD, Yates NL, Liu P, Qin L, Fouda GG, Chavez LL, Decamp AC, Parks RJ, Ashley VC, Lucas JT, Cohen M, Eron J, Hicks CB, Liao H-X, Self SG, Landucci G, Forthal DN, Weinhold KJ, Keele BF, Hahn BH, Greenberg ML, Morris L, Karim SSA, Blattner WA, Montefiori DC, Shaw GM, Perelson AS, Haynes BF. 2008. Initial B-Cell Responses to Transmitted Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1: Virion-Binding Immunoglobulin M (IgM) and IgG Antibodies Followed by Plasma Anti-gp41 Antibodies with Ineffective Control of Initial Viremia. J Virol 82:12449– 12463.

- 136. Loomis-Price LD, Cox JH, Mascola JR, VanCott TC, Michael NL, Fouts TR, Redfield RR, Robb ML, Wahren B, Sheppard HW, Birx DL. 1998. Correlation between humoral responses to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope and disease progression in early-stage infection. J Infect Dis 178:1306–16.
- 137. Cecilia D, Kleeberger C, Muñoz A, Giorgi J V, Zolla-Pazner S. 1999. A longitudinal study of neutralizing antibodies and disease progression in HIV-1-infected subjects. J Infect Dis 179:1365–74.
- 138. Frost SDW, Wrin T, Smith DM, Pond SLK, Liu Y, Paxinos E, Chappey C, Galovich J, Beauchaine J, Petropoulos CJ, Little SJ, Richman DD. 2005. Neutralizing antibody responses drive the evolution of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope during recent HIV infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci 102:18514–18519.
- 139. Dyer JR, Kazembe P, Vernazza PL, Gilliam BL, Maida M, Zimba D, Hoffman IF, Royce RA, Schock JL, Fiscus SA, Cohen MS, Eron JJ. 1998. High levels of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in blood and semen of seropositive men in sub-Saharan Africa. J Infect Dis 177:1742–6.
- 140. Hollingsworth TD, Anderson RM, Fraser C. 2008. HIV-1 transmission, by stage of infection. J Infect Dis 198:687–693.
- 141. Granich RM, Gilks CF, Dye C, De Cock KM, Williams BG. 2009. Universal voluntary HIV testing with immediate antiretroviral therapy as a strategy for elimination of HIV transmission: a mathematical model. Lancet 373:48–57.
- 142. Sabin CA, Devereux H, Phillips AN, Hill A, Janossy G, Lee CA, Loveday C. 2000. Course of viral load throughout HIV-1 infection. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 23:172–7.
- 143. **Douek DC**. 2003. Disrupting T-cell homeostasis: how HIV-1 infection causes disease. AIDS Rev **5**:172–7.
- 144. O'Brien TR, Rosenberg PS, Yellin F, Goedert JJ. 1998. Longitudinal HIV-1 RNA levels in a cohort of homosexual men. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 18:155–61.

- 145. Ho DD, Neumann AU, Perelson AS, Chen W, Leonard JM, Markowitz M. 1995. Rapid turnover of plasma virions and CD4 lymphocytes in HIV-1 infection. Nature 373:123–6.
- 146. Hogan CM, Hammer SM. 2001. Host determinants in HIV infection and disease. Part 1: cellular and humoral immune responses. Ann Intern Med 134:761–76.
- 147. Pantaleo G, Graziosi C, Demarest JF, Butini L, Montroni M, Fox CH, Orenstein JM, Kotler DP, Fauci AS. 1993. HIV infection is active and progressive in lymphoid tissue during the clinically latent stage of disease. Nature 362:355-8.
- 148. Sierra S, Kupfer B, Kaiser R. 2005. Basics of the virology of HIV-1 and its replication. J Clin Virol.
- 149. Goulder PJR, Watkins DI. 2004. HIV and SIV CTL escape: implications for vaccine design. Nat Rev Immunol 4:630–40.
- 150. Mouton Y, Alfandari S, Valette M, Cartier F, Dellamonica P, Humbert G, Lang JM, Massip P, Mechali D, Leclercq P, Modai J, Portier H. 1997. Impact of protease inhibitors on AIDS-defining events and hospitalizations in 10 French AIDS reference centres. Fédération National des Centres de Lutte contre le SIDA. AIDS 11:F101–5.
- 151. Palella FJ, Delaney KM, Moorman AC, Loveless MO, Fuhrer J, Satten GA, Aschman DJ, Holmberg SD. 1998. Declining morbidity and mortality among patients with advanced human immunodeficiency virus infection. HIV Outpatient Study Investigators. N Engl J Med 338:853–60.
- 152. UNAIDS. 2013. GLOBAL REPORT: UNAIDS report on the global AIDS epidemic 2013UNAIDS.
- 153. Weller I V, Williams IG. 2001. ABC of AIDS. Antiretroviral drugs. BMJ 322:1410–2.

- 154. Bean P. 2005. New drug targets for HIV. Clin Infect Dis 41 Suppl 1:S96–100.
- 155. **Hazuda DJ**. 2000. Inhibitors of Strand Transfer That Prevent Integration and Inhibit HIV-1 Replication in Cells. Science (80-) **287**:646–650.
- 156. Arts EJ, Hazuda DJ. 2012. HIV-1 antiretroviral drug therapy. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2:a007161.
- 157. Eggink D, Berkhout B, Sanders RW. 2010. Inhibition of HIV-1 by fusion inhibitors. Curr Pharm Des 16:3716–28.
- 158. Briz V, Poveda E, Soriano V. 2006. HIV entry inhibitors: mechanisms of action and resistance pathways. J Antimicrob Chemother 57:619–27.
- 159. Lieberman-Blum SS, Fung HB, Bandres JC. 2008. Maraviroc: a CCR5receptor antagonist for the treatment of HIV-1 infection. Clin Ther **30**:1228– 50.
- 160. **WHO**. 2013. WHO | Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection.
- 161. Korber B, Gaschen B, Yusim K, Thakallapally R, Kesmir C, Detours V. 2001. Evolutionary and immunological implications of contemporary HIV-1 variation. Br Med Bull.
- 162. Ndung'u T, Weiss RA. 2012. On HIV diversity. AIDS 26:1255–60.
- 163. Barré-Sinoussi F, Ross AL, Delfraissy J-F. 2013. Past, present and future: 30 years of HIV research. Nat Rev Microbiol 11:877–83.
- Shan L, Siliciano RF. 2013. From reactivation of latent HIV-1 to elimination of the latent reservoir: the presence of multiple barriers to viral eradication. Bioessays 35:544–52.

- Chun T-W, Finzi D, Margolick J, Chadwick K, Schwartz D, Siliciano RF. 1995. In vivo fate of HIV-1-infected T cells: Quantitative analysis of the transition to stable latency. Nat Med 1:1284–1290.
- 166. Chun TW, Stuyver L, Mizell SB, Ehler LA, Mican JA, Baseler M, Lloyd AL, Nowak MA, Fauci AS. 1997. Presence of an inducible HIV-1 latent reservoir during highly active antiretroviral therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:13193–7.
- 167. **Finzi D**. 1997. Identification of a Reservoir for HIV-1 in Patients on Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy. Science (80-) **278**:1295–1300.
- 168. **Wong JK**. 1997. Recovery of Replication-Competent HIV Despite Prolonged Suppression of Plasma Viremia. Science (80-) **278**:1291–1295.
- 169. Lehrman G, Hogue IB, Palmer S, Jennings C, Spina CA, Wiegand A, Landay AL, Coombs RW, Richman DD, Mellors JW, Coffin JM, Bosch RJ, Margolis DM. 2005. Depletion of latent HIV-1 infection in vivo: a proofof-concept study. Lancet 366:549–55.
- 170. Archin NM, Liberty AL, Kashuba AD, Choudhary SK, Kuruc JD, Crooks AM, Parker DC, Anderson EM, Kearney MF, Strain MC, Richman DD, Hudgens MG, Bosch RJ, Coffin JM, Eron JJ, Hazuda DJ, Margolis DM. 2012. Administration of vorinostat disrupts HIV-1 latency in patients on antiretroviral therapy. Nature 487:482–5.
- 171. McMichael AJ, Koff WC. 2014. Vaccines that stimulate T cell immunity to HIV-1: the next step. Nat Immunol 15:319–22.
- 172. **Barouch DH**. 2008. Challenges in the development of an HIV-1 vaccine. Nature **455**:613–619.
- 173. McElrath MJ. 2010. Immune responses to HIV vaccines and potential impact on control of acute HIV-1 infection. J Infect Dis **202 Suppl** :S323–S326.
- 174. Gray GE, Allen M, Moodie Z, Churchyard G, Bekker L-G, Nchabeleng M, Mlisana K, Metch B, de Bruyn G, Latka MH, Roux S, Mathebula M,

Naicker N, Ducar C, Carter DK, Puren A, Eaton N, McElrath MJ, Robertson M, Corey L, Kublin JG. 2011. Safety and efficacy of the HVTN 503/Phambili study of a clade-B-based HIV-1 vaccine in South Africa: a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled test-of-concept phase 2b study. Lancet Infect Dis 11:507–15.

- 175. McElrath MJ, De Rosa SC, Moodie Z, Dubey S, Kierstead L, Janes H, Defawe OD, Carter DK, Hural J, Akondy R, Buchbinder SP, Robertson MN, Mehrotra D V, Self SG, Corey L, Shiver JW, Casimiro DR. 2008. HIV-1 vaccine-induced immunity in the test-of-concept Step Study: a casecohort analysis. Lancet 372:1894–905.
- 176. McElrath MJ, De Rosa SC, Moodie Z, Dubey S, Kierstead L, Janes H, Defawe OD, Carter DK, Hural J, Akondy R, Buchbinder SP, Robertson MN, Mehrotra D V., Self SG, Corey L, Shiver JW, Casimiro DR. 2008. HIV-1 vaccine-induced immunity in the test-of-concept Step Study: a casecohort analysis. Lancet 372:1894–1905.
- 177. Gray G, Buchbinder S, Duerr A. 2010. Overview of STEP and Phambili trial results: two phase IIb test-of-concept studies investigating the efficacy of MRK adenovirus type 5 gag/pol/nef subtype B HIV vaccine. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 5:357–61.
- 178. Gray GE, Moodie Z, Metch B, Gilbert PB, Bekker L-G, Churchyard G, Nchabeleng M, Mlisana K, Laher F, Roux S, Mngadi K, Innes C, Mathebula M, Allen M, McElrath MJ, Robertson M, Kublin J, Corey L. 2014. Recombinant adenovirus type 5 HIV gag/pol/nef vaccine in South Africa: unblinded, long-term follow-up of the phase 2b HVTN 503/Phambili study. Lancet Infect Dis 14:388–96.
- 179. Rerks-Ngarm S, Pitisuttithum P, Nitayaphan S, Kaewkungwal J, Chiu J, Paris R, Premsri N, Namwat C, de Souza M, Adams E, Benenson M, Gurunathan S, Tartaglia J, McNeil JG, Francis DP, Stablein D, Birx DL, Chunsuttiwat S, Khamboonruang C, Thongcharoen P, Robb ML, Michael NL, Kunasol P, Kim JH. 2009. Vaccination with ALVAC and AIDSVAX to prevent HIV-1 infection in Thailand. N Engl J Med 361:2209–20.
- 180. Haynes BF, Gilbert PB, McElrath MJ, Zolla-Pazner S, Tomaras GD, Alam SM, Evans DT, Montefiori DC, Karnasuta C, Sutthent R, Liao H-X, DeVico AL, Lewis GK, Williams C, Pinter A, Fong Y, Janes H, DeCamp A, Huang Y, Rao M, Billings E, Karasavvas N, Robb ML, Ngauy V, de

Souza MS, Paris R, Ferrari G, Bailer RT, Soderberg KA, Andrews C, Berman PW, Frahm N, De Rosa SC, Alpert MD, Yates NL, Shen X, Koup RA, Pitisuttithum P, Kaewkungwal J, Nitayaphan S, Rerks-Ngarm S, Michael NL, Kim JH. 2012. Immune-correlates analysis of an HIV-1 vaccine efficacy trial. N Engl J Med 366:1275–86.

- 181. Hansen SG, Ford JC, Lewis MS, Ventura AB, Hughes CM, Coyne-Johnson L, Whizin N, Oswald K, Shoemaker R, Swanson T, Legasse AW, Chiuchiolo MJ, Parks CL, Axthelm MK, Nelson JA, Jarvis MA, Piatak M, Lifson JD, Picker LJ. 2011. Profound early control of highly pathogenic SIV by an effector memory T-cell vaccine. Nature 473:523–7.
- 182. Hansen SG, Sacha JB, Hughes CM, Ford JC, Burwitz BJ, Scholz I, Gilbride RM, Lewis MS, Gilliam AN, Ventura AB, Malouli D, Xu G, Richards R, Whizin N, Reed JS, Hammond KB, Fischer M, Turner JM, Legasse AW, Axthelm MK, Edlefsen PT, Nelson JA, Lifson JD, Früh K, Picker LJ. 2013. Cytomegalovirus vectors violate CD8+ T cell epitope recognition paradigms. Science 340:1237874.
- 183. Borrow P, Bhardwaj N. 2008. Innate immune responses in primary HIV-1 infection. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 3:36–44.
- 184. McMichael AJ, Borrow P, Tomaras GD, Goonetilleke N, Haynes BF. 2010. The immune response during acute HIV-1 infection: clues for vaccine development. Nat Rev Immunol 10:11–23.
- 185. Alter G, Teigen N, Ahern R, Streeck H, Meier A, Rosenberg ES, Altfeld M. 2007. Evolution of innate and adaptive effector cell functions during acute HIV-1 infection. J Infect Dis 195:1452–1460.
- 186. Carrington M, Alter G. 2012. Innate immune control of HIV. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2:a007070.
- 187. Carrington M, Alter G. 2012. Innate immune control of HIV. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- 188. Alter G, Rihn S, Walter K, Nolting A, Martin M, Rosenberg ES, Miller JS, Carrington M, Altfeld M. 2009. HLA class I subtype-dependent expansion of KIR3DS1+ and KIR3DL1+ NK cells during acute human immunodeficiency

virus type 1 infection. J Virol 83:6798-805.

- 189. Lodoen MB, Lanier LL. 2005. Viral modulation of NK cell immunity. Nat Rev Microbiol 3:59–69.
- 190. Le Gall S, Erdtmann L, Benichou S, Berlioz-Torrent C, Liu L, Benarous R, Heard J-M, Schwartz O. 1998. Nef Interacts with the μ Subunit of Clathrin Adaptor Complexes and Reveals a Cryptic Sorting Signal in MHC I Molecules. Immunity 8:483–495.
- 191. Schwartz O, Maréchal V, Gall S Le, Lemonnier F, Heard J-M. 1996. Endocytosis of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules is induced by the HIV–1 Nef protein. Nat Med 2:338–342.
- 192. Cohen GB, Gandhi RT, Davis DM, Mandelboim O, Chen BK, Strominger JL, Baltimore D. 1999. The Selective Downregulation of Class I Major Histocompatibility Complex Proteins by HIV-1 Protects HIV-Infected Cells from NK Cells. Immunity 10:661–671.
- 193. Banchereau J, Briere F, Caux C, Davoust J, Lebecque S, Liu YJ, Pulendran B, Palucka K. 2000. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 18:767–811.
- 194. McKenna K, Beignon A-S, Bhardwaj N. 2005. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells: linking innate and adaptive immunity. J Virol **79**:17–27.
- 195. Beignon A-S, McKenna K, Skoberne M, Manches O, DaSilva I, Kavanagh DG, Larsson M, Gorelick RJ, Lifson JD, Bhardwaj N. 2005. Endocytosis of HIV-1 activates plasmacytoid dendritic cells via Toll-like receptor-viral RNA interactions. J Clin Invest 115:3265–75.
- 196. Soumelis V, Scott I, Gheyas F, Bouhour D, Cozon G, Cotte L, Huang L, Levy JA, Liu YJ. 2001. Depletion of circulating natural type 1 interferonproducing cells in HIV-infected AIDS patients. Blood **98**:906–12.
- 197. Feldman S, Stein D, Amrute S, Denny T, Garcia Z, Kloser P, Sun Y, Megjugorac N, Fitzgerald-Bocarsly P. 2001. Decreased interferon-alpha

production in HIV-infected patients correlates with numerical and functional deficiencies in circulating type 2 dendritic cell precursors. Clin Immunol **101**:201–10.

- 198. Chehimi J, Campbell DE, Azzoni L, Bacheller D, Papasavvas E, Jerandi G, Mounzer K, Kostman J, Trinchieri G, Montaner LJ. 2002. Persistent decreases in blood plasmacytoid dendritic cell number and function despite effective highly active antiretroviral therapy and increased blood myeloid dendritic cells in HIV-infected individuals. J Immunol 168:4796–801.
- 199. Manches O, Frleta D, Bhardwaj N. 2014. Dendritic cells in progression and pathology of HIV infection. Trends Immunol **35**:114–22.
- 200. Deeks SG, Schweighardt B, Wrin T, Galovich J, Hoh R, Sinclair E, Hunt P, McCune JM, Martin JN, Petropoulos CJ, Hecht FM. 2006. Neutralizing antibody responses against autologous and heterologous viruses in acute versus chronic human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection: evidence for a constraint on the ability of HIV to completely evade neutralizing antibody responses. J Virol 80:6155–64.
- 201. Gray ES, Moore PL, Choge IA, Decker JM, Bibollet-Ruche F, Li H, Leseka N, Treurnicht F, Mlisana K, Shaw GM, Karim SSA, Williamson C, Morris L. 2007. Neutralizing antibody responses in acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C infection. J Virol 81:6187–96.
- 202. Richman DD, Wrin T, Little SJ, Petropoulos CJ. 2003. Rapid evolution of the neutralizing antibody response to HIV type 1 infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:4144–9.
- 203. Wei X, Decker JM, Wang S, Hui H, Kappes JC, Wu X, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Salazar MG, Kilby JM, Saag MS, Komarova NL, Nowak MA, Hahn BH, Kwong PD, Shaw GM. 2003. Antibody neutralization and escape by HIV-1. Nature 422:307–12.
- 204. Gray ES, Madiga MC, Hermanus T, Moore PL, Wibmer CK, Tumba NL, Werner L, Mlisana K, Sibeko S, Williamson C, Abdool Karim SS, Morris L. 2011. The neutralization breadth of HIV-1 develops incrementally over four years and is associated with CD4+ T cell decline and high viral load during acute infection. J Virol 85:4828–40.

- 205. Shibata R, Igarashi T, Haigwood N, Buckler-White A, Ogert R, Ross W, Willey R, Cho MW, Martin MA. 1999. Neutralizing antibody directed against the HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein can completely block HIV-1/SIV chimeric virus infections of macaque monkeys. Nat Med 5:204–10.
- 206. Alter G, Moody MA. 2010. The humoral response to HIV-1: new insights, renewed focus. J Infect Dis 202 Suppl :S315–S322.
- 207. **Zolla-Pazner S**. 2004. Identifying epitopes of HIV-1 that induce protective antibodies. Nat Rev Immunol 4:199–210.
- 208. Klein F, Mouquet H, Dosenovic P, Scheid JF, Scharf L, Nussenzweig MC. 2013. Antibodies in HIV-1 vaccine development and therapy. Science 341:1199–204.
- 209. Simek MD, Rida W, Priddy FH, Pung P, Carrow E, Laufer DS, Lehrman JK, Boaz M, Tarragona-Fiol T, Miiro G, Birungi J, Pozniak A, McPhee DA, Manigart O, Karita E, Inwoley A, Jaoko W, DeHovitz J, Bekker L-G, Pitisuttithum P, Paris R, Walker LM, Poignard P, Wrin T, Fast PE, Burton DR, Koff WC. 2009. Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Elite Neutralizers: Individuals with Broad and Potent Neutralizing Activity Identified by Using a High-Throughput Neutralization Assay together with an Analytical Selection Algorithm. J Virol 83:7337–7348.
- 210. Stamatatos L, Morris L, Burton DR, Mascola JR. 2009. Neutralizing antibodies generated during natural HIV-1 infection: good news for an HIV-1 vaccine? Nat Med 15:866–70.
- 211. Mouquet H. 2014. Antibody B cell responses in HIV-1 infection. Trends Immunol 35:549-61.
- 212. **Zolla-Pazner S**. 2014. A critical question for HIV vaccine development: which antibodies to induce? Science **345**:167–8.
- 213. **Malim MH**, **Bieniasz PD**. 2012. HIV Restriction Factors and Mechanisms of Evasion. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2:a006940.

- 214. Mariani R, Chen D, Schröfelbauer B, Navarro F, König R, Bollman B, Münk C, Nymark-McMahon H, Landau NR. 2003. Species-specific exclusion of APOBEC3G from HIV-1 virions by Vif. Cell 114:21–31.
- 215. Zhang H, Yang B, Pomerantz RJ, Zhang C, Arunachalam SC, Gao L. 2003. The cytidine deaminase CEM15 induces hypermutation in newly synthesized HIV-1 DNA. Nature 424:94–8.
- 216. Harris RS. 2008. Enhancing immunity to HIV through APOBEC. Nat Biotechnol 26:1089–1090.
- 217. **Goff SP**. 2003. Death by deamination: a novel host restriction system for HIV-1. Cell **114**:281–3.
- 218. Yu X, Yu Y, Liu B, Luo K, Kong W, Mao P, Yu X-F. 2003. Induction of APOBEC3G ubiquitination and degradation by an HIV-1 Vif-Cul5-SCF complex. Science **302**:1056–60.
- 219. Reymond A, Meroni G, Fantozzi A, Merla G, Cairo S, Luzi L, Riganelli D, Zanaria E, Messali S, Cainarca S, Guffanti A, Minucci S, Pelicci PG, Ballabio A. 2001. The tripartite motif family identifies cell compartments. EMBO J 20:2140–51.
- Stremlau M, Owens CM, Perron MJ, Kiessling M, Autissier P, Sodroski J. 2004. The cytoplasmic body component TRIM5alpha restricts HIV-1 infection in Old World monkeys. Nature 427:848–53.
- 221. Ohkura S, Goldstone DC, Yap MW, Holden-Dye K, Taylor IA, Stoye JP. 2011. Novel escape mutants suggest an extensive TRIM5α binding site spanning the entire outer surface of the murine leukemia virus capsid protein. PLoS Pathog 7:e1002011.
- 222. Fellay J, Shianna K V, Ge D, Colombo S, Ledergerber B, Weale M, Zhang K, Gumbs C, Castagna A, Cossarizza A, Cozzi-Lepri A, De Luca A, Easterbrook P, Francioli P, Mallal S, Martinez-Picado J, Miro JM, Obel N, Smith JP, Wyniger J, Descombes P, Antonarakis SE, Letvin NL, McMichael AJ, Haynes BF, Telenti A, Goldstein DB. 2007. A whole-

genome association study of major determinants for host control of HIV-1. Science **317**:944–947.

Perevra F, Jia X, McLaren PJ, Telenti a., de Bakker PIW, Walker BD, 223. Ripke S, Brumme CJ, Pulit SL, Carrington M, Kadie CM, Carlson JM, Heckerman D, Graham RR, Plenge RM, Deeks SG, Gianniny L, Crawford G, Sullivan J, Gonzalez E, Davies L, Camargo a., Moore JM, Beattie N, Gupta S, Crenshaw a., Burtt NP, Guiducci C, Gupta N, Gao X, Qi Y, Yuki Y, Piechocka-Trocha a., Cutrell E, Rosenberg R, Moss KL, Lemay P, O'Leary J, Schaefer T, Verma P, Toth I, Block B, Baker B, Rothchild a., Lian J, Proudfoot J, Alvino DML, Vine S, Addo MM, Allen TM, Altfeld M, Henn MR, Le Gall S, Streeck H, Haas DW, Kuritzkes DR, Robbins GK, Shafer RW, Gulick RM, Shikuma CM, Haubrich R, Riddler S, Sax PE, Daar ES, Ribaudo HJ, Agan B, Agarwal S, Ahern RL, Allen BL, Altidor S, Altschuler EL, Ambardar S, Anastos K, Anderson B, Anderson V, Andrady U, Antoniskis D, Bangsberg D, Barbaro D, Barrie W, Bartczak J, Barton S, Basden P, Basgoz N, Bazner S, Bellos NC, Benson a. M, Berger J, Bernard NF, Bernard a. M, Birch C, Bodner SJ, Bolan RK, Boudreaux ET, Bradley M, Braun JF, Brndjar JE, Brown J, Brown K, Brown ST, Burack J, Bush LM, Cafaro V, Campbell O, Campbell J, Carlson RH, Carmichael JK, Casey KK, Cavacuiti C, Celestin G, Chambers ST, Chez N, Chirch LM, Cimoch PJ, Cohen D, Cohn LE, Conway B, Cooper D a., Cornelson B, Cox DT, Cristofano M V., Cuchural G, Czartoski JL, Dahman JM, Daly JS, Davis BT, Davis K, Davod SM, DeJesus E, Dietz C a., Dunham E, Dunn ME, Ellerin TB, Eron JJ, Fangman JJW, Farel CE, Ferlazzo H, Fidler S, Fleenor-Ford a., Frankel R, Freedberg K a., French NK, Fuchs JD, Fuller JD, Gaberman J, Gallant JE, Gandhi RT, Garcia E, Garmon D, Gathe JC, Gaultier CR, Gebre W, Gilman FD, Gilson I, Goepfert P a., Gottlieb MS, Goulston C, Groger RK, Gurley TD, Haber S, Hardwicke R, Hardy WD, Harrigan PR, Hawkins TN, Heath S, Hecht FM, Henry WK, Hladek M, Hoffman RP, Horton JM, Hsu RK, Huhn GD, Hunt P, Hupert MJ, Illeman ML, Jaeger H, Jellinger RM, John M, Johnson J a., Johnson KL, Johnson H, Johnson K, Joly J, Jordan WC, Kauffman C a., Khanlou H, Killian RK, Kim a. Y, Kim DD, Kinder C a., Kirchner JT, Kogelman L, Kojic EM, Korthuis PT, Kurisu W, Kwon DS, LaMar M, Lampiris H, Lanzafame M, Lederman MM, Lee DM, Lee JML, Lee MJ, Lee ETY, Lemoine J, Levy J a., Llibre JM, Liguori M a., Little SJ, Liu a. Y, Lopez a. J, Loutfy MR, Loy D, Mohammed DY, Man a., Mansour MK, Marconi VC, Markowitz M, Marques R, Martin JN, Martin HL, Mayer KH, McElrath MJ, McGhee T a., McGovern BH, McGowan K, McIntyre D, Mcleod GX, Menezes P, Mesa G, Metroka CE, Meyer-Olson D, Miller a. O, Montgomery K, Mounzer KC, Nagami EH, Nagin I, Nahass RG, Nelson MO, Nielsen C, Norene DL, O'Connor DH, Ojikutu BO, Okulicz J, Oladehin OO, Oldfield EC, Olender S a., Ostrowski M, Owen WF, Pae E, Parsonnet J, Pavlatos a. M, Perlmutter a. M, Pierce MN, Pincus JM, Pisani L, Price LJ, Proia L, Prokesch RC, Pujet HC, Ramgopal M, Rathod a., Rausch M, Ravishankar J, Rhame FS, Richards CS, Richman DD, Rodes B, Rodriguez M, Rose RC, Rosenberg ES, Rosenthal D, Ross PE, Rubin DS,

Rumbaugh E, Saenz L, Salvaggio MR, Sanchez WC, Sanjana VM, Santiago S, Schmidt W, Schuitemaker H, Sestak PM, Shalit P, Shay W, Shirvani VN, Silebi VI, Sizemore JM, Skolnik PR, Sokol-Anderson M, Sosman JM, Stabile P, Stapleton JT, Starrett S, Stein F, Stellbrink H-J, Sterman FL, Stone VE, Stone DR, Tambussi G, Taplitz R a., Tedaldi EM, Theisen W, Torres R, Tosiello L, Tremblay C, Tribble M a., Trinh PD, Tsao a., Ueda P, Vaccaro a., Valadas E, Vanig TJ, Vecino I, Vega VM, Veikley W, Wade BH, Walworth C, Wanidworanun C, Ward DJ, Warner D a., Weber RD, Webster D, Weis S, Wheeler D a., White DJ, Wilkins E, Winston a., Wlodaver CG, van't Wout a., Wright DP, Yang OO, Yurdin DL, Zabukovic BW, Zachary KC, Zeeman B, Zhao M. 2010. The Major Genetic Determinants of HIV-1 Control Affect HLA Class I Peptide Presentation. Science (80-) 1551.

- 224. **Hewitt EW**. 2003. The MHC class I antigen presentation pathway: strategies for viral immune evasion. Immunology **110**:163–9.
- 225. Unanue ER, Cerottini JC. 1989. Antigen presentation. FASEB J 3:2496–502.
- 226. Burrows JM, Wynn KK, Tynan FE, Archbold J, Miles JJ, Bell MJ, Brennan RM, Walker S, McCluskey J, Rossjohn J, Khanna R, Burrows SR. 2007. The impact of HLA-B micropolymorphism outside primary peptide anchor pockets on the CTL response to CMV. Eur J Immunol 37:946–53.
- 227. Carlson JM, Le AQ, Shahid A, Brumme ZL. 2015. HIV-1 adaptation to HLA: a window into virus-host immune interactions. Trends Microbiol.
- 228. Goulder PJR, Watkins DI. 2008. Impact of MHC class I diversity on immune control of immunodeficiency virus replication. Nat Rev Immunol 8:619–30.
- 229. Carrington M, Martin MP, van Bergen J. 2008. KIR-HLA intercourse in HIV disease. Trends Microbiol.
- 230. Douek DC, Brenchley JM, Betts MR, Ambrozak DR, Hill BJ, Okamoto Y, Casazza JP, Kuruppu J, Kunstman K, Wolinsky S, Grossman Z, Dybul M, Oxenius A, Price DA, Connors M, Koup RA. 2002. HIV preferentially infects HIV-specific CD4+ T cells. Nature 417:95–98.
- 231. Koup RA, Safrit JT, Cao Y, Andrews CA, McLeod G, Borkowsky W,

Farthing C, Ho DD. 1994. Temporal association of cellular immune responses with the initial control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 syndrome. J Virol **68**:4650–5.

- 232. Goonetilleke N, Liu MKP, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Ferrari G, Giorgi E, Ganusov V V, Keele BF, Learn GH, Turnbull EL, Salazar MG, Weinhold KJ, Moore S, Letvin N, Haynes BF, Cohen MS, Hraber P, Bhattacharya T, Borrow P, Perelson AS, Hahn BH, Shaw GM, Korber BT, McMichael AJ. 2009. The first T cell response to transmitted/founder virus contributes to the control of acute viremia in HIV-1 infection. J Exp Med 206:1253–1272.
- 233. Radebe M, Nair K, Chonco F, Bishop K, Wright JK, van der Stok M, Bassett I V., Mncube Z, Altfeld M, Walker BD, Ndung'u T. 2011. Limited Immunogenicity of HIV CD8+ T-Cell Epitopes in Acute Clade C Virus Infection. J Infect Dis 204:768–776.
- 234. Draenert R, Le Gall S, Pfafferott KJ, Leslie AJ, Chetty P, Brander C, Holmes EC, Chang S, Feeney ME, Addo MM, Ruiz L, Ramduth D, Jeena P, Altfeld M, Thomas S, Tang Y, Verrill CL, Dixon C, Prado JG, Kiepiela P, Martinez-Picado J, Walker BD, Goulder PJR. 2004. Immune selection for altered antigen processing leads to cytotoxic T lymphocyte escape in chronic HIV-1 infection. J Exp Med 199:905–915.
- 235. Betts MR, Nason MC, West SM, De Rosa SC, Migueles SA, Abraham J, Lederman MM, Benito JM, Goepfert PA, Connors M, Roederer M, Koup RA. 2006. HIV nonprogressors preferentially maintain highly functional HIVspecific CD8+ T cells. Blood 107:4781–4789.
- 236. Hersperger AR, Pereyra F, Nason M, Demers K, Sheth P, Shin LY, Kovacs CM, Rodriguez B, Sieg SF, Teixeira-Johnson L, Gudonis D, Goepfert PA, Lederman MM, Frank I, Makedonas G, Kaul R, Walker BD, Betts MR. 2010. Perforin expression directly ex vivo by HIV-specific CD8+ T-cells is a correlate of HIV elite control. PLoS Pathog 6:1–13.
- 237. Schmitz JE, Kuroda MJ, Santra S, Sasseville VG, Simon MA, Lifton MA, Racz P, Tenner-Racz K, Dalesandro M, Scallon BJ, Ghrayeb J, Forman MA, Montefiori DC, Rieber EP, Letvin NL, Reimann KA. 1999. Control of viremia in simian immunodeficiency virus infection by CD8+ lymphocytes. Science 283:857–860.

- 238. Jin X, Bauer DE, Tuttleton SE, Lewin S, Gettie A, Blanchard J, Irwin CE, Safrit JT, Mittler J, Weinberger L, Kostrikis LG, Zhang L, Perelson AS, Ho DD. 1999. Dramatic rise in plasma viremia after CD8(+) T cell depletion in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected macaques. J Exp Med 189:991–8.
- 239. Barouch DH, Santra S, Schmitz JE, Kuroda MJ, Fu TM, Wagner W, Bilska M, Craiu A, Zheng XX, Krivulka GR, Beaudry K, Lifton MA, Nickerson CE, Trigona WL, Punt K, Freed DC, Guan L, Dubey S, Casimiro D, Simon A, Davies ME, Chastain M, Strom TB, Gelman RS, Montefiori DC, Lewis MG, Emini EA, Shiver JW, Letvin NL. 2000. Control of viremia and prevention of clinical AIDS in rhesus monkeys by cytokine-augmented DNA vaccination. Science 290:486–92.
- 240. Barouch DH, Santra S, Kuroda MJ, Schmitz JE, Plishka R, Buckler-White A, Gaitan AE, Zin R, Nam JH, Wyatt LS, Lifton MA, Nickerson CE, Moss B, Montefiori DC, Hirsch VM, Letvin NL. 2001. Reduction of simian-human immunodeficiency virus 89.6P viremia in rhesus monkeys by recombinant modified vaccinia virus Ankara vaccination. J Virol 75:5151–8.
- 241. Amara RR, Villinger F, Altman JD, Lydy SL, O'Neil SP, Staprans SI, Montefiori DC, Xu Y, Herndon JG, Wyatt LS, Candido MA, Kozyr NL, Earl PL, Smith JM, Ma HL, Grimm BD, Hulsey ML, Miller J, McClure HM, McNicholl JM, Moss B, Robinson HL. 2001. Control of a mucosal challenge and prevention of AIDS by a multiprotein DNA/MVA vaccine. Science 292:69-74.
- 242. Barouch DH, Liu J, Li H, Maxfield LF, Abbink P, Lynch DM, Iampietro MJ, SanMiguel A, Seaman MS, Ferrari G, Forthal DN, Ourmanov I, Hirsch VM, Carville A, Mansfield KG, Stablein D, Pau MG, Schuitemaker H, Sadoff JC, Billings EA, Rao M, Robb ML, Kim JH, Marovich MA, Goudsmit J, Michael NL. 2012. Vaccine protection against acquisition of neutralization-resistant SIV challenges in rhesus monkeys. Nature 482:89–93.
- 243. Betts MR, Ambrozak DR, Douek DC, Bonhoeffer S, Brenchley JM, Casazza JP, Koup RA, Picker LJ. 2001. Analysis of total human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-specific CD4(+) and CD8(+) T-cell responses: relationship to viral load in untreated HIV infection. J Virol 75:11983–91.
- 244. Benito JM, López M, Lozano S, Martinez P, Kuroda M, González-Lahoz J, Soriano V. 2003. Phenotype and functional characteristics of HIV-specific cytotoxic CD8+ T cells in chronically infected patients: dual effects of highly
active antiretroviral therapy. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 34:255-66.

- 245. Sáez-Cirión A, Lacabaratz C, Lambotte O, Versmisse P, Urrutia A, Boufassa F, Barré-Sinoussi F, Delfraissy J-F, Sinet M, Pancino G, Venet A. 2007. HIV controllers exhibit potent CD8 T cell capacity to suppress HIV infection ex vivo and peculiar cytotoxic T lymphocyte activation phenotype. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:6776–81.
- 246. Yang OO, Kalams SA, Rosenzweig M, Trocha A, Jones N, Koziel M, Walker BD, Johnson RP. 1996. Efficient lysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected cells by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Virol 70:5799–806.
- 247. Yang OO, Kalams SA, Trocha A, Cao H, Luster A, Johnson RP, Walker BD. 1997. Suppression of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication by CD8+ cells: evidence for HLA class I-restricted triggering of cytolytic and noncytolytic mechanisms. J Virol 71:3120–3128.
- 248. Goulder PJ, Phillips RE, Colbert RA, McAdam S, Ogg G, Nowak MA, Giangrande P, Luzzi G, Morgan B, Edwards A, McMichael AJ, Rowland-Jones S. 1997. Late escape from an immunodominant cytotoxic T-lymphocyte response associated with progression to AIDS. Nat Med 3:212–217.
- 249. Goonetilleke N, Liu MKP, Salazar-gonzalez JF, Ferrari G, Giorgi E, V V, Keele BF, Learn GH, Turnbull EL, Salazar MG, Weinhold KJ, Moore S, B CCC, Letvin N, Haynes BF, Cohen MS, Hraber P, Bhattacharya T, Borrow P, Perelson AS, Hahn BH, Shaw GM, Korber BT, Mcmichael AJ. 2009. The first T cell response to transmitted / founder virus contributes to the control of acute viremia in HIV-1 infection. Infection 206:1253–1272.
- 250. McMichael AJ, Borrow P, Tomaras GD, Goonetilleke N, Haynes BF. 2010. The immune response during acute HIV-1 infection: clues for vaccine development. Nat Rev Immunol 10:11–23.
- 251. Fischer W, Ganusov V V, Giorgi EE, Hraber PT, Keele BF, Leitner T, Han CS, Gleasner CD, Green L, Lo C-C, Nag A, Wallstrom TC, Wang S, McMichael AJ, Haynes BF, Hahn BH, Perelson AS, Borrow P, Shaw GM, Bhattacharya T, Korber BT. 2010. Transmission of single HIV-1 genomes and dynamics of early immune escape revealed by ultra-deep sequencing. PLoS One 5:e12303.

- 252. Edwards BH, Bansal A, Sabbaj S, Bakari J, Mulligan MJ, Goepfert PA. 2002. Magnitude of Functional CD8 2 T-Cell Responses to the Gag Protein of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Correlates Inversely with Viral Load in Plasma. Society 76:2298–2305.
- 253. Ramduth D, Chetty P, Mngquandaniso NC, Nene N, Harlow JD, Honeyborne I, Ntumba N, Gappoo S, Henry C, Jeena P, Addo MM, Altfeld M, Brander C, Day C, Coovadia H, Kiepiela P, Goulder P, Walker B. 2005. Differential immunogenicity of HIV-1 clade C proteins in eliciting CD8+ and CD4+ cell responses. J Infect Dis 192:1588–96.
- 254. Kiepiela P, Ngumbela K, Thobakgale C, Ramduth D, Honeyborne I, Moodley E, Reddy S, de Pierres C, Mncube Z, Mkhwanazi N, Bishop K, van der Stok M, Nair K, Khan N, Crawford H, Payne R, Leslie A, Prado J, Prendergast A, Frater J, McCarthy N, Brander C, Learn GH, Nickle D, Rousseau C, Coovadia H, Mullins JI, Heckerman D, Walker BD, Goulder P. 2007. CD8+ T-cell responses to different HIV proteins have discordant associations with viral load. Nat Med 13:46–53.
- 255. Ramduth D, Day CL, Thobakgale CF, Mkhwanazi NP, De C, Reddy S, Stok M Van Der, Mncube Z, Nair K, Moodley ES, Kaufmann DE, Streeck H, Coovadia HM, Kiepiela P, Goulder PJR, Walker BD. 2009. Immunodominant HIV-1 Cd4 + T Cell Epitopes in Chronic Untreated Clade C HIV-1 Infection. Infection 4.
- 256. Sacha JB, Chung C, Rakasz EG, Spencer SP, Jonas AK, Bean AT, Lee W, Burwitz BJ, Stephany JJ, Loffredo JT, Allison DB, Adnan S, Hoji A, Wilson NA, Friedrich TC, Lifson JD, Yang OO, Watkins DI. 2007. Gagspecific CD8+ T lymphocytes recognize infected cells before AIDS-virus integration and viral protein expression. J Immunol 178:2746–54.
- 257. Perez CL, Milush JM, Buggert M, Eriksson EM, Larsen M V., Liegler T, Hartogensis W, Bacchetti P, Lund O, Hecht FM, Nixon DF, Karlsson AC. 2013. Targeting of Conserved Gag-Epitopes in Early HIV Infection Is Associated with Lower Plasma Viral Load and Slower CD4 + T Cell Depletion. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 29:602–612.
- 258. Wright JK, Brumme ZL, Carlson JM, Heckerman D, Kadie CM, Brumme CJ, Wang B, Losina E, Miura T, Chonco F, van der Stok M, Mncube Z, Bishop K, Goulder PJR, Walker BD, Brockman MA, Ndung'u T. 2010.

Gag-protease-mediated replication capacity in HIV-1 subtype C chronic infection: associations with HLA type and clinical parameters. J Virol **84**:10820–10831.

- 259. Huang KG, Goedhals D, Carlson JM, Brockman MA, Mishra S, Brumme ZL, Hickling S, Tang CSW, Miura T, Vuuren C Van, Frater J. 2011. Progression to AIDS in South Africa Is Associated with both Reverting and Compensatory Viral Mutations. Popul (English Ed 6.
- 260. Groux H, Torpier G, Monté D, Mouton Y, Capron A, Ameisen JC. 1992. Activation-induced death by apoptosis in CD4+ T cells from human immunodeficiency virus-infected asymptomatic individuals. J Exp Med 175:331–40.
- 261. **Musey LK, Krieger JN, Hughes JP, Schacker TW, Corey L, McElrath MJ.** 1999. Early and persistent human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)specific T helper dysfunction in blood and lymph nodes following acute HIV-1 infection. J Infect Dis **180**:278–84.
- 262. Rosenberg ES, Billingsley JM, Caliendo AM, Boswell SL, Sax PE, Kalams SA, Walker BD. 1997. Vigorous HIV-1-specific CD4+ T cell responses associated with control of viremia. Science 278:1447–1450.
- 263. Kalams SA, Walker BD. 1998. The critical need for CD4 help in maintaining effective cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses. J Exp Med **188**:2199–204.
- 264. Kalams SA, Buchbinder SP, Rosenberg ES, Billingsley JM. 1999. Association between Virus-Specific Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte and Helper Responses in Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Infection. Society 73:6715–6720.
- 265. Altfeld M, Rosenberg ES. 2000. The role of CD4(+) T helper cells in the cytotoxic T lymphocyte response to HIV-1. Curr Opin Immunol 12:375–80.
- 266. Harari A, Rizzardi GP, Ellefsen K, Ciuffreda D, Champagne P, Bart P-A, Kaufmann D, Telenti A, Sahli R, Tambussi G, Kaiser L, Lazzarin A, Perrin L, Pantaleo G. 2002. Analysis of HIV-1- and CMV-specific memory CD4 T-cell responses during primary and chronic infection. Blood 100:1381–7.

- 267. Harari A, Petitpierre S, Vallelian F, Pantaleo G. 2004. Skewed representation of functionally distinct populations of virus-specific CD4 T cells in HIV-1-infected subjects with progressive disease: changes after antiretroviral therapy. Blood 103:966–72.
- 268. Younes S-A, Yassine-Diab B, Dumont AR, Boulassel M-R, Grossman Z, Routy J-P, Sekaly R-P. 2003. HIV-1 viremia prevents the establishment of interleukin 2-producing HIV-specific memory CD4+ T cells endowed with proliferative capacity. J Exp Med **198**:1909–22.
- 269. **Palmer BE**, **Boritz E**, **Wilson CC**. 2004. Effects of sustained HIV-1 plasma viremia on HIV-1 Gag-specific CD4+ T cell maturation and function. J Immunol 172:3337–47.
- 270. Iyasere C, Tilton JC, Johnson AJ, Younes S, Yassine-Diab B, Sekaly R-P, Kwok WW, Migueles SA, Laborico AC, Shupert WL, Hallahan CW, Davey RT, Dybul M, Vogel S, Metcalf J, Connors M. 2003. Diminished proliferation of human immunodeficiency virus-specific CD4+ T cells is associated with diminished interleukin-2 (IL-2) production and is recovered by exogenous IL-2. J Virol 77:10900–9.
- 271. Palmer BE, Blyveis N, Fontenot AP, Wilson CC. 2005. Functional and phenotypic characterization of CD57+CD4+ T cells and their association with HIV-1-induced T cell dysfunction. J Immunol 175:8415–23.
- 272. **Poropatich K**, **Sullivan DJ**. 2011. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 long-term non-progressors: the viral, genetic and immunological basis for disease non-progression. J Gen Virol **92**:247–68.
- 273. Mikhail M, Wang B, Saksena NK. 2003. Mechanisms involved in non-progressive HIV disease. AIDS Rev 5:230–44.
- 274. Okulicz JF, Marconi VC, Landrum ML, Wegner S, Weintrob A, Ganesan A, Hale B, Crum-Cianflone N, Delmar J, Barthel V, Quinnan G, Agan BK, Dolan MJ. 2009. Clinical outcomes of elite controllers, viremic controllers, and long-term nonprogressors in the US Department of Defense HIV natural history study. J Infect Dis 200:1714–1723.

- 275. Wang B, Mikhail M, Dyer WB, Zaunders JJ, Kelleher AD, Saksena NK. 2003. First demonstration of a lack of viral sequence evolution in a nonprogressor, defining replication-incompetent HIV-1 infection. Virology 312:135–150.
- 276. Sandonís V, Casado C, Alvaro T, Pernas M, Olivares I, García S, Rodríguez C, del Romero J, López-Galíndez C. 2009. A combination of defective DNA and protective host factors are found in a set of HIV-1 ancestral LTNPs. Virology **391**:73–82.
- 277. Deacon NJ, Tsykin A, Solomon A, Smith K, Ludford-Menting M, Hooker DJ, McPhee DA, Greenway AL, Ellett A, Chatfield C, Lawson VA, Crowe S, Maerz A, Sonza S, Learmont J, Sullivan JS, Cunningham A, Dwyer D, Dowton D, Mills J. 1995. Genomic structure of an attenuated quasi species of HIV-1 from a blood transfusion donor and recipients. Science 270:988–91.
- 278. Calugi G, Montella F, Favalli C, Benedetto A. 2006. Entire genome of a strain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 with a deletion of nef that was recovered 20 years after primary infection: large pool of proviruses with deletions of env. J Virol 80:11892–6.
- 279. Learmont J, Tindall B, Evans L, Cunningham A, Cunningham P, Wells J, Penny R, Kaldor J, Cooper DA. 1992. Long-term symptomless HIV-1 infection in recipients of blood products from a single donor. Lancet (London, England) 340:863–7.
- 280. Learmont JC, Geczy AF, Mills J, Ashton LJ, Raynes-Greenow CH, Garsia RJ, Dyer WB, McIntyre L, Oelrichs RB, Rhodes DI, Deacon NJ, Sullivan JS. 1999. Immunologic and virologic status after 14 to 18 years of infection with an attenuated strain of HIV-1. A report from the Sydney Blood Bank Cohort. N Engl J Med 340:1715–22.
- 281. Choudhary SK, Choudhary NR, Kimbrell KC, Colasanti J, Ziogas A, Kwa D, Schuitemaker H, Camerini D. 2005. R5 human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection of fetal thymic organ culture induces cytokine and CCR5 expression. J Virol 79:458–71.
- 282. Blankson JN, Bailey JR, Thayil S, Yang H-C, Lassen K, Lai J, Gandhi SK, Siliciano JD, Williams TM, Siliciano RF. 2007. Isolation and characterization of replication-competent human immunodeficiency virus type 1 from a subset

of elite suppressors. J Virol 81:2508–2518.

- 283. Lamine A, Caumont-Sarcos A, Chaix M-L, Saez-Cirion A, Rouzioux C, Delfraissy J-F, Pancino G, Lambotte O. 2007. Replication-competent HIV strains infect HIV controllers despite undetectable viremia (ANRS EP36 study). AIDS 21:1043–1045.
- 284. Bailey JR, O'Connell K, Yang H-C, Han Y, Xu J, Jilek B, Williams TM, Ray SC, Siliciano RF, Blankson JN. 2008. Transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 from a patient who developed AIDS to an elite suppressor. J Virol 82:7395–7410.
- 285. Miura T, Brockman MA, Brumme CJ, Brumme ZL, Carlson JM, Pereyra F, Trocha A, Addo MM, Block BL, Rothchild AC, Baker BM, Flynn T, Schneidewind A, Li B, Wang YE, Heckerman D, Allen TM, Walker BD. 2008. Genetic characterization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in elite controllers: lack of gross genetic defects or common amino acid changes. J Virol 82:8422–8430.
- 286. **Pushker R, Jacqué J-M, Shields DC**. 2010. Meta-analysis to test the association of HIV-1 nef amino acid differences and deletions with disease progression. J Virol **84**:3644–53.
- 287. Bailey JR, Zhang H, Wegweiser BW, Yang H-C, Herrera L, Ahonkhai A, Williams TM, Siliciano RF, Blankson JN. 2007. Evolution of HIV-1 in an HLA-B*57-positive patient during virologic escape. J Infect Dis 196:50–55.
- 288. Harrison L, Castro H, Cane P, Pillay D, Booth C, Phillips A, Geretti AM, Dunn D. 2010. The effect of transmitted HIV-1 drug resistance on pre-therapy viral load. AIDS 24:1917–22.
- 289. Carrington M, O'Brien SJ. 2003. The influence of HLA genotype on AIDS. Annu Rev Med 54:535–51.
- 290. Kiepiela P, Leslie AJ, Honeyborne I, Ramduth D, Thobakgale C, Chetty S, Rathnavalu P, Moore C, Pfafferott KJ, Hilton L, Zimbwa P, Moore S, Allen T, Brander C, Addo MM, Altfeld M, James I, Mallal S, Bunce M, Barber LD, Szinger J, Day C, Klenerman P, Mullins J, Korber B, Coovadia HM, Walker BD, Goulder PJR. 2004. Dominant influence of

HLA-B in mediating the potential co-evolution of HIV and HLA. Nature 432:769–75.

- 291. Gao X, Bashirova A, Iversen AKN, Phair J, Goedert JJ, Buchbinder S, Hoots K, Vlahov D, Altfeld M, O'Brien SJ, Carrington M. 2005. AIDS restriction HLA allotypes target distinct intervals of HIV-1 pathogenesis. Nat Med 11:1290–1292.
- 292. Leslie A, Matthews P, Listgarten J, Carlson JM, Kadie C, Ndung'u T, Brander C, Coovadia H, Walker BD, Heckerman D, Goulder PJR. 2010. Additive contribution of HLA class I alleles in the immune control of HIV-1 infection. J Virol 84:9879–88.
- 293. Matthews PC, Adland E, Listgarten J, Leslie A, Mkhwanazi N, Carlson JM, Harndahl M, Stryhn A, Payne RP, Ogwu A, Huang K-HG, Frater J, Paioni P, Kloverpris H, Jooste P, Goedhals D, van Vuuren C, Steyn D, Riddell L, Chen F, Luzzi G, Balachandran T, Ndung'u T, Buus S, Carrington M, Shapiro R, Heckerman D, Goulder PJR. 2011. HLA-A*7401-mediated control of HIV viremia is independent of its linkage disequilibrium with HLA-B*5703. J Immunol 186:5675–5686.
- 294. Klein MR, van der Burg SH, Hovenkamp E, Holwerda AM, Drijfhout JW, Melief CJ, Miedema F. 1998. Characterization of HLA-B57-restricted human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Gag- and RT-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses. J Gen Virol **79 (Pt 9)**:2191–201.
- 295. Gillespie GMA, Kaul R, Dong T, Yang H-B, Rostron T, Bwayo JJ, Kiama P, Peto T, Plummer FA, McMichael AJ, Rowland-Jones SL. 2002. Cross-reactive cytotoxic T lymphocytes against a HIV-1 p24 epitope in slow progressors with B*57. AIDS 16:961–72.
- 296. Piacentini L, Biasin M, Fenizia C, Clerici M. 2009. Genetic correlates of protection against HIV infection: the ally within. J Intern Med **265**:110–24.
- 297. **Migueles SA, Connors M**. 2010. Long-term nonprogressive disease among untreated HIV-infected individuals: clinical implications of understanding immune control of HIV.JAMA: the journal of the American Medical Association.

- 298. Leslie a J, Pfafferott KJ, Chetty P, Draenert R, Addo MM, Feeney M, Tang Y, Holmes EC, Allen T, Prado JG, Altfeld M, Brander C, Dixon C, Ramduth D, Jeena P, Thomas S a, St John a, Roach T a, Kupfer B, Luzzi G, Edwards a, Taylor G, Lyall H, Tudor-Williams G, Novelli V, Martinez-Picado J, Kiepiela P, Walker BD, Goulder PJR. 2004. HIV evolution: CTL escape mutation and reversion after transmission. Nat Med 10:282–9.
- 299. Brockman MA, Schneidewind A, Lahaie M, Schmidt A, Miura T, Desouza I, Ryvkin F, Derdeyn CA, Allen S, Hunter E, Mulenga J, Goepfert PA, Walker BD, Allen TM. 2007. Escape and Compensation from Early HLA-B57-Mediated Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Pressure on Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Gag Alter Capsid Interactions with Cyclophilin A □. Society 81:12608–12618.
- 300. Bello G, Casado C, Sandonis V, Alonso-Nieto M, Vicario JL, García S, Hernando V, Rodríguez C, del Romero J, López-Galíndez C. 2005. A subset of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 long-term non-progressors is characterized by the unique presence of ancestral sequences in the viral population. J Gen Virol 86:355–64.
- 301. Kaslow RA, Carrington M, Apple R, Park L, Muñoz A, Saah AJ, Goedert JJ, Winkler C, O'Brien SJ, Rinaldo C, Detels R, Blattner W, Phair J, Erlich H, Mann DL. 1996. Influence of combinations of human major histocompatibility complex genes on the course of HIV-1 infection. Nat Med.
- 302. Almeida JR, Price DA, Papagno L, Sauce D, Bornstein E, Asher TE, Samri A, Theodorou I, Costagliola D, Rouzioux C, Agut H, Marcelin A, Douek D, Autran B, Appay V. 2007. Superior control of HIV-1 replication by CD8 □ T cells is refl ected by their avidity , polyfunctionality , and clonal turnover. October 204.
- 303. Feeney ME, Tang Y, Roosevelt KA, Leslie AJ, Mcintosh K, Karthas N, Walker BD, Goulder PJR. 2004. Immune Escape Precedes Breakthrough Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Viremia and Broadening of the Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Response in an HLA-B27-Positive Long-Term-Nonprogressing Child. Society 78:8927–8930.
- 304. Goulder PJ, Brander C, Tang Y, Tremblay C, Colbert RA, Addo MM, Rosenberg ES, Nguyen T, Allen R, Trocha A, Altfeld M, He S, Bunce M, Funkhouser R, Pelton SI, Burchett SK, McIntosh K, Korber BT, Walker

BD. 2001. Evolution and transmission of stable CTL escape mutations in HIV infection. Nature **412**:334–338.

- 305. Kelleher AD, Long C, Holmes EC, Allen RL, Wilson J, Conlon C, Workman C, Shaunak S, Olson K, Goulder P, Brander C, Ogg G, Sullivan JS, Dyer W, Jones I, McMichael AJ, Rowland-Jones S, Phillips RE. 2001. Clustered mutations in HIV-1 gag are consistently required for escape from HLA-B27-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses. J Exp Med 193:375– 386.
- 306. Goulder PJ, Bunce M, Krausa P, McIntyre K, Crowley S, Morgan B, Edwards A, Giangrande P, Phillips RE, McMichael AJ. 1996. Novel, cross-restricted, conserved, and immunodominant cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitopes in slow progressors in HIV type 1 infection. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 12:1691–8.
- 307. Honeyborne I, Prendergast A, Pereyra F, Leslie A, Crawford H, Payne R, Reddy S, Bishop K, Moodley E, Nair K, van der Stok M, McCarthy N, Rousseau CM, Addo M, Mullins JI, Brander C, Kiepiela P, Walker BD, Goulder PJR. 2007. Control of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 is associated with HLA-B*13 and targeting of multiple gag-specific CD8+ T-cell epitopes. J Virol 81:3667–3672.
- 308. Rosenberg ES, Billingsley JM, Caliendo AM, Boswell SL, Sax PE, Kalams SA, Walker BD. 1997. Vigorous HIV-1-Specific CD4 + T Cell Responses Associated with Vigorous HIV-1 Specific CD4 □ T Cell Responses Associated with Control of Viremia. Science (80-) 1447.
- 309. Boaz MJ, Waters A, Murad S, Easterbrook PJ, Vyakarnam A. 2002. Presence of HIV-1 Gag-specific IFN-gamma+IL-2+ and CD28+IL-2+ CD4 T cell responses is associated with nonprogression in HIV-1 infection. J Immunol 169:6376–85.
- 310. Chevalier MF, Ju B, Pyo A, Flanders M, Ranasinghe S, Soghoian DZ, Kwon DS, Rychert J, Lian J, Muller MI, Cutler S, Mcandrew E, Jessen H, Pereyra F, Rosenberg ES, Altfeld M, Walker BD, Streeck H, Al CET, Irol J V. 2011. HIV-1-Specific Interleukin-21 2 CD4 2 T Cell Responses Contribute to Durable Viral Control through the Modulation of. Society 85:733-741.

- 311. Ranasinghe S, Flanders M, Cutler S, Soghoian DZ, Ghebremichael M, Davis I, Lindqvist M, Pereyra F, Walker BD, Heckerman D, Streeck H. 2012. HIV-specific CD4 T cell responses to different viral proteins have discordant associations with viral load and clinical outcome. J Virol 86:277– 83.
- 312. Migueles SA, Sabbaghian MS, Shupert WL, Bettinotti MP, Marincola FM, Martino L, Hallahan CW, Selig SM, Schwartz D, Sullivan J, Connors M. 2000. HLA B*5701 is highly associated with restriction of virus replication in a subgroup of HIV-infected long term nonprogressors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:2709–2714.
- 313. Potter SJ, Lacabaratz C, Lambotte O, Perez-Patrigeon S, Vingert B, Sinet M, Colle J-H, Urrutia A, Scott-Algara D, Boufassa F, Delfraissy J-F, Thèze J, Venet A, Chakrabarti LA. 2007. Preserved central memory and activated effector memory CD4+ T-cell subsets in human immunodeficiency virus controllers: an ANRS EP36 study. J Virol 81:13904–15.
- 314. Norris PJ, Moffett HF, Yang OO, Kaufmann DE, Clark MJ, Addo MM, Rosenberg ES. 2004. Beyond help: direct effector functions of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-specific CD4(+) T cells. J Virol 78:8844–51.
- 315. Soghoian DZ, Jessen H, Flanders M, Sierra-Davidson K, Cutler S, Pertel T, Ranasinghe S, Lindqvist M, Davis I, Lane K, Rychert J, Rosenberg ES, Piechocka-Trocha A, Brass AL, Brenchley JM, Walker BD, Streeck H. 2012. HIV-specific cytolytic CD4 T cell responses during acute HIV infection predict disease outcome. Sci Transl Med 4:123ra25.
- 316. **Migueles SA**, **Connors M**. 2001. Frequency and function of HIV-specific CD8+ T Cells. Immunol Lett 79:141–150.
- 317. Ferre AL, Lemongello D, Hunt PW, Morris MM, Garcia JC, Pollard RB, Yee HF, Martin JN, Deeks SG, Shacklett BL. 2010. Immunodominant HIVspecific CD8+ T-cell responses are common to blood and gastrointestinal mucosa, and Gag-specific responses dominate in rectal mucosa of HIV controllers. J Virol 84:10354–10365.
- 318. Berger CT, Frahm N, Price DA, Mothe B, Ghebremichael M, Hartman KL, Henry LM, Brenchley JM, Ruff LE, Venturi V, Pereyra F, Sidney J, Sette A, Douek DC, Walker BD, Kaufmann DE, Brander C. 2011. High-

Functional-Avidity Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Responses to HLA-B-Restricted Gag-Derived Epitopes Associated with Relative HIV Control. J Virol **85**:9334–9345.

- 319. Jia M, Hong K, Chen J, Ruan Y, Wang Z, Su B, Ren G, Zhang X, Liu Z, Zhao Q, Li D, Peng H, Altfeld M, Walker BD, Yu XG, Shao Y. 2012. Preferential CTL targeting of Gag is associated with relative viral control in long-term surviving HIV-1 infected former plasma donors from China. Cell Res 22:903–14.
- 320. Pérez-Olmeda M, Alcami J. 2013. Determination of HIV tropism and its use in the clinical practice. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther 11:1291–302.
- 321. Borghans J a M, Mølgaard A, de Boer RJ, Keşmir C. 2007. HLA alleles associated with slow progression to AIDS truly prefer to present HIV-1 p24. PLoS One 2:e920.
- 322. Wang YE, Li B, Carlson JM, Streeck H, Gladden AD, Goodman R, Schneidewind A, Power KA, Toth I, Frahm N, Alter G, Brander C, Carrington M, Walker BD, Altfeld M, Heckerman D, Allen TM. 2009. Protective HLA class I alleles that restrict acute-phase CD8+ T-cell responses are associated with viral escape mutations located in highly conserved regions of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 83:1845–1855.
- 323. Brockman MA, Brumme ZL, Brumme CJ, Miura T, Sela J, Rosato PC, Kadie CM, Carlson JM, Markle TJ, Streeck H, Kelleher AD, Markowitz M, Jessen H, Rosenberg E, Altfeld M, Harrigan PR, Heckerman D, Walker BD, Allen TM. 2010. Early selection in Gag by protective HLA alleles contributes to reduced HIV-1 replication capacity that may be largely compensated for in chronic infection. J Virol 84:11937–49.
- 324. Migueles SA, Laborico AC, Shupert WL, Sabbaghian MS, Rabin R, Hallahan CW, Van Baarle D, Kostense S, Miedema F, McLaughlin M, Ehler L, Metcalf J, Liu S, Connors M. 2002. HIV-specific CD8+ T cell proliferation is coupled to perforin expression and is maintained in nonprogressors. Nat Immunol 3:1061–1068.
- 325. Almeida JR, Sauce D, Price DA, Papagno L, So YS, Moris A, Larsen M, Pancino G, Douek DC, Autran B, Sáez-Cirión A, Appay V. 2009. Antigen sensitivity is a major determinant of CD8+ T-cell polyfunctionality and HIV-

suppressive activity. Blood 113:6351–6360.

- 326. Day CL, Kaufmann DE, Kiepiela P, Brown J a, Moodley ES, Reddy S, Mackey EW, Miller JD, Leslie AJ, DePierres C, Mncube Z, Duraiswamy J, Zhu B, Eichbaum Q, Altfeld M, Wherry EJ, Coovadia HM, Goulder PJR, Klenerman P, Ahmed R, Freeman GJ, Walker BD. 2006. PD-1 expression on HIV-specific T cells is associated with T-cell exhaustion and disease progression. Nature 443:350–4.
- 327. Bunce M. 2003. PCR-sequence-specific primer typing of HLA class I and class II alleles. Methods Mol Biol 210:143–71.
- 328. Fellay J, Ge D, Shianna K V., Colombo S, Ledergerber B, Cirulli ET, Urban TJ, Zhang K, Gumbs CE, Smith JP, Castagna A, Cozzi-Lepri A, De Luca A, Easterbrook P, Günthard HF, Mallal S, Mussini C, Dalmau J, Martinez-Picado J, Miro JM, Obel N, Wolinsky SM, Martinson JJ, Detels R, Margolick JB, Jacobson LP, Descombes P, Antonarakis SE, Beckmann JS, O'Brien SJ, Letvin NL, McMichael AJ, Haynes BF, Carrington M, Feng S, Telenti A, Goldstein DB. 2009. Common genetic variation and the control of HIV-1 in humans. PLoS Genet 5.
- 329. Chessman D, Kostenko L, Lethborg T, Purcell AW, Williamson NA, Chen Z, Kjer-Nielsen L, Mifsud NA, Tait BD, Holdsworth R, Almeida CA, Nolan D, Macdonald WA, Archbold JK, Kellerher AD, Marriott D, Mallal S, Bharadwaj M, Rossjohn J, McCluskey J. 2008. Human leukocyte antigen class I-restricted activation of CD8+ T cells provides the immunogenetic basis of a systemic drug hypersensitivity. Immunity 28:822–32.
- 330. Ndhlovu ZM, Proudfoot J, Cesa K, Alvino M, Mcmullen A, Vine S, Piechocka-trocha A, Walker BD, Pereyra F. 2012. Elite Controllers with Low to Absent Effector CD8 □ T Cell Responses Maintain Highly Functional, Broadly Directed Central Memory. J Virol.
- 331. Pereyra F, Jia X, McLaren PJ, Telenti A, de Bakker PIW, Walker BD, Ripke S, Brumme CJ, Pulit SL, Carrington M, Kadie CM, Carlson JM, Heckerman D, Graham RR, Plenge RM, Deeks SG, Gianniny L, Crawford G, Sullivan J, Gonzalez E, Davies L, Camargo A, Moore JM, Beattie N, Gupta S, Crenshaw A, Burtt NP, Guiducci C, Gupta N, Gao X, Qi Y, Yuki Y, Piechocka-Trocha A, Cutrell E, Rosenberg R, Moss KL, Lemay P, O'Leary J, Schaefer T, Verma P, Toth I, Block B, Baker B, Rothchild A, Lian J, Proudfoot J, Alvino DML, Vine S, Addo MM, Allen TM, Altfeld

M, Henn MR, Le Gall S, Streeck H, Haas DW, Kuritzkes DR, Robbins GK, Shafer RW, Gulick RM, Shikuma CM, Haubrich R, Riddler S, Sax PE, Daar ES, Ribaudo HJ, Agan B, Agarwal S, Ahern RL, Allen BL, Altidor S, Altschuler EL, Ambardar S, Anastos K, Anderson B, Anderson V, Andrady U, Antoniskis D, Bangsberg D, Barbaro D, Barrie W, Bartczak J, Barton S, Basden P, Basgoz N, Bazner S, Bellos NC, Benson AM, Berger J, Bernard NF, Bernard AM, Birch C, Bodner SJ, Bolan RK, Boudreaux ET, Bradley M, Braun JF, Brndjar JE, Brown SJ, Brown K, Brown ST, Burack J, Bush LM, Cafaro V, Campbell O, Campbell J, Carlson RH, Carmichael JK, Casev KK, Cavacuiti C, Celestin G, Chambers ST, Chez N, Chirch LM, Cimoch PJ, Cohen D, Cohn LE, Conway B, Cooper DA, Cornelson B, Cox DT, Cristofano M V, Cuchural G, Czartoski JL, Dahman JM, Daly JS, Davis BT, Davis K, Davod SM, DeJesus E, Dietz CA, Dunham E, Dunn ME, Ellerin TB, Eron JJ, Fangman JJW, Farel CE, Ferlazzo H, Fidler S, Fleenor-Ford A, Frankel R, Freedberg KA, French NK, Fuchs JD, Fuller JD, Gaberman J, Gallant JE, Gandhi RT, Garcia E, Garmon D, Gathe JC, Gaultier CR, Gebre W, Gilman FD, Gilson I, Goepfert PA, Gottlieb MS, Goulston C, Groger RK, Gurley TD, Haber S, Hardwicke R, Hardy WD, Harrigan PR, Hawkins TN, Heath S, Hecht FM, Henry WK, Hladek M, Hoffman RP, Horton JM, Hsu RK, Huhn GD, Hunt P, Hupert MJ, Illeman ML, Jaeger H, Jellinger RM, John M, Johnson JA, Johnson KL, Johnson H, Johnson K, Joly J, Jordan WC, Kauffman CA, Khanlou H, Killian RK, Kim AY, Kim DD, Kinder CA, Kirchner JT, Kogelman L, Kojic EM, Korthuis PT, Kurisu W, Kwon DS, LaMar M, Lampiris H, Lanzafame M, Lederman MM, Lee DM, Lee JML, Lee MJ, Lee ETY, Lemoine J, Levy JA, Llibre JM, Liguori MA, Little SJ, Liu AY, Lopez AJ, Loutfy MR, Loy D, Mohammed DY, Man A, Mansour MK, Marconi VC, Markowitz M, Marques R, Martin JN, Martin HL, Mayer KH, McElrath MJ, McGhee TA, McGovern BH, McGowan K, McIntvre D, Mcleod GX, Menezes P, Mesa G, Metroka CE, Meyer-Olson D, Miller AO, Montgomery K, Mounzer KC, Nagami EH, Nagin I, Nahass RG, Nelson MO, Nielsen C, Norene DL, O'Connor DH, Ojikutu BO, Okulicz J, Oladehin OO, Oldfield EC, Olender SA, Ostrowski M, Owen WF, Pae E, Parsonnet J, Pavlatos AM, Perlmutter AM, Pierce MN, Pincus JM, Pisani L, Price LJ, Proia L, Prokesch RC, Pujet HC, Ramgopal M, Rathod A, Rausch M, Ravishankar J, Rhame FS, Richards CS, Richman DD, Rodes B, Rodriguez M, Rose RC, Rosenberg ES, Rosenthal D, Ross PE, Rubin DS, Rumbaugh E, Saenz L, Salvaggio MR, Sanchez WC, Sanjana VM, Santiago S, Schmidt W, Schuitemaker H, Sestak PM, Shalit P, Shay W, Shirvani VN, Silebi VI, Sizemore JM, Skolnik PR, Sokol-Anderson M, Sosman JM, Stabile P, Stapleton JT, Starrett S, Stein F, Stellbrink H-J, Sterman FL, Stone VE, Stone DR, Tambussi G, Taplitz RA, Tedaldi EM, Theisen W, Torres R, Tosiello L, Tremblay C, Tribble MA, Trinh PD, Tsao A, Ueda P, Vaccaro A, Valadas E, Vanig TJ, Vecino I, Vega VM, Veikley W, Wade BH, Walworth C, Wanidworanun C, Ward DJ, Warner DA, Weber RD, Webster D, Weis S, Wheeler DA, White DJ, Wilkins E, Winston A, Wlodaver CG, van't Wout A, Wright DP, Yang OO, Yurdin DL, Zabukovic BW, Zachary KC, Zeeman B, Zhao M. 2010. The major genetic determinants of HIV-1 control affect HLA class I peptide presentation. Science 330:1551–1557.

- 332. Novitsky V, Gilbert P, Peter T, McLane MF, Gaolekwe S, Rybak N, Thior I, Ndung'u T, Marlink R, Lee TH, Essex M. 2003. Association between virus-specific T-cell responses and plasma viral load in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C infection. J Virol 77:882–90.
- 333. Phillips RE, Rowland-Jones S, Nixon DF, Gotch FM, Edwards JP, Ogunlesi AO, Elvin JG, Rothbard JA, Bangham CR, Rizza CR. 1991. Human Immunodeficiency Virus Genetic Variation that can Escape Cytotoxic T-cell Recognition. Nature 354:453–459.
- 334. Koenig S, Conley AJ, Brewah YA, Jones GM, Leath S, Boots LJ, Davey V, Pantaleo G, Demarest JF, Carter C. 1995. Transfer of HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes to an AIDS patient leads to selection for mutant HIV variants and subsequent disease progression. Nat Med 1:330–6.
- 335. Price DA, Goulder PJ, Klenerman P, Sewell AK, Easterbrook PJ, Troop M, Bangham CR, Phillips RE. 1997. Positive selection of HIV-1 cytotoxic T lymphocyte escape variants during primary infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:1890–1895.
- 336. Borrow P, Lewicki H, Wei X, Horwitz MS, Peffer N, Meyers H, Nelson JA, Gairin JE, Hahn BH, Oldstone MB, Shaw GM. 1997. Antiviral pressure exerted by HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) during primary infection demonstrated by rapid selection of CTL escape virus. Nat Med 3:205–211.
- 337. Draenert R, Le Gall S, Pfafferott KJ, Leslie AJ, Chetty P, Brander C, Holmes EC, Chang S-C, Feeney ME, Addo MM, Ruiz L, Ramduth D, Jeena P, Altfeld M, Thomas S, Tang Y, Verrill CL, Dixon C, Prado JG, Kiepiela P, Martinez-Picado J, Walker BD, Goulder PJR. 2004. Immune selection for altered antigen processing leads to cytotoxic T lymphocyte escape in chronic HIV-1 infection. J Exp Med 199:905–915.
- 338. Prado JG, Honeyborne I, Brierley I, Puertas MC, Martinez-picado J, Goulder PJR. 2009. Functional Consequences of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Escape from an HLA-B * 13-Restricted CD8 2 T-Cell Epitope in p1 Gag Protein □. Society 83:1018–1025.

- 339. Prado JG, Prendergast A, Thobakgale C, Molina C, Tudor-williams G, Ndung T, Walker BD, Goulder P. 2010. Replicative Capacity of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Transmitted from Mother to Child Is Associated with Pediatric Disease Progression Rate □. Society 84:492–502.
- 340. Betts MR, Nason MC, West SM, De Rosa SC, Migueles SA, Abraham J, Lederman MM, Benito JM, Goepfert PA, Connors M, Roederer M, Koup RA. 2006. HIV nonprogressors preferentially maintain highly functional HIVspecific CD8+ T cells. Blood 107:4781–4789.
- 341. Ndhlovu ZM, Proudfoot J, Cesa K, Alvino DM, McMullen A, Vine S, Stampouloglou E, Piechocka-Trocha A, Walker BD, Pereyra F. 2012. Elite Controllers with Low to Absent Effector CD8+ T Cell Responses Maintain Highly Functional, Broadly Directed Central Memory Responses. J Virol.
- 342. Hunt PW, Hatano H, Sinclair E, Lee T, Busch MP, Martin JN, Mccune JM, Deeks SG. 2011. HIV-Specific CD4 1 T Cells May Contribute to Viral Persistence in HIV Controllers Characteristics of Participants. Clin Infect Dis 52:681–687.
- 343. **Blankson JN**. 2010. Effector mechanisms in HIV-1 infected elite controllers: Highly active immune responses? Antiviral Res.
- 344. Thobakgale CF, Prendergast A, Crawford H, Mkhwanazi N, Ramduth D, Reddy S, Molina C, Mncube Z, Leslie A, Prado J, Chonco F, Mphatshwe W, Tudor-Williams G, Jeena P, Blanckenberg N, Dong K, Kiepiela P, Coovadia H, Ndung'u T, Walker BD, Goulder PJR. 2009. Impact of HLA in mother and child on disease progression of pediatric human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol 83:10234–44.
- 345. Matthews PC, Leslie AJ, Katzourakis A, Crawford H, Payne R, Prendergast A, Power K, Kelleher AD, Klenerman P, Carlson J, Heckerman D, Ndung'u T, Walker BD, Allen TM, Pybus OG, Goulder PJR. 2009. HLA footprints on human immunodeficiency virus type 1 are associated with interclade polymorphisms and intraclade phylogenetic clustering. J Virol 83:4605–4615.
- 346. Miura T, Brumme ZL, Brockman MA, Rosato P, Sela J, Brumme CJ, Pereyra F, Kaufmann DE, Trocha A, Block BL, Daar ES, Connick E, Jessen H, Kelleher AD, Rosenberg E, Markowitz M, Schafer K, Vaida F,

Iwamoto A, Little S, Walker BD. 2010. Impaired Replication Capacity of Acute / Early Viruses in Persons Who Become HIV Controllers □. Society **84**:7581–7591.

- 347. Connell KAO, Hegarty RW, Siliciano RF, Blankson JN. 2011. Viral suppression of multiple escape mutants by de novo CD8 + T cell responses in a human immunodeficiency virus-1 Infected elite suppressor. Retrovirology 8:63.
- 348. O'Connell KA, Brennan TP, Bailey JR, Ray SC, Siliciano RF, Blankson JN. 2010. Control of HIV-1 in elite suppressors despite ongoing replication and evolution in plasma virus. J Virol 84:7018–7028.
- 349. Prado JG, Honeyborne I, Brierley I, Puertas MC, Martinez-Picado J, Goulder PJR. 2009. Functional consequences of human immunodeficiency virus escape from an HLA-B*13-restricted CD8+ T-cell epitope in p1 Gag protein. J Virol 83:1018–1025.
- 350. Migueles SA, Laborico AC, Shupert WL, Sabbaghian MS, Rabin R, Hallahan CW, Van Baarle D, Kostense S, Miedema F, McLaughlin M, Ehler L, Metcalf J, Liu S, Connors M. 2002. HIV-specific CD8+ T cell proliferation is coupled to perforin expression and is maintained in nonprogressors. Nat Immunol 3:1061–1068.
- 351. Almeida JR, Price DA, Papagno L, Arkoub ZA, Sauce D, Bornstein E, Asher TE, Samri A, Schnuriger A, Theodorou I, Costagliola D, Rouzioux C, Agut H, Marcelin A-G, Douek D, Autran B, Appay V. 2007. Superior control of HIV-1 replication by CD8+ T cells is reflected by their avidity, polyfunctionality, and clonal turnover. J Exp Med 204:2473–2485.
- 352. Chen H, Ndhlovu ZM, Liu D, Porter LC, Fang JW, Darko S, Brockman MA, Miura T, Brumme ZL, Schneidewind A, Piechocka-trocha A, Cesa KT, Sela J, Cung TD, Toth I, Pereyra F, Yu XG, Douek DC, Kaufmann DE, Allen TM, Walker BD. 2012. TCR clonotypes modulate the protective effect of HLA class I molecules in HIV-1 infection. Online 13.
- 353. Kløverpris HN, McGregor R, McLaren JE, Ladell K, Harndahl M, Stryhn A, Carlson JM, Koofhethile C, Gerritsen B, Keşmir C, Chen F, Riddell L, Luzzi G, Leslie A, Walker BD, Ndung'u T, Buus S, Price DA, Goulder PJ. 2015. CD8+ TCR Bias and Immunodominance in HIV-1 Infection. J Immunol

- 354. Yokomaku Y, Miura H, Tomiyama H, Kawana-Tachikawa A, Takiguchi M, Kojima A, Nagai Y, Iwamoto A, Matsuda Z, Ariyoshi K. 2004. Impaired processing and presentation of cytotoxic-T-lymphocyte (CTL) epitopes are major escape mechanisms from CTL immune pressure in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol 78:1324–32.
- 355. Lucas M, Karrer U, Lucas A, Klenerman P. 2001. Viral escape mechanisms--escapology taught by viruses. Int J Exp Pathol 82:269–86.
- 356. Paiardini M, Cervasi B, Albrecht H, Muthukumar A, Dunham R, Gordon S, Radziewicz H, Piedimonte G, Magnani M, Montroni M, Kaech SM, Weintrob A, Altman JD, Sodora DL, Feinberg MB, Silvestri G. 2005. Loss of CD127 Expression Defines an Expansion of Effector CD8+ T Cells in HIV-Infected Individuals. J Immunol 174:2900–2909.
- 357. Paiardini M, Müller-Trutwin M. 2013. HIV-associated chronic immune activation. Immunol Rev 254:78–101.
- 358. Kaech SM, Tan JT, Wherry EJ, Konieczny BT, Surh CD, Ahmed R. 2003. Selective expression of the interleukin 7 receptor identifies effector CD8 T cells that give rise to long-lived memory cells. Nat Immunol 4:1191–8.

CHAPTER 8: APPENDICES

The following graphs represent changes in the proportion of CD8+ T cells expressing CD107a, IFN γ , MIP1- β and TNF- α over time, that is, for VC+, VC- and Prog+ subjects, we assessed these responses at baseline and later time points. Expression of these markers was assessed at baseline (pre loss time point) and post loss of viral control time point for the fVC+ subjects.



Figure A1. Longitudinal results showing the proportion of $CD8^+$ T cells expressing CD107a upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools - amongst viremic controllers (VC+), failing viremic controllers (fVC+), progressors (Prog+) with protective HLA class I alleles and viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles at baseline and later time point. Gating strategy is shown in Figure 5.1. Positive responses were reported after background correction by subtracting the proportion of unstimulated CD8⁺ T cells from the Gag stimulated CD8⁺ T cells. Later TP – later time point.



Figure A2. Longitudinal results showing the proportion of $CD8^+$ T cells expressing MIP1- β upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools - amongst viremic controllers (VC+), failing viremic controllers (fVC+), progressors (Prog+) with protective HLA class I alleles and viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles at baseline. Gating strategy is shown in Figure 5.1. Positive responses were reported after background correction by subtracting the proportion of unstimulated CD8⁺ T cells from the Gag stimulated CD8⁺ T cells. Later TP – later time point.



Figure A3. Longitudinal results showing the proportion of $CD8^+$ T cells expressing IFN γ upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools - amongst viremic controllers (VC+), failing viremic controllers (fVC+), progressors (Prog+) with protective HLA class I alleles and viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles at baseline. Gating strategy is shown in Figure 5.1. Positive responses were reported after background correction by subtracting the proportion of unstimulated CD8⁺ T cells from the Gag stimulated CD8⁺ T cells. Later TP – later time point.



Figure A4. Longitudinal results showing the proportion of $CD8^+$ T cells expressing TNF- α upon stimulation with Gag peptide pools - amongst viremic controllers (VC+), failing viremic controllers (fVC+), progressors (Prog+) with protective HLA class I alleles and viremic controllers without protective HLA class I alleles at baseline. Gating strategy is shown in Figure 5.1. Positive responses were reported after background correction by subtracting the proportion of unstimulated CD8⁺ T cells from the Gag stimulated CD8⁺ T cells. Later TP – later time point.